This is an authorized facsimile, made from the microfilm master copy of the original dissertation or master thesis published by UMI.

The bibliographic information for this thesis is contained in UMI's Dissertation Abstracts database, the only central source for accessing almost every doctoral dissertation accepted in North America since 1861.

UMI Dissertation Services

A Bell & Howell Company

300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106-1346

1-800-521-0600 734-761-4700 http://www.umi.com

Printed in 1998 by digital xerographic process on acid-free paper

DPPT

INFORMATION TO USERS

This was produced from a copy of a document sent to us for microfilming. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or notations which may appear on this reproduction.

- 1. The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting through an image and duplicating adjacent pages to assure you of complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a round black mark it is an indication that the film inspector noticed either blurred copy because of movement during exposure, or duplicate copy. Unless we meant to delete copyrighted materials that should not have been filmed, you will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., is part of the material being photographed the photographer has followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin filming at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. If necessary, sectioning is continued again-beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. For any illustrations that cannot be reproduced satisfactorily by xerography, photographic prints can be purchased at additional cost and tipped into your xerographic copy. Requests can be made to our Dissertations Customer Services Department.
- 5. Some pages in any document may have indistinct print. In all cases we have filmed the best available copy.



300 N. ZEEB ROAD, ANN ARBOR, MI 48106 18 BEDFORD ROW, LONDON WC1R 4EJ, ENGLAND

8115717

PATTEN, SAMUEL MERRICE, JR.

INTERBREEDING AND EVOLUTION IN THE LARUS GLAUCESCENS - LARUS ARGENTATUS COMPLEX ON THE SOUTH COAST OF ALASKA

The Johns Hopkins University

PH.D. 1980

University Microfilms International 100 N. Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106

PLEASE NOTE:

In all cases this material has been filmed in the best possible way from the available copy. Problems encountered with this document have been identified here with a check mark $__\checkmark_$.

- 1. Glossy photographs or pages _____
- 2. Colored illustrations, paper or print ____
- 3. Photographs with dark background
- 4. Illustrations are poor copy
- 5. Pages with black marks, not original copy
- 6. Print shows through as there is text on both sides of page _____
- Indistinct, broken or small print on several pages ______
- 8. Print exceeds margin requirements
- 9. Tightly bound copy with print lost in spine _____
- 10. Computer printout pages with indistinct print _____
- 11. Page(s) _____ lacking when material received, and not available from school or author.
- 12. Page(s) ______ seem to be missing in numbering only as text follows.
- 13. Two pages numbered _____. Text follows.
- 14. Curling and wrinkled pages _____
- 15. Other_____

University Microfilms International



Frontispiece. Sympatric Larus gulls from Dry Bay, mouth of the Alsek River, 75 km 52 of Yakutat, Alaska. Note the variation in the pattern (extent) of melanin deposition in the subterminal portions of the outer primary feathers, and the intensity of melanin in the same area.

INTERBREEDING AND EVOLUTION IN THE Larus glaucescens - Larus argentatus COMPLEX ON THE SOUTH COAST OF ALASKA

by

Samuel Merrick Patten, Jr.

A dissertation submitted to The Johns Hopkins University in conformity with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Baltimore, Maryland

ABSTRACT

Isolating mechanisms, in speciation theory, are characteristics of individuals that prevent successful interbreeding with individuals of different species. Previous studies have shown that certain large white-headed gull populations (genus <u>Larus</u>) are isolated from other such populations by pre-mating mechanisms such as species recognition and nesting habitat selection. Species recognition in these <u>Larus</u> gulls is influenced by such morphological characteristics as the colors of the iris and orbital ring (or eyelid) and the pigmentation of the outer portions of the main flight feathers (the primaries).

This study investigated a 480-km zone of overlap and hybridization on the south coast of Alaska between the Glaucous-winged Gull Larus glaucesens and the Herring Gull Larus argentatus for evidence of species recognition and for differences in nesting habitat selection. The basic method was observation in the field of 2649 breeding adult gulls (361 argentatus, 374 hybrids, and 1914 glaucescens) in coastal and interior Alaska, British Columbia, and the Yukon. Further, 165 breeding adult gulls were collected and photographed in the field (15 argentatus, 51 hybrids, and 99 glaucescens) and the mating patterns and nesting habitat selection of 718 pairs (172 argentatus, 51 mixed, and 495 glaucescens pairs) were studied. Finally, the reproductive productivity of 933 pairs of gulls (78 argentatus, 391 glaucescens, and 464 mixed pairs including at least one integrade per pair) was investigated. In addition, 506 study skins were examined from the entire breeding range of glaucescens (208 individuals) and North American argentatus (298 individuals) which are maintained in museums in Alaska, British Columbia, Washington State, Washington, D.C., and New York City.

Analysis involved statistical and qualitative comparisons of iris and orbital ring colors and primary feather pigmentation among eight populations, distributed from 58° to 62° N lat. Clutch size, hatching success, and fledging success were compared among pure types and integrades for evidence of hybrid inviability.

Individual gulls were highly variable in primary feather pigmentation. Wing hybrid indices (WHI) ranged from 1 to 6 (various shades of gray to black). The WHI means gradually increased from an offshore island <u>glaucescens</u> population (WHI 1.2) through intermediate coastal populations (WHI 1.91 to 4.12) to an interior population of <u>argentatus</u> on a boreal lake (WHI 5.9).

The range of iris coloration varied from very dark brown to yellow (Munsell 2.5YR to 5Y hues). A progressive change in mean iris color, as with primary feather pigmentation, was also related to geographic location. Iris hybrid indices ranged from a mean of 6.3 to 9.0: brown to yellow.

"Pure types" of <u>argentatus</u> in southern Alaska had yellow, uniformly pigmented orbital rings of Munsell hue 5Y. <u>L. glaucescens</u> "pure types" had dark pink or vinaceous orbital rings of Munsell hue 5R. Seven hues were observed between these two extremes, ranging from a mean of 1.3 (dark pink) to 8.9 (yellow).

The extreme variation in primary feather pigmentation, and iris and orbital ring colors in <u>glaucescens</u> populations indicated species recognition was not functioning as a complete isolating mechanism between <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u>. Interior <u>(argentatus</u>) populations displayed much less variation in these key characters. The inference of long-term gene flow from Herring Gull into Glaucous-winged Gull populations was therefore direct and unavoidable. The nesting habitat preference exhibited by Herri.ig Gulls for freshwater conditions did not isolate this form from Glaucous-winged Gulls breeding near river mouths and in recently deglaciated fjords. Both Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls displayed considerable flexibility in nesting habitat selection, breeding together on flat gravel bars, sloping grassy hillsides, and on cliff faces.

Hating patterns within mixed colonies were significantly assortative, including integrades selecting like types as mating partners. However, mixed pairs compared to pure pairs showed no statistical difference in mean clutch size (2.98 vs. 2.93) and fledging success (1.47 vs. 1.40).

Four hypotheses for the existence of a narrow hybrid zone between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were explored for the best explanation for the data collected. These postulates are the ephemeral-zone, the hybrid superiority, the dynamic equilibrium, and the ecotone-disclimax hypotheses. The "best fit" for the southern Alaskan <u>L>rus</u> situation involves a combination of the elements of the dynamic equilibrium hypothesis and of the ecotone-disclimax hypothesis.

This and other recent studies of the Western Gull <u>(Larus occidentalis</u>) and the Glaucous Gull <u>(Larus hyperboreus</u>) and the Slaty-backed Gull <u>(Larus schistisagus</u>) expand the concept of the circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u> by extending that concept to include the entire North Pacific rim. This study also designates the Glaucous-winged Gull as a semispecies to the circumpolar Herring Gull superspecies and concludes that the appropriate taxonomic treatment for the Glaucous-winged Gull is <u>Larus [argentatus] glaucescens</u>.

ACKNOWLEDGHENTS

I am deeply indebted to Dr. William J.L. Sladen, Professor, The Johns Hopkins University, for his sponsorship, encouragement, and advice throughout my studies in the Department of Pathobiology of the School of Hygiene and Public Health, and for his review of the manuscript of this dissertation. I also extend my sincere thanks to Dr. George E. Watson, Curator, Division of Birds, U.S. National Museum of Natural History, for his help in developing this study, and for his critical comments on the text of the manuscript as it progressed. Dr. Helen Abbev of the Department of Biostatistics, Dr. Paul Heltne of the Department of Comparative Medicine, Drs. Everett Schiller and Douglas Wartzok of the Department of Pathobiology also kindly read the manuscript and provided many helpful suggestions for its revision. Dr. Frederik B. Bang and Dr. I.L. Graves of the Department of Pathobiology gave guidance in the planning of the initial phases of the study. The logistical support received from Dr. Neal Nathanson and the Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Epidemiology, is sincerely appreciated. I am also grateful to Dr. Francis S.L. Williamson of the Division of Polar Programs, National Science Foundation, for the opportunity to study gulls under the auspices of the Department of Pathobiology. Dr. Storrs L. Olson of the National Museum aided with encouragement and suggestions. I have benefited from many enlightening discussions on North American Larus gulls with Dr. William H. Drury, Jr., of the College of the Atlantic,

٧í

and with Mr. Wayne Hoffman of the National Fish and Wildlife Laboratory. Dr. Alexander A. Kistchinski of the Soviet Academy of Sciences shared his considerable knowledge of Eurasian gulls with me and reviewed portions of this manuscript.

I am grateful to Dr. Calvin Lensink of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, to Drs. Jay Quast, David Norton, Lois Killewich, and to Ms. Susan A. Swanner of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration for their support of this study and to my father, Col. S.M. Patten, for his editorial suggestions on the text of this manuscript.

Special thanks go to the Dr. Peter G. Michelson, University of Alaska; to Mr. M.E. "Pete" Isleib of Cordova, Alaska, and to Mr. Kenton D. Wohl of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for assistance and suggestions. Dr. Ralph B. Williams (ret.) and Mr. Lloyd Morley (ret.) of the Division of Public Health, Department of Health and Social Services, State of Alaska, provided their long-term knowledge of gulls in Alaska. Dr. Frank Pauls, also of the Alaska Division of Public Health, assisted with tecnnical equipment, and Mr. Randolph Bayliss of Alaska Department of Environmental conservation in Valdez provided initial information on the location of significant gull concentrations. Mr. James King, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, reported important sightings of marked gulls and recoveries of bands.

The research in this study was supported in part by the Outer Continental Shelf Environmental Assessment Program (OSCEAP), National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Research Laboratories, Boulder, Colorado, under Contract No. 03-5-022-87 to

vii

the Johns Hopkins University. Additional financial support from the Frank M. Chapman Fund and the Mae P. Smith Fund of the American Museum of Natural History, and the U.S. National Park Service is gratefully acknowledged.

I also express my gratitude to the Staff of the Cordova and Yakutat Work Centers, U.S. Forest Service; in particular to Mr. Richard Groff, Mr. Ronald Quilliman, Mr. Rodney King, Mrs. Lynda Plant, Mrs. Kris Widdows, Mr. Gary Titus, Mr. Benjamin Ames, Mr. Timothy Moerlin, Mr. Joel Schilmoeller, Mr. Michael Lettis, Mr. Thomas Somrak, Mr. Alan Macrae, to the Kenai Lake Youth Conservation Corps and the Young Adult Conservation Corps for field time, logistical support and cooperation. Mr. Stanley Senner and Mr. Robert Bromley of the University of Alaska were my colleagues in the field and contributed greatly to my research.

Mr. Alex Brogle, Dr. Donald McKnight, and Mr. Loyal Johnson of the Alaska Department of Fish and Game suggested areas for special study. Mr. Paul Arneson and Mr. David Kurhajec (ADF&G) helped with field work. I thank Mr. and Mrs. Jerry Thorne, Mr. Norman Borseth, Mr. Richard Morgrey, Mr. Ralph Pirtle of Cordova, and the commercial fishermen of the Alsek River for special kindness, hospitality, and good advice. I am grateful to Dr. George Hunt and Molly Hunt for an earlier manuscript review; to Mr. Robert Stein and Mr. James Audet of the National Oceanic Data Center for data formats, and to Mr. Galen Smith and Mr. Vincent Lamonte of the Johns Hopkins University Computing Center for programming and data products.

The following curators gave me permission to examine specimens

viii

under their care: Mr. R. Wayne Campbell, British Columbia Provincial Museum, Victoria; Dr. Brina Kessel, University of Alaska Museum, Fairbanks; Dr. Wesley E. Lanyon, American Museum of Natural History, New York; Dr. Siewert A. Rohwer, Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum, Seattle; and Dr. George E. Watson, National Museum of Natural History, Washington, D.C.

My wife and I are grateful for the assistance and hospitality of Mrs. Mildred Hayes, and for sharing with us her long-term observations on the gull colony at Lake Louise.

1

Finally, this thesis research could not have been completed without the assistance of my best aide, companion, illustrator and advisor: my wife, Renee.

DEFINITIONS

adaptive radiation

Evolutionary divergence of members of a single phyletic line into a series of different niches or adaptive zones.

allopatric

Populations separated in space, occupying mutually exclusive but often adjacent geographical areas.

allopatric hybridization

The interbreeding of two previously isolated populations in a zone of contact. "Secondary intergradation" (a more neutral term) is used where the interbreeding populations have not reached species level.

assortative mating pattern

The preferential choice of individuals of similar phenotype as mating partners.

backcross

The result of a hybrid individual of the F_1 or subsequent generations mating with an individual of one of the two parental types.

biological species concept

Populations of living organisms, organized into natural groupings of interbreeding or potentially interbreeding populations, which are presumed to share coadapted gene complexes (which see).

chroma

The degree of departure of a given hue from a neutral grey of the same value in the Munsell System of Color Notation. Chroma scales depend upon the strength (degree of saturation) of the sample evaluated.

chick

A young bird from the time of hatching until fully fledged; technically known as a "pullus" or "local."

circular overlap

The phenomenon in which a chain of contiguous and interbreeding populations curves back until the terminal links overlap with each other and behave as good species, that is, non-interbreeding. A circular overlap is known as "ring species."

cline

A geographic gradient in a measurable character, or gradient in gene, genotype, or phenotype frequency. Two or more clines may operate simultaneously and not necessarily on the same axis; the

¹Sources: (Endler, 1977; Thomson, 1964; Mayr, 1963).

cline for each character is theoretically independent of the others. Often, however, there is a rather strong correlation among several characters.

coadapted gene complex

A group of genes in a population adapted to a particular environment, which interact together, and enhance survival and/or reproduction in that environment.

conjunction

A connection of two or more subspecies, incipient species, or species to each other along narrow bands or by steep clines.

cross

In genetics, the mating or the offspring of the mating of two individuals of different strains, races, or species.

dispersal

The roughly random and non-direction small-scale movements made by individuals rather than groups, continuously, rather than periodically, as a result of their daily activities.

distal

That portion of a limb or body member or appendage most distant from the center of the body.

ecotone

A habitat created by the juxtaposition of distinctly different habitats; an edge habitat; the area of transition between different habitats; an area of overlap in environments of different types.

ethological

Behavioral, particularly with reference to species-specific behavior elements, the phenotypes of which are largely determined genetically.

Fl

The first generation offspring of a cross (which see).

 F_2 The offspring of matings between F_1 individuals; the second generation offspring of a cross.

F-ratio

The statistic appropriate to the analysis of variance, used to evaluate the significances of differences between population means.

fitness

The ability of an organism to survive and reproduce; the survival value and reproductive capacity of a given phenotype relative to other phenotypes in a population.

fledging

The term usually applied to the acquisition by a young bird of its first true feathers; when the process is complete the bird is 'fledged' and may for a short time be described as a 'fledgling'. Often implies that an individual can fly when fully fledged.

Formenkreis

Kleinschmidt's term for an aggregate of geographically representative (allopatric) species and subspecies.

founder principle

The principle that the founders of a new population contain only a small fraction of the total genetic variation of the parental population. The differences are enhanced by different evolutionary pressures in the areas occupied by the two populations, acting in different population genetic environments; the result in increased divergence.

gene flow

The exchange of genetic factors between populations; the movement of genetic information between and among populations.

genotype

The totality of genetic factors that make up the genetic constitution of an individual; as contrasted to phenotype.

geographic barrier

Any terrain that prevents gene flow between populations.

habitat selection

The capacity of a dispersing individual to select an appropriate (the species-specific) habitat.

hue

The notation of a color in the Munsell System which indicates its relationship to a visually equally-spaced scale of 100 hues. The hue notation in this study is based upon three color-names: Red, Yellow-Red, and Yellow.

hybrid

The offspring of a cross of individuals belonging to two unlike natural populations. Usually 'hybrid' and hybridize are limited to two species rather than races or subspecies, where the term intergrade is usually applied.

hybrid index

A method for analyzing variation in dissimilar yet interbreeding populations, resulting from secondary contact and hybridization of those populations, with greatly increased variability in morphology. See also 'zone of overlap and hybridization'.

incubation period

The time between onset of incubation of an egg and the date of hatching. May be based on the lowest egg period in a clutch; on the average egg period, the range, or the longest. In gulls, the first day of steady incubation of a clutch is the day the last egg is laid. The last day of incubation is considered to be the day preceding the one on which the eggs begin to hatch. Alternatively, the number of days calculated from the last egg laid to the last young hatched.

integradation

The formation or existence of character gradients between groups of populations, by means of gene flow.

integrade

An individual which is the product of a cross between different parental types and which displays characters intermediate between those of the parental types. Some intergrades may be the offspring of very similar intergrade parents.

introgression

The incorporation of genes and the resulting characters of one species into the gene pool of another species.

iris

The pigmented main portion of the eye, beneath the orbital ring (eyelid) and surrounding the pupil; plural irides.

isolating mechanisms -

Properties of individuals that prevent successful interbreeding with individuals belonging to different populations. Pre-mating isolating mechanisms in gulls may be species recognition, nesting habitat selection, and timing of breeding. Post-mating isolating mechanisms may include such factors as hybrid inviability or reduced fitness.

locus

The location of a given gene on a chromosome.

long call

A series of loud calls given by a gull, associated with a series of postures, combining vocally elements of both sexual display and aggressive defense of territory.

mantle

The back, scapulars, and secondary wing coverts of a gull, together presenting an area of distinctive color, which extend from the primaries (not included) across the rest of the wings and back. The word is used as a general topological term describing appearance.

melanin

A protein which forms usually dark pigments. The substance results from the interaction of the enzyme tyrosinase and the chemical substrate tyrosin.

migration

The relatively long-distance movements made by large numbers of individuals in approximately the same direction at approximately the same time, and usually followed by a return 'migration'. Compare with gene flow and dispersal.

monotypic

A term used of a species, indicating only one subspecies or form.

Munsell System of Color Notation

(See hue, value, and chroma; also Appendix III).

niche

The constellation of environmental factors into which a species (or taxon) fits: the outward projection of the requirements of an organism; its specific way of utilizing its environment. In other words, what the organism <u>does</u>, instead of where it lives (the habitat).

orbital ring

The fleshy portion of the eyelid of a gull visible when the eye is completely open. The orbital ring forms a circle around the opened eye, and is variously colored.

parapatric

Two or more subspecies, incipient species, or species which are in contact over a very narrow zone.

phenotype

The totality of characteristics of an individual, which results from the interaction of genotype and the environment. (See 'genotype').

philopatry

The tendency, or drive of an individual to return to its home area, both for breeding and wintering locations. In German, <u>Ortstreue</u> (true to district).

nonulation Used here in a general sense, any group of organisms of a single species. primarv(ies) The main flight feathers of a bird, on the distal end of the wing: ten in number in gulls, and borne on the manus (carpometacarpus and distal phalanges). (See 'secondary'). range The geographical distribution of a species. Rassenkreis A group of subspecies separated by clines. Some of its subspecies may be reproductively isolated from each other. The German equivalent of a polytypic species, -- not a 'circle of races'. remex (ol. remides) Those feathers which have direct ligamentous connections to the wing bones, including both primaries and secondaries. secondarv(ies) Any one of the flight feathers borne on the ulna, as contrasted with the 'primaries' (which see), borne on the manus. secondary contact The rejunction of partially diverged populations diverged from a common ancestor. secondary intergradation Morphological intergradation between two geographical forms that at one time diverged in isolation. selection pressure The environmental resistance leading to differential survival and reproduction of genotypes. semispecies The component species of superspecies (Mayr); also, populations that have acquired some. but not yet all, attributes of species rank; borderline cases between species and subspecies. The second aspect of the definition is the appropriate use here. Sewall Wright Effect The tendency in small populations for random variations to become fixed through random drift. The effectiveness of weak selection is low in small populations, which may thus exhibit unusual characteristics.

species group

An array of closely related species, usually also with partially overlapping ranges. (See also 'superspecies').

stasipatric speciation

A process of speciation, originating at a small local colony, either at the periphery of the distribution area of the ancestral species, or inside it. If members of this colony possess high fitness, they subsequently spread and may displace the ancestral form.

step cline

A cline with a very rapid change in gene frequency separating two regions with a relatively small change in gene frequency with distance. (See 'cline').

subspecies

An aggregate of local populations of a species, inhabiting a geographical subdivision of the range of the species, and differing morphologically from other populations of the species. Various criteria are used to distinguish among species, among which are rules suggesting that 75% to 95% of the individuals of a subspecies should be distinguishable from other such subspecies.

substrate

The geological formation, usually with vegetation superimposed, upon which a gull colony rests (i.e., sand dunes, rock cliff face, gravel bars, etc.).

subterminal

As applied to the wing tip pattern of gulls, that (usually dark) portion of the main flight feathers (the primaries) just medial of the feather tips.

superspecies

A monophyletic group of entirely or essentially allopatric species that are too distinct to be included in a single species.

sympatry

The occurrence to two or more populations in the same area; the existence of a population in breeding condition within the range of another population. As opposed to allopatry (which see).

synchronous breeding

The tendency of all members of a population of colonial birds to reproduce within a short period of time of each other. It is an adaptive anti-predator strategy, also necessary if the optimal breeding period is of short duration because of weather and climate.

territory

An area defended by an animal against other members of the same

species, and occasionally against members of other species,

Throwback

That component of the "Long Call" in certain gulls (e.g., Larus argentatus) in which the head is moved rapidly back to the rear through an arc extending over the back, from a low, nearly horizontal frontal position. (See "Long Call").

value

The notation of a color in the Munsell System, indicating the degree of lightness or darkness in relation to a neutral grey scale, extending from absolute black to absolute white.

zone of overlap and hybridization

An area of secondary intergradation occupied by numerous hybrids and both parent forms as well. The parental phenotypes must occur in numbers sufficient to preclude their representing extreme recombinant phenotypes.

zygote

A fertilized egg; the cell (individual) that results from the fertilization of an egg cell; a diploid cell formed by the union of male and female gametes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| | | | page |
|-----------------|----------|--|------|
| ABST | ABSTRACT | | |
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS | | vi | |
| DEFINITIONS | | x | |
| 1.0 | INTRO | DUCTION | 1 |
| 2.0 | CURRE | NT STATE OF KNOULEDGE | 5 |
| | 2.1 | General | 5 |
| | 2.2 | Geographical Areas | 5 |
| | 2.21 | Holarctic-Circumpolar Region | 5 |
| | 2.22 | Nearctic-Pacific Coast Region | 8 |
| | 2.23 | North Pacific Rim | 11 |
| | 2.3 | The Breeding Biology of Herring Gulls and Glaucous-winged Gulls | 11 |
| | 2.4 | Narrow Hybrid Zones in Vertebrates | 13 |
| 3.0 | DESCR | IPTION OF STUDY AREAS | 15 |
| | 3.1 | The General Environment | 15 |
| | 3.2 | Individual Study Sites | 17 |
| | 3.21 | North Marble Island in Glacier Bay | 18 |
| | 3.22 | Dry Bay | 18 |
| | 3.23 | Haenke Island | 23 |
| | 3.24 | Copper River Delta | 24 |
| | 3.25 | Middleton 'Island | 34 |
| | 3.26 | Lake Louise | 36 |
| | 3.3 | Summary of Study Areas | 39 |

| | | | page |
|-----|-----------------------|--|------|
| 4.0 | MATERIALS AND METHODS | | 42 |
| | 4.1 | Colony Selection | 42 |
| | 4.2 | Determination and Isolating Mechanisms | 44 |
| | 4.21 | Nesting Habitat Selection | 44 |
| | 4.22 | Mating Patterns | 44 |
| | 4.23 | Reproductive Productivity | 45 |
| | 4.3 | Mensural Characters | 45 |
| | 4.4 | Investigation of Colorimetric Characters | 47 |
| | 4.41 | Specification and Description | 47 |
| | 4.42 | Analysis | 48 |
| | 4.43 | Iris Pigmentation | 48 |
| | 4.44 | Orbital Ring Pigmentation | 50 |
| | 4.45 | Primary Feather Pigmentation | 51 |
| | 4.46 | Composite Hybrid Index | 54 |
| | 4.5 | Huseum Skins | 54 |
| | 4.6 | Statistical Procedures | 55 |
| | 4.7 | Summary | 58 |
| 5.0 | RESULTS | | 59 |
| | 5.1 | Primary Feather Pigmentation | 59 |
| | 5.2 | Iris Pigmentation | 67 |
| | 5.3 | Parameters of Iris Color | 69 |
| | 5.31 | Hue | 69 |
| | 5.32 | Value | 72 |
| | 5.33 | Chroma | 75 |
| | 5.34 | Combined Iris Parameters | 77 |

| | 5.4 | Relationship of Iris Color to Primary Feather Pigmentation | 82 |
|-----|--------|--|-----|
| | 5.5 | Orbital Ring Pigmentation | 86 |
| | 5.51 | Solo Hues | 90 |
| | 5.52 | Combination Hues | 90 |
| | 5.6 | Composite Hybrid Index | 95 |
| | 5.7 | Nest Site Selection: Slope, Substrate, and Cover | 101 |
| | 5.8 | Analysis of Mating Patterns | 104 |
| | 5.9 | Clutch Size | 107 |
| | 5.10 | Hatching and Fledging Success | 114 |
| 6.0 | DISCU | SSION | 121 |
| | 6.1 | Allopatric Hybridization of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls | 121 |
| | 6.2 | Evolution of Assortative Mating Patterns without Selective Pressure on Hybrid Offspring | 124 |
| | 6.3 | Viability of Hybrid Offspring | 127 |
| | 6.4 | Relationships between Northeast Gulf of Alaska <u>Larus</u> Populations | 128 |
| | 6.5 | Predictions of Additional Gene Flow between Previously Isolated <u>Larus</u> Populations | 135 |
| | 6.6 | The Geological and Evolutionary History of the argentatus - glaucescens Contact | 136 |
| | 6.7 | Alternative Hypothesis for the Narrow Hybrid Zone between argentatus and glaucescens | 139 |
| | 6.8 | Relationship of the Findings of this Study to the Circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u> through Eastern Siberia | 146 |
| | 6.9 | Taxonomy of Large Uhite-headed Gulls of the North Pacific Rim | 150 |
| 7.0 | Sumita | RY | 153 |
| | | | |

6

page

| | | | page |
|-----|------------|--|-------------|
| 8.0 | APPENDICES | | 162 |
| | 8.1 | National Oceanic Data Format 035 Record Format Description | 162 |
| | 8.2 | Gull Data Form | 165 |
| | 8.3 | Munsell System of Color Notation | 1 67 |
| | 8.4 | Mensural Characters | 168 |
| | 8.5 | Nesting Populations of Gulls on Copper River Delta Sandbar Barrier Islands | 180 |
| | 8.6 | The Cordova Gull Population | 182 |
| | 8.7 | Data Collection Dates in Gull Colonies | 203 |
| | 8.8 | Crosstabulation of Hybrid Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation of Males Against Females in 112 pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska | 207 |
| | 8.9 | Crosstabulation of Hybrid Indices of Iris Color of Males Against Females in 112 pairs at Dry Bay, Alaska | 208 |
| | 8.10 | Crosstabulations of Combined Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation and Eye Color of Males Against Females in 112 pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska | 209 |
| 9.0 | LITE | RATURE CITED | 211 |
| | | | |

CURRICULUM VITAE

LIST OF TABLES

| Table | | page |
|-------|--|------|
| ۱. | Scientific and Common Names, Typical Characteristics, and Distributions of Some Large White-headed Gulls Mentioned in Text | 6 |
| 2. | Principal Study Areas <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 40 |
| 3. | Principal Periods of Study for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 41 |
| 4. | Gull Colony Survey. The colony numbers correspond to the numbers on Figure 3. | 43 |
| 5. | Summary of Sample Sizes | 46 |
| 6. | Hybrid Index of Primary Feather Pigmentation (WHI) for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 60 |
| 7. | Ranked Means for the Wing Hybrid Index for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska ($p < .05$ level) | 61 |
| 8. | Ranked Means for the Wing Hybrid Index for Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska ($p < .01$ level) | 62 |
| 9. | Hybrid Index for Iris Color for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 68 |
| 10. | Ranked Means for Iris Color Indices for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (p < .05 level) | 70 |
| 11. | Ranked Means for Iris Color Indices for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (p < .01 level) | 71 |
| 12. | Hybrid Index of Orbital Ring Pigmentation (OHI) for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 87 |
| 13. | Ranked Means for Orbital Ring Pigmentation Indices for Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska | 88 |
| 14. | Composite Hybrid Index (CHI) for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 96 |
| 15. | Ranked Means for the Composite Hybrid Index for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (p < .05 level) | 97 |
| 16. | Ranked Means for the Composite Hybrid Index for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (p < .01 level) | 98 |

Table

| 17. | Nest Site Substrates and Cover in <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska, British Columbia, and Yukon Territory | 102 |
|-----|--|-----|
| 18. | Nest Site Slope in <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska | 103 |
| 19. | Chi-square Test of the Comparison of Hybrid Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation of Males Against Females in 112 pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska | 106 |
| 20. | Chi-square Test of the Comparison of Iris Color Indices of Males Against Females in 112 pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska | 108 |
| 21. | Chi-square Test of the Comparison of Combined Hybrid Indices of Males Against Females in 112 pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska | 109 |
| 22. | Clutch Size in Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska | 110 |
| 23. | Analysis of Variance of Clutch Size | 112 |
| 24. | Ranked Means of Clutch Size for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (p < .05 level) | 113 |
| 25. | Ranked Means of Clutch Size for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (p < 101 level) | 115 |
| 26. | "Lost," Inviable, and Pipped Eggs Failing to Hatch in <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (1972-1978) | 116 |
| 27. | Hatching Success, Chick Mortality, and Fledging Success in <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (1972-1978) | 118 |
| 28. | Analysis of Variance of Fledging Success in Southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> Colonies | 120 |
| 29. | Comparison of the Measurements of Sympatric and Allo- patric Gulls in Southern Alaska Males | 169 |
| 30. | Comparison of the Measurements of Sympatric and Allo- patric Gulls in Southern Alaska Females | 171 |
| 31. | Analysis of Variance of Morphological Measurements for Adult Gulls (Female) | 174 |
| 32. | Analysis of Variance of Morphological Measurements for Adult Gulls (Male) | 175 |
| 33. | Analysis of Variance of Morphological Measurements for Adult Gulls (Male) Without Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef | 176 |

page

Table page 34. Analysis of Variance of Morphological Measurements for Adult Gulls (Male) at Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef 177 35. Nesting Gull Populations on Copper River Delta Sandbar Islands--29 June 1976 NOAA Helicopter Survey 181 Hybrid Index of Primary Feather Pigmentation (WHI) 36. Including Cordova Population 184 37. Ranked Means for Primary Feather Pigmentation Indices Including Cordova Population 185 38. Hybrid Index of Iris Color Including Cordova Population 186 Ranked Means for Iris Color Indices Including Cordova 39. Population 188 40. Hybrid Index of Orbital Ring Indices Including Cordova 194 Population Ranked Means for Orbital Ring Indices Including Cordova 41. Population (p < .05 level) 195 42. Ranked Means for Orbital Ring Indices Including Cordova Population (p < .01 level)196 43. Composite Hybrid Index Including Cordova Population 199 Ranked Means for the Composite Hybrid Index with Cordova 200 44. 45. Schedule of Visits - North Marble Colonies 203 46. Schedule of Visits - Yakutat Colonies 204 47 Schedule of Visits - Copper River Delta Colonies 205 Schedule of Visits - Lake Louise 206 48. 49. Schedule of Visits - Middleton Island 206 Hybrid Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation of Males 50. Against Females in 112 Pairs of Larus Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska 207 51. Hybrid Indices of Eye Color of Males Against Females in 208 112 Pairs of Larus Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska 52. Combined Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation and Eye

LIST OF FIGURES

.

| Figure | | page |
|--------|---|------|
| 1. | Pacific Northwest Gull Distribution. | 2 |
| 2. | Circumpolar <u>argentatus</u> - <u>fuscus</u> Formenkreis. | 9 |
| 3. | Frequencies of Herring Gulls, Glaucous-winged Gulls, and intergrades as revealed in 1971 - 1978 surveys in southern Alaska, southwestern Yukon, and north- western British Columbia. | 16 |
| 4. | North Marble Island lies in the middle of Glacier Bay and contains large marine bird nesting areas. | 19 |
| 5. | North Marble is about 600 m long and 300 m wide, and is surrounded by deep, cold, highly oxygenated waters and strong tidal currents. | 20 |
| 6. | Two gull colonies in the Yakutat area are located at Dry Bay, 75 km SE of Yakutat, and at Haenke Island, 50 km NE of Yakutat. | 21 |
| 7. | Mixed colony of <u>Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens</u> at Dry Bay. The gull colony (500 pairs) is located 4.8 km upriver from the mouth of the Alsek River on flat gravel bars. | 22 |
| 8. | Map of Haenke Island and surroundings in Disenchantment Bay, near Yukutat Bay, 50 km NE of Yakutat, Alaska. | 25 |
| 9. | Aerial photograph of Haenke Island. | 26 |
| 10. | Map of the Copper River Delta region and Prince William Sound, showing location of Cordova, the Copper River, Egg Island, Copper Sands, and Straw- berry Reef. | 27 |
| 11. | Nesting Colonies of <u>Larus glaucescens</u> of the Copper River Delta. | 29 |
| 12. | Before the 1964 earthquake, Egg Island was a series of sandbars and dunes, but since the earthquake, with a tremendous increase in surface area, these have coal- esced and formed one basic island. | 31 |
| 13. | Egg Island, Copper River Delta, <u>Larus glaucescens</u> colony, with 1976 vegetation analysis. | 32 |

-

Figure

l

| 14. | The gull colony of 800 pairs is located on three dunes covered with beach rye at the SE tip of Copper Sands. | 33 |
|-----|--|----|
| 15. | The gull colony at Strawberry Reef is located on <u>Elymus</u> - covered dunes. | 35 |
| 16. | Overview of Susitna River drainage from Lake Louise to Cook Inlet, showing Prince William Sound, Cordova, Valdez, and Anchorage. | 37 |
| 17. | Overview of the Lake Louise area, showing Susitna Lake and Little Lake Louise. | 38 |
| 18. | The Munsell Charts were used in the field to provide a basis for objective comparisons of soft part colors. | 49 |
| 19. | Hybrid Index of Primary Feather Pigmentation, Munsell Neutral Value Scale. | 53 |
| 20. | Frequency distributions of Wing Hybrid Indices in Copper River Delta <u>Larus</u> colonies. | 63 |
| 21. | Frequency distributions of Wing Hybrid Indices at North Marble and Haenke Island. | 64 |
| 22. | Frequency distributions of Wing Hybrid Indices at Lake Louise, Middleton Island, and Dry Bay, Alaska. | 65 |
| 23. | Frequency distributions of Iris Hues in eight southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> Colonies. | 73 |
| 24. | Frequency distributions of Iris Values in eight southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> colonies. | 74 |
| 25. | Frequency distributions of Iris Chroma in eight southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> colonies. | 76 |
| 26. | Complete Munsell Notation for Iris Color in <u>Larus</u> colonies at Haenke Island and Lake Louise, Alaska. | 78 |
| 27. | The gull populations breeding at Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef had similar distributions of iris colors. | 79 |
| 28. | Frequency distributions of Iris Colors in <u>Larus</u> gulls breed- ing at Egg Island, Alaska. | 80 |
| 29. | Iris Colors in Copper River Delta <u>Larus</u> Colonies (Complete Munsell Notation). | 81 |

page

Figure

| 30. | Frequency distributions of iris colors for <u>Larus</u> gulls breeding at North Marble and Middleton Island, Alaska. | 83 |
|-----|--|-----|
| 31. | Frequency distributions of iris colors for gulls breeding at Dry Bay, Alaska. | 84 |
| 32. | Iris hues of <u>Larus</u> gulls in southern Alaska plotted against categories of the Wing Hybrid Index | 85 |
| 33. | Frequency distributions of orbital ring pigmentation in <u>Larus</u> populations at Lake Louise, and Middleton Island, Alaska. | 91 |
| 34. | Frequency distributions of orbita ¹ ring pigmentation at North Marble Island, Haenke Island, and Dry Bay, Alaska. | 92 |
| 35. | Frequency distributions of orbital ring pigmentation in Larus populations breeding at Strawberry Reef, Copper Sands, and Egg Island, Copper River Delta, Alaska. | 93 |
| 36. | Mean Hybrid Indices at eight <u>Larus</u> Colonies in southern Alaska. | 99 |
| 37. | Comparison of argentatus and glaucescens "pure" types. | 100 |
| 38. | East Siberian Gull distribution. | 144 |
| 39. | Iris Hue. | 189 |
| 40. | Iris Value. | 190 |
| 41. | Iris Chroma | 191 |
| 42. | Iris: Complete Munsell Notation | 193 |
| 43. | Orbital Ring | 197 |

page

xxvii

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This study is an investigation of the zone of overlap and hybridization in Alaska of two taxa traditionally known as the Glaucous-winged Gull (Larus glaucescens Naumann) and the Herring Gull (Larus argentatus smithsonianus Coues). The Glaucous-winged Gull resembles the Herring Gull in size and plumage characters, with certain observable exceptions, i.e., the subterminal portions of the outer primary feathers are light grey in glaucescens and black in <u>argentatus</u>; the iris of typical glaucescens is dark brown while that of typical <u>argentatus</u> is yellow, and the orbital ring of <u>glaucescens</u> is pink while that of typical <u>argentatus</u> is yellow. The Glaucous-winged Gull breeds along the Pacific Coast from Washington State north to Norton Sound, Alaska, and west along the Aleutian chain to the Commander Islands (USSR). The Herring Gull, a widely distributed circumpolar taxon, breeds in northwestern North America on boreal lakes and rivers in interior Alaska, British Columbia, and the Yukon. The ranges of the two taxa overlap on the south coast of Alaska (Fig. 1).

As a general rule, breeding populations of the two taxa are separated by high mountain ranges dividing the ecologically distinct coastal (<u>glaucescens</u>) and interior (<u>argentatus</u>) regions of the Pacific Northwest and Alaska. Williamson and Peyton (1963) discovered interbreeding between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls in the Cook Inlet region, near Anchorage, Alaska, but the extent and degree of contact between these gulls was left unresolved. Williamson (MS) subsequently studied the morphology of gull populations southwest of Cook Inlet, but the coastline of the Gulf of Alaska remained univestigated. The location of gull colonies and their species composition in this region was not known until



Fig. 1. Pacific Northwest gull distribution. The ranges of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>hyperboreus</u> overlap in western Alaska; <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> in southern Alaska; <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>occidentalis</u> in western Washington State. (<u>L.a.vegae</u> breeds on St. Lawrence Island).

the present study. Early observations (Patten and Weisbrod, 1974) of mixed pairs and intermediate morphs in recently deglaciated fjords and at river mouths in the Glacier Bay and Yakutat area of southeastern Alaska indicated the need for a survey of coastal and interior gull colonies between Juneau and Prince William Sound. Subsequent surveys were conducted to determine the possibility of additional sympatry, hybridization, or intergradation between the two gulls. Nesting habitat selection, mating patterns, and reproductivity of pure types and intergrades in this region required study to establish the potential functioning of pre- and post-mating isolating mechanisms (cf. Definitions, p. xiii). Furthermore, most aspects of the reproductive biology of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> in Alaska were completely unknown.

The existence of intergrades as well as pure types in the study area required a comprehensive explanation to include an examination of the theoretical hypotheses for the existence of a narrow hybrid zone in southern Alaska. The question of the stability or transitory nature of the contact became important to this aspect of the study. This necessitated research into the geological and ecological conditions characteristic of the coastline of the Gulf of Alaska. If conditions were static, then hybridization should theoretically be a transitory phenomenon.

The information gathered during this study is related to the larger problem of gull relationships within the circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u>, or the circle of interbreeding races of the Herring Gull group extending around the Northern Hemisphere (Stresemann and Timofeeff-?essovsky, 1947). Where the terminal ends on the circle overlap in Western Europe, extreme variant races, the Herring Gull (<u>L</u>. <u>argentatus</u>) and the Lesser Black-backed Gull (<u>L</u>. <u>fuscus</u>) act as good species (Paludan, 1951; Goethe, 1955). Previous

studies of the <u>Formenkreis</u>, which have focused on Palearctic aspects of the <u>L</u>. <u>argentatus</u> - <u>fuscus</u> complex, have assumed the simple continuity of <u>argentatus</u> populations in North America, and have not even considered hybridization between sympatric forms. However, recent investigations on the West Coast have indicated that the Glaucous-winged Gull (<u>L</u>. <u>glaucescens</u>) interbreeds with the Glaucous Gull (<u>L</u>. <u>hyperboreus</u>) in western Alaska (Strang, 1977), with the Herring Gull in southern Alaska (Williamson and Peyton, 1963; Patten and Weisbrod, 1974), and with the Western Gull (<u>L</u>. <u>occidentalis</u>) along the Washington and Oregon coasts (Hoffman, Weins, and Scott, 1978)(Fig. 1). Russian studies indicate that a fifth species, the Slaty-backed Gull (<u>L</u>. <u>schistisagus</u>) interbreeds with a form of the Herring Gull (<u>L.a. vegae</u>) on the Pacific Coast of Siberia (Portenko, 1963; Kistchinski, pers. comm.). The evolutionary status of these gulls (subspecies, semispecies, stabilized hybrid forms, or locally differentiated races of a single species) required additional study.

The Glaucous-winged Gull is thus potentially important as a "key" taxon, interbreeding with at least three other populations in the Nearctic Larus complex, while the Herring Gull represents the presumed ancestral form. The previously uninvestigated south coast of Alaska provided an unparalleled opportunity to study the contact between the Glaucouswinged Gull and the Herring Gull in a little-known environment.

The intent of this study was therefore, to contribute to the knowledge of the evolution of <u>Larus</u> gulls, provide additional knowledge on the area of contact between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls, and to expand the concept of the circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u> to include additional large white-headed gulls interbreeding in narrow zones of sympatry along the North Pacific rim.

2.0 CURRENT STATE OF KNOWLEDGE

2.1 General

The complex morphology and evolution of <u>Larus</u> gulls have long attracted the attention of ornithologists in Europe and North America. The literature on this topic is divided here for clarity into three parts reflecting geographical areas: the Holarctic-Circumpolar region, the Nearctic-Pacific Coast region, and the North Pacific rim. Supporting literature is presented in the form of a section on theories of hybridization, as related to this study, and a practical section in which aspects of the allopatric breeding biology of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> are compared to assist in understanding the selective forces which may act upon interbreeding populations in the study area. Scientific and common names, typical characteristics, and distributions of some large white-headed gulls discussed below are included in Table 1 for ease of understanding.

2.2 Geographical Areas

2.21 Holarctic-Circumpolar Region

The morphology of Eurasian <u>Larus</u> has been studied at least since the early 1930's. Consideration of the evolution of morphological differences among <u>Larus</u> populations has led to the concept of the <u>Formenkreis</u> as developed by Stegmann (1934) and expanded by Stresemann and Timofeeff-Ressovsky (1947). Geyr von Schweppenburg (1938), Voipio (1954), Voous (1959), Johansen (1960) and Kist (1960) have further studied the origin of the pink-footed gulls of the <u>L. argentatus</u> group and the yellowfooted <u>L</u>. (<u>argentatus</u>) <u>cachinnans</u> group. These authors agree that during the Pleistocene an ancestral <u>Larus argentatus</u> population was divided into two refugia by the East Siberian Ice Barrier. The pink-footed <u>argentatus</u> group was forced to the east side of the barrier, and populations of this
| 1960; Kinsky, 1963 | hansen. | o, 1954; Jo | , 1947; Voìpi bers. comm. | tessovsky, hinski, μ | ı & Timofeeff-R s. comm.; Kistc | 1934; Streseman 56; Hoffman, per | Sources: Stegmann, Smith, 19 |
|--|-----------------|------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Mongolia | pink/ yellow | dark grey | red | = | = | - | L.(a) mongolicus |
| Black & Caspian Sea Basins, Kazakhstan | yellow | dark grey | red | ź | = | - | <u>L.(a) cachinnans³</u> |
| Northeast Europe | pink/ yellow | grey | z | = | = | z | L.a. omissus |
| Northwest Siberia | yellow | dark grey | = | = | = | - | L.a. antelius |
| Northcentral Siberia | pink/ yellow | variable grey | pink | 3 | = | - | L.a. taimyrensis ² |
| Northern Siberia | 2 | = | variable pink/orange | 2 | ĩ | 2 | L.a. vegae |
| Northern Europe | = | = | = | = | z | = | L.a. argentatus |
| North America | £ | = | æ | 2 | Ŧ | = | L.a. smithsonianus |
| Northern Hemisphere | pink | grey | yellow/ orange | yellow | black | Herring gull | arus argentatus |
| <u>Distribution</u> | feet å legs | mantle | uracteristics orbital ring | pical Cha iris | Ty bterminal por- ons of primary feathers | Common sul (English) tic | ictentific <u>Name</u> |
| Distribution | | Text | lentioned in racteristics | ed Gulls M pical Cha | rge White-heade Ty | of Some La | Name |
| | tions | udrastd bu | teristics, a | al Charac | on Names, lypic | entific and Comme | Sc11 |
| | tions | nd Vistribu | teristics, a | al Charac | on Names, lypic | entific and Comme | Sch |

. ; I

TABLE 1

²This form may represent an intermediate zone between <u>vegae</u> and <u>antelius</u>, not a subspecies (Kistchinski, pers. comm.).

³The common opinion of Soviet biologists is that this form deserves full species status as <u>Larus cachineus</u>, and that <u>mongolicus</u> is a subspecies of <u>cachineus</u> (Kistchinski, pers. comm.).

| Name | an ang a sa ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang an | | Typical C | naracteris | tics | | Distribution |
|--|--|--------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|--|
| Scientific | Солтоп | subterminal primaries | iris | orbital ring | mantle | feet k legs | |
| Larus glaucescens | Glaucous-winged Gull | grey | brown | pink | grey | pink | Pacific Northwest Coast of N. America |
| Larus occidentalis | Western Gull | black | yellow | yellow/ orange | dark grey | pink | Washington State, Oregon, California coasts |
| L.o. livens | = | - | 2 | yellow | very dark grey | yellow | Baja California |
| <u>Larus schistisagus</u> | Slaty-backed Gull | 2 | light to medium brown | orange/ red | grey | pink | Pacific Coast of Siberia |
| Larus fuscus | Lesser Black- backed Gull | - | yellow | vermillic | - - | yellow | Northwest Europe |
| Larus hyperboreus | Glaucous Bull | white | = | yellow | light grey | pink | Circumpolar |
| <u>L.h. barroyianus</u> | 2 | = | 2 | Ξ | darker grey | | Northwestern Canada, Northern & Western Canada |
| L.h. pallidisimu | 2 | 2 | = | z | very pale grey | = | Eastern and Northern Siberia |
| <u>Larus glaucoides</u> <u>kumlieni</u> | Kumlien's Gull | variable grey | variable dark to light | reddish purple | grey | = | Baffin Island, North- western Quebec |
| Larus thayeri | Thayer's Gull | grey to black | dark | pink | grey | = | Eastern Canadian Arctic |

TABLE 1 (Continued)

form later dispersed over the Bering Land Bridge to the North American continent. This immigration led to the gradual development of the pinkfooted American group, including the Glaucous-winged Gull (<u>L. glaucescens</u>) and the Western Gull (<u>L. occidentalis</u>). Later, the ancestral <u>argentatus</u> population expanded across the North American continent along the southern edge of the retreating continental glacier until it reached the Eastern Seaboard. Post-glacially, L. <u>argentatus</u> (sensu stricto) moved northeastward, crossed the Atlantic, and colonized northwestern Europe.

Populations of the yellow-footed, dark-mantled <u>cachinnans</u>-<u>fuscus</u> group, displaced westward and southward by Siberian glaciers, spread into a refugium in the Aral-Caspian area. From this region, <u>cachinnans</u> populations dispersed into the Mediterranean, and <u>fuscus</u> populations moved into northwestern Europe before the post-Pleistocene invasion of <u>argentatus</u> from North America. In northwestern Europe, <u>argentatus</u> and <u>fuscus</u> became sympatric, thus completing the circumpolar circle of <u>Larus</u> populations (<u>Formenkreis</u>) (Fig. 2). The present European populations of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>fuscus</u>, while sympatric, are generally reproductively isolated, as would be expected from their long period of geographic isolation.

2.22 Nearctic-Pacific Coast Region

Research on the morphology of the Nearctic <u>argentatus</u> group has focused on two major geographical areas: the High Arctic, and more recently, the Pacific Coast. The Eastern Nearctic forms, <u>L</u>. <u>hyperboreus</u>, <u>L</u>. <u>thayeri</u>, <u>L</u>. <u>kumlieni</u>, and <u>L</u>. <u>argentatus</u>, are repr fuctively isolated by time of breeding, nesting habitat selection, and species recognition among these species which have been sympatric since the end of the Pleistocene (Smith, 1966b). However, on Iceland, recently colonizing populations



x 7 (Koryak Highlands)

of <u>argentatus</u> are freely interbreeding with <u>hyperboreus</u> (Ingolfsson, 1970). This contact, which has occurred since about 1925, is related to the development of high seas fisheries, and the concurrent spread of the British Herring Gull to Iceland (Ingolfsson, 1970).

The North American West Coast forms, <u>occidentalis</u> and <u>glauces-</u> <u>cens</u>, have been studied by Dawson (1909) who first found evidence of extensive hybridization on the outer Washington Coast; Pearse (1946), who noted possible hybridization on the outer coast of Vancouver Island, and Scott (1971) who found mixed pairs of Western and Glaucous-winged Gulls and extensive hybridization on Destruction Island, Washington. Hoffman, Weins, and Scott (1978) surveyed the gull colonies of the outer Washington and Oregon coasts to determine the extent and range of overlap and hybridization, and found that mating patterns of gulls on Destruction Island were generally assortative, with individuals pairing with mates similar to themselves, although exceptions occurred frequently. They also reported that as a result of their one-year study that gull pairs containing at least one hybrid individual demonstrated apparently greater hatching success than pairs composed of pure Glaucous-winged or Western Gulls.

Swarth (1934) studied the morphology of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>hyper-boreus</u> breeding at Nunivak Island, Alaska. He considered all <u>glaucescens</u> on Nunivak Island showed evidence of interbreeding with <u>hyperboreus</u>, and some <u>hyperboreus</u> displayed morphological characteristics of <u>glaucescens</u>. Strang (1977) believed the variation in color patterns of the irides, orbital rings, and primary feathers of adult <u>hyperboreus</u> on the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta was the result of hybridization with a darker form, pre-sumably glaucescens. However, neither Swarth (1934) nor Strang (1977)

found mixed pairs of <u>hyperboreus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>. Williamson and Peyton (1963) and Patten and Weisbrod (1974) found intergrades and mixed pairs of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> in southern Alaska.

2.23 North Pacific Rim

Portenko (1963; cf. Vaurie, 1965) found the Slaty-backed Gull (<u>Larus schistisagus</u>) of northern Japan, the Kurile Islands, and the Kamchatka Peninsula interbreeds with a Siberian form of the Herring Gull (<u>L.a. vegae</u>) in the Koryak Highlands on the Pacific Coast of Siberia.

Williamson (1967) considered <u>occidentalis</u>, <u>glaucescens</u>, <u>smith</u>-<u>sonianus</u>, <u>vegae</u>, and <u>schistisagus</u> all to be races of the Herring Gull in the North Pacific Ocean and Bering Sea. However, mating patterns were not analyzed between any of these forms, nor was <u>hyperboreus</u> included in this group.

Until the present study, the circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u> concept (postulating a series of interbreeding populations of <u>Larus</u> gulls) has been incomplete, because of the lack of sufficient information concerning the gull populations of western North America. In particular, the importance of <u>glaucescens</u> as a "key" taxon, interbreeding with every other large white-headed gull with which it comes into contact on the breeding grounds, has not been previously emphasized.

2.3 The Breeding Biology of Herring Gulls and Glaucous-winged Gulls

The breeding biology of Herring Gulls (<u>L. argentatus</u>) in Europe and eastern North America has been studied in detail. Nesting habitat selection is flexible (Drury and Nisbet, 1972; Drury and Kadlec, 1974) and includes marshes (Burger, 1977), sand dunes (Tinbergen, 1960) and cliff faces (Goethe, 1960; Emlen, 1963; Harris, 1970) in both freshwater and marine environments. Modal clutch size is three. Conspecific predation accounts for most of the egg loss. Hatching success is usually 60 to 80 percent, including egg loss to predation and failure to hatch. Critical factors affecting fledging rate are chick loss through cannibalism, chick mortality because of aggressive behavior of adults, and weather conditions during the breeding season. Herring Gulls in eastern North America raise an average of one fledged chick per year (Keith, 1966; Kadlec and Drury, 1968). There is little information available to date on the breeding biology of argentatus in western North America.

The breeding biology of the Glaucous-winged Gull in the Pacific Northwest and Gulf of Alaska has been studied by Schultz (1953), Vermeer (1963), Ward (1973), Patten (1974), Hunt and Hunt (1976) and Patten and Patten (1975, 1976, 1977, 1978). Results of these West Coast investigations indicate breeding characteristics of "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> are quite similar to those of <u>argentatus</u> in characteristics which are presumably genetically determined, i.e., nesting habitat selection, time of breeding, and clutch size, as well as those parameters which fluctuate from year to year, such as hatching success (60-80%) and fledging success (usually averaging one chick per pair per year). The Glaucous-winged Gull, in addition, has the same plumage sequences as the Herring Gull (Schultz, MS), and similar adaptability to urban environments (Ward, 1973), although breeding populations of Glaucous-winged Gulls are generally confined to coastal environments.

There is a strong tendency for adult gulls, including <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>, to return to natal colonies to breed, suggesting a degree of isolation between members of adjoining colonies (Gross, 1940; Paynter, 1949; Tinbergen, 1953, 1961; Drost et al., 1961; Ludwig, 1963; Vermeer, 1963). In general, evidence to date indicates that the breeding biologies of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> are remarkably similar, although <u>argentatus</u> exhibits a greater tolerance for both marine and freshwater conditions than does <u>glaucescens</u>, which distinctly prefers marine habitats. 2.4 Narrow Hybrid Zones in Vertebrates

Studies of interbreeding reveal that most vertebrate hybrid zones, including those of gulls, are characteristically narrow, suggesting the applicability of general principles. Moore (1977) listed four hypotheses which are pertinent to the theoretical aspects of interbreeding between argentatus and glaucescens in southern Alaska.

The <u>ephemeral-zone</u> hypothesis states that hybridization is a transitory phenomenon and will end either in fusion of the hybridizing taxa by means of introgression or speciation (Dobzhansky, 1940; Sibley, 1957; Wilson, 1965; Remington, 1968). Known examples of stable hybrid zones, such as the contact between the Carrion Crow (<u>Corvus corone</u>) and the Hooded Crow (<u>C. cornix</u>) in central Europe, and the relationship between the flickers (<u>Colaptes auratus auratus</u> and <u>C.a. cafer</u>) on the Great Plains, provide evidence against this hypothesis for birds (Mayr, 1963; Short, 1965, 1969, 1970; Moore, 1977). Short (1970) pointed out that ephemeral zones as opposed to stable zones (see below) are the exception rather than the rule in avian hybrids.

The <u>dynamic-equilibrium</u> hypothesis postulates stable hybrid zones (Bigelow, 1965). This hypothesis reconciles the existence of narrow hybrid zones with the concept of coadapted gene complexes, and states that if two populations have diverged to the point where hybrids suffer depressed fitness, gene flow through the hybrid zone into the parental populations should be inhibited by selection. Where selection gradients are

steep, intergradation should be restricted to a narrow zone between the parental populations. Gene flow from parental populations into the hybrid zone could "swamp" alleles which cause individuals to avoid hybridizing, and thus hinder the evolution of isolating mechanisms. Selection might also be slow, giving the appearance of a stable zone.

The <u>hybrid superiority</u> hypothesis states that the range of a hybrid population is determined by the extent of the environmental conditions within which the hybrids are superior (Anderson, 1949; Muller, 1953; Grant, 1971). Short (1972) suggested that hybrids are actually more "fit" than their parental types in stable hybrid zones, although strong selection may occur in parental populations against immigrant genes.

The <u>ecotone-disclimax</u> hypothesis postulates that hybrids can succeed in some areas, such as ecotones, or perpetually disturbed habitats, where competition from parental types is weak (Anderson, 1949). A related concept suggests stable hybrid zones are narrow because they tend to occur in ecotones which are themselves narrow (Moore, 1977).

The data collected in the contact zone between <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> in southern Alaska is explored in light of the above hypotheses. The "best fit" of the southern Alaskan situation may involve combinations of one or more hypotheses, particularly the last three.

3.0 DESCRIPTION OF STUDY AREAS

3.1 The General Environment

This study was conducted in southern Alaska, northwestern British Columbia, and southwestern Yukon. The principal area examined was the south coast of Alaska between Juneau and Prince William Sound (Fig. 3). Earlier research in the Glacier Bay area, 110 km NW of Juneau, Alaska, had revealed interpreeding between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls (Patten and Weisbrod, 1974). This suggested a considerably larger zone of contact than that postulated by Williamson and Peyton (1963). The narrow coastal zone between Cordova and Juneau was therefore investigated in my study to determine the degree of contact between these gulls. This coastal region, between 30 - 160 km wide and 480 km long, oriented NW to SE along the Pacific Coast, is delimited by the Chugach - St. Elias Ranges to the east, the Pacific Ocean to the west, Prince William Sound to the north, and Icy Strait to the south. The investigation included all six major gull colonies within this area. Colonies outside the coastal zone of contact, i.e., on Middleton Island offshore in the Gulf of Alaska, and in Lake Louise in southcentral Alaska, were also studied for comparative purposes (Fig. 3).

The south coast of Alaska is a wild, relatively uninhabited stretch of North Temperate shoreline. It exhibits dramatic changes in relief, with high mountain ranges to 5800 meters in proximity to marine environments. Fjords, bays, river deltas, and occasional sandy beaches are characteristic of this coastline. Basic factors affecting climate are similar at practically all points along the coastal study area (United States Department of Commerce, 1963). The climate is west coast marine, with nearby ocean areas



moderating daily and seasonal temperatures at, and near, sea level.

The area is exposed to frequent low pressure systems moving out of the Gulf of Alaska, providing abundant precipitation. The altitude of the rugged Fairweather, St. Elias, and Chugach Mountain Ranges intensifies precipitation on the coastal slopes as the prevailing westerly winds move the moisture-laden air onshore. Glacier Bay Ranger Station receives 225 cm precipitation annually (Streveler and Paige, 1971); Yakutat 338 cm (Alaska Geographic, 1975); and the Copper River Delta 250 cm (USDC, 1963). Maximum precipitation over the entire area usually occurs from August through November. Snowfall occurs principally from November through March and has an average annual depth ranging from 310 cm to 866 cm, with means at Yakutat of 370 cm and at Cordova of 317 cm (USDC, 1963). Much greater amounts of snowfall in the mountains have caused the formation of glaciers. The activity of the glaciers, in combination with major earthquakes (see below), has created a dynamically changing environment.

The northern interior region of the Pacific Northwest extends from northern British Columbia through southwestern British Columbia to southcentral Alaska. This boreal region lies to the N and NE of the coastal range of mountains, and is characterized by a continuous belt of high plateau country, dotted with occasional lakes. The climate is much drier and more severe than the coast, with extreme summer and winter temperatures. Interior lakes and rivers freeze during the winter, forcing Herring Gulls to winter at sea. Coastal waters, by comparison, are generally ice-free.

3.2 Individual Study Sites

A description of the geological and ecological conditions of the individual study sites is essential to a thorough understanding of the

effectiveness of the extrinsic barriers between <u>Larus</u> populations, the response of these populations to rapid environmental changes, and the time since contact between previously isolated forms.

3.21 North Marble Island in Glacier Bay

The entire Glacier Bay area was covered, until about 200 years ago, by a massive ice sheet that may have been more than 1300 m thick in places (Streveler and Paige, 1971). The ice has retreated rapidly since 1792, uncovering large terrestrial and marine areas. North Marble Island lies in the middle of the fjord known as Glacier Bay. North Marble Island is 110 km NW of Juneau, and supports the largest gull colony in the Bay (500 pairs) (Fig. 4). North Marble is about 600 m long and 300 m wide. and is surrounded by deep, cold, highly oxygenated waters and strong tidal currents. The island emerged from glaciation about 130 years ago (Streveler, pers. comm.), and has undergone rapid vegetative succession from exposed rock to young maritime spruce forest as have other areas along Glacier Bay (Fig. 5). However, gull nesting activities on the east, west, and north sides of the island have restricted the succession to a resistant meadow barley (Hordeum brachyantherum), which forms 70% of the ground cover on these sloping meadows. In marked contrast, other parts of the island are covered with spruce. The arrested succession suggests that pioneering gull populations colonized the island shortly after deglaciation.

3.22 Dry Bay

The gull colony (500 breeding pairs) at Dry Bay, 75 km SE of Yakutat and 150 km NW of North Marble Island, is located 4.8 km upriver from the mouth of the Alsek River on flat gravel bars in a rapidly changing, mixed alluvial-marine habitat (Figs. 6 - 7). The Alsek River rises







North Marble Island is about 600 m long and 300 m wide, and is surrounded by deep, cold, highly oxygenated waters and strong tidal currents. The island emerged from glaciation about 130 years ago and has undergone rapid vegetative succession from exposed rock to young maritime spruce forest. However, gull nesting activities on the east, west, and north sides of the island have restricted succession to a resistant meadow barley (Hordeum brachyantherum



Fig. 6. Two gull colonies in the Yakutat area are located at Dry Bay, 75 km SE of Yakutat, and at Haenke Island, 50 km NE of Yakutat.





in the Yukon, but also partially drains the Fairweather Range. It has carved one of the major breaks through the range of high mountains which separates the coastal and interior environments of the Pacific Northwest.

Dry Bay is the delta of the Alsek River. The river level at Dry Bay changes dramatically in response to rainfall and snowmelt. In some years, late summer high water stages wash completely over the gravel islands (Mork, pers. comm.). Water surrounding the gull colony is fresh, although silty, and carries ice floes from the Alsek Glacier, 28 km upstream. In Fall and Winter, powerful southeast storms cover the delta with heavy rains or snow. Winter winds with velocities greater than 160 kph drive over waves over 20 m in height onto the outer beaches at Dry Bay, occasionally inundating the delta with salt water.

Dry Bay is a geologically active, earthquake-prone area. Dry Bay apparently was not glaciated during Pleistocene times, but may have been the location of catastrophic flooding within the last 1000 years from the melting of glaciers which impounded lakes in the interior Yukon (Brogle, pers. comm.). A minor earthquake caused the mouth of the Alsek River to shift 1 km to the west in 1975 (Alaska Geographic, 1975). The gravel islands of the Alsek River Delta at Dry Bay are also subject to considerable repositioning because of frequent changes in the course of the river. Vegetation on the gravel bars is a sparse mixture of alluvial and maritime forms, dominated by red fescue (<u>Festuca rubra</u>) and river beauty (<u>Epilobium</u> <u>latifolium</u>), but includes beach rye (<u>Elymus arenarius mollis</u>).

3.23 Haenke Island

Haenke Island, located in Disenchantment Bay, 50 km NE of Yakutat, is often completely surrounded by pack ice from the nearby Hubbard Glacier

(Figs. 6, 8, 9). The glacier which once filled Yakutat Bay has shown massive expansions and contractions within the last 1000 years (Alaska Geographic, 1975). Haenke Island (1.6 x 1.0 km) has little level ground, and is covered with brushy vegetation dominated by alders (<u>Alnus crispa</u>). The north side of the island, facing the Hubbard Glacier, gradually inclines to an elevation of 75 m, and then drops precipitously, forming a south-facing cliff, where 200 pairs of <u>glaucescens</u> breed on a series of narrow terraces. Vegetation on the terraces is composed of grass (<u>Hordeum brachyantherum</u>) and fireweed (<u>Epilobium angustifolium</u>).

Haenke Island, similar to North Marble, is recently deglaciated, as indicated by the predominance of alders, but the exact date of deglaciation is not known. The gull colony at Haenke Island is the most geographically isolated of the sites examined; the St. Elias Range (to 5800 m) and the Malaspina Glacier (larger than the State of Rhode Island) prevent weather conditions of the interior Yukon from influencing the area.

3.24 Copper River Delta

The largest gull colonies in the northeast Gulf of Alaska are located on sandbar barrier islands off the Copper River Delta near Cordova, Alaska (Fig. 10). South of Cordova, the Copper River and the confluent Martin River have deposited sand and mud where they meet the sea, forming a large delta, 50 km wide. A few kilometers off the mouth of the Copper River a series of low sandbar and dune islands forms a partial barrier to ocean storms. These islands have been created by the deposition of sand and mud, and by earthquakes. They are constantly shaped and re-shaped by the counter-clockwise onshore currents of the Pacific Ocean (Fig. 10).



A DESCRIPTION OF

Haenke Island is Yakutat Bay, 50 km NE of Yakutat, Alaska. Note the proximity of four major glaciers. The advancing Hubbard Glacier threatens to close Russell Fjord and form a freshwater lake. located less than I km from the mainland.



Aerial photograph of Haenke Island. Note the ice floes and turbid outwash from the Hubbard Glacier. The gull colony at Haenke Island is located on a south-facing cliff (indicated by arrow).



Janson (1975) wrote of major earthquakes occurring in the Copper River Delta at the end of the last century. The most severe earthquake recorded on the North American continent during modern times occurred in this area of Alaska in 1964. The entire Copper River Delta, including offshore islands, was uplifted an average of two meters in a series of severe shock waves (United States Forest Service, 1975). The abrupt uplift disrupted the complex delta ecosystem and altered the balance between fresh- and saltwater. Nutrient input from saltwater to the delta appreciably diminished and several species of intertidal invertebrates and nesting ducks declined in numbers. Willows (<u>Salix</u> spp.) and alders (<u>Alnus sitchensis</u>) began to replace grass and sedge marshes in some areas of the delta. Some tidal sloughs dried out (Scheierl and Meyer, 1976).

The sandbar barrier islands at the mouth of the Copper River experienced the same sharp geological forces as the delta itself, but because of the nature of the islands and the marine bird species using them, the resulting changes were quite different. Shallow saltwater channels between islets were eliminated and new ridges of sand dunes were formed, joining islets together. The actual land area of the barrier islands increased because of the uplift. Plant succession began on newly formed dunes, with beach rye (<u>Elymus arenarius mollis</u>) forming scattered tufts on the sandy surface. Meadows encroached on dunes as succession continued.

Large colonies of gulls nest on these meadow-covered dunes. The area upon which gulls can nest is increasing, so at the moment, large areas of unoccupied meadows are capable of supporting nesting gulls (Fig. 11). The major nesting islands at the mouth of the Copper River are Egg Island, Copper Sands, and Strawberry Reef.





Egg Island (10 x 4 km) lies 20 km south of Cordova (Fig. 11). Before the 1964 earthquake, Egg Island was a series of sandbars and dunes, but since the earthquake, with a tremendous increase in surface area, these have coalesced and formed one basic island, which is undergoing colonization by the beach rye <u>Elymus</u> (Figs. 12, 13). Egg Island in 1975 -1978 consisted of a series of dunes on an east-west axis, supporting the largest gull colony in the northeast Gulf of Alaska, approximately 10,000 pairs of <u>glaucescens</u>.

Copper Sands consists of two islands: an older island (CS - S) and a new islet (CS - N). Copper Sands (S) is a bar 12 km long, and is one of a series of barrier islands at the mouth of the Copper River. It lies 5 km ESE of Egg Island and 24 km SE of Cordova (Figs. 10 - 11). It consists of a series of unstabilized dunes extending from southeast to northwest. Copper Sands has risen in elevation since the 1964 earthquake, but has much less vegetation than Egg Island. The gull colony of 800 pairs is located on three dunes covered with the beach rye (<u>Elymus</u>) at the SE tip of Copper Sands (Fig. 14).

Copper Sands (N) is a small, newly formed island less than a kilometer long. It lies 2.5 km ENE of Egg Island off the mouth of the Eyak River. It did not exist before the 1964 earthquake, but now contains several dunes with 150 pairs of <u>glaucescens</u> nesting in the <u>Elymus</u> (Fig. 11). Other small barrier islands between Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef at the east end of the delta support few nesting gulls because of the lack of suitable vegetation, a result of intense sand scouring during winter high pressure systems (Isleib and Kessel, 1973; Michelson, 1975). Gulls use these unvegetated islands (Kokinhenik, Softuk, and Grass Island Bar) as resting areas (Fig. 11).



Fig. 12. Before the 1964 earthquake, Egg Island was a series of sandbars and dunes, but since the earthquake, with a tremendous increase in surface area, these have coalesced and formed one basic island. The study area SW of the Egg Island Light is indicated by the arrow (upper right).



Egg Island is undergoing colonization by the beach rye grass <u>Elymus</u> (invading dunegrass). The study area was located SW of the Egg Island Light Tower. Fig. 13.



Fig. 14. The gull colony of 800 pairs is located on three dunes (arrows) covered with beach rye (<u>Elymus</u>) at the SE tip of Copper Sands (S).

Strawberry Reef, 8 km x 3 km, is the easternmost barrier island at the mouth of the Copper River. It lies 80 km ESE of Cordova and contains the second largest <u>glaucescens</u> colony in the delta, with 2000 gull pairs nesting in the <u>Elymus</u> (Figs. 10, 11, 15). Strawberry Reef is separated from the mainland by shallow tidal channels. The island is undergoing vegetative succession on recently uplifted areas, thus becoming more suitable to nesting gulls. Strawberry Reef, as Egg Island, consists of wide ocean beaches, unstabilized dunes, and mud flats but differs from Egg Island in that it has increasingly large thickets of spruce and alder.

3.25 Middleton Island

Middleton Island (8 km x 1.6 km) is located in the Gulf of Alaska 130 km south of Cordova (Fig. 3). It extends along a NE - SW axis and covers about 890 hectares. The shoreline is nearly surrounded. by driftwood, reefs, rocks, and heavy kelp. The bedrock is Cenozoic glacial conglomerate. The surface of the island, dotted with occasional large Pleistocene boulders known as "glacial erractics," consists of a series of step-like terraces above former sea cliffs. The terraces originated during earthquake uplifts, which caused the island to rise above sea level. The last uplift, which occurred during the 1964 earthquake, increased the island's elevation by 4.5 m. The eroding cliffs below the terraces are now bordered by sandy and marshy areas above the intertidal. The terraces merge into dunes above a sandy beach at the north end of the island. The island gradually gains elevation from north to south. At the southern end, rows of conical to ellipsoidal mounds rise to heights of 6 m above the level of the highest terrace, which is approximately 42.5 m above sea level. The climate on Middleton Island



Fig. 15. The gull colony at Strawberry Reef is located on <u>Elymus</u>covered dunes (arrows). Strawberry Reef is the easternmost barrier island at the mouth of the Copper River and is separated from the mainland by shallow tidal channels. is mild, but rainy, with prevailing southeasterly gales.

The terraces are covered with wet, grass-forb meadows, dominated by <u>Calamagrostis</u> spp., <u>Carex</u> spp., and <u>Heracleum lanatum</u>. Willows (<u>Salix</u> <u>barclay</u>) and salmonberry (<u>Rubus</u> <u>spectabulus</u>) form thickets on meadow margins and on terrace slopes.

Rausch (1958) reported Glaucous-winged Gulls as non-breeders on Middleton Island. At present, approximately 750 breeding pairs nest primarily in two types of habitat: in an <u>Elymus</u>, driftwood, and boulder mosaic below the eroding cliffs, and in the upland <u>Calamagrostris</u>covered mounds at the southern end of the island. The driftwoodboulder habitat was exposed by the 1964 earthquake. The <u>glaucescens</u> breeding population in 1978 by no means approached full use of the available nesting habitat of this island.

3.26 Lake Louise

Lake Louise, 8 km x 12 km, lies 51.2 km NW of Glenallen, in the Copper River Basin of southcentral Alaska. Lake Louise drains through Susitna Lake and the Tyone and Susitna Rivers to Cook Inlet (Figs. 16, 17).

A gull colony is situated on a steeply sloping rock known as "Bird Island," 1 km from the west shore of the lake. Bird Island (100 x 20 x 10 m; 0.36 hectare), is radically different in appearance from other spruce-covered islands in Lake Louise. Its vegetation, composed of lichens, mosses, grasses, resistant forbs, and woody vines, indicates disturbed conditions, reflecting heavy, long-term use by birds. Living plants are absent in the peat formation along the island's crest, area of heaviest bird use. At least 77 pairs of Herring Gulls (<u>Larus argentatus smithsonsonianus</u>) and 14 pairs of Double-crested Cormorants (<u>Phalacrocorax auritus</u>) nest on the island. A comparison of photographs taken in 1963 (Hayes, pers.



arrows. Fig. 16.



contains 77 pairs of Larus argentatus smithsonianus.

comm.) with those of this study, taken in 1978, show little change in the island's vegetation structure. This is in marked contrast to the rapidly changing conditions in gull colonies previously examined along the south coast of Alaska. Gulls and cormorants have inhabited Bird Island as long as local residents can remember and probably centuries longer.

3.3 Summary of Study Areas

The gull colonies with which this study is concerned are located on a series of islands in southern Alaska, extending over 4° of latitude (710 km) from Glacier Bay, northwest of Juneau, to Cordova, and thence inland to Lake Louise in southcentral Alaska. (Other small interior colonies were studied in British Columbia and the Yukon.) (Fig. 3). Aquatic environments include offshore marine, the coast, tidal bays, river deltas, fjords, and freshwater lakes. The geology of the offshore and coastal sites is rapidly changing, influenced by recent deglaciation, major earthquakes, and floods. Vegetation within the colonies, composed of tolerant, resistant invaders of the early successional stages, reflects both disturbance by gulls and rapid environmental changes. Slope and substrate of the gull colonies vary from horizontal gravel bars to nearly vertical cliff faces (Table 2).

One offshore site, Middleton Island, and four coastal colonies, Egg Island, Strawberry Reef, Copper Sands, and Haenke Island, contain only <u>glaucescens</u>. Two coastal colonies, North Marble and Dry Bay, contain sympatric and interbreeding <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>. The interior colony at Lake Louise is composed of only <u>argentatus</u>. Table 3 contains the principal periods of study for these Larus colonies.

| Table 2 | | Principa | l Study Areas | <u>Larus</u> Colonie | s in Southern Alaska | |
|---------------------|-------------|-------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|---|
| Colony | Coordi N | inates W | Species* | Aquatic Environment | Substrate/Geology/ Slope | Dominant Vegetation |
| North Marble | 58040' | 136004 | argentatus, glaucescens | tidal bay | recently deglaciated (120 yrs) sloping island | Hordeum meadows |
| Dry Bay | 180065 | 138025' | argentatus, glaucescens | river delta/ coastal marine | shifting flat gravel bars | sparse alluvial/ maritime mix |
| Haenke Island | 185065 | 139032 | glaucescens | tidal bay | recently deglaciated island cliff face | <u>Hordeum/Alnus</u> on cliff terraces |
| Strawberry Reef | £ LoO9 | 144051 | glaucescens | brackísh delta/ coastal marine | earthquake influenced low sandbar island | Elymus |
| Copper Sands | 60018 | 145031 | glaucescens | brackish delta/ coastal marine | earthquake influenced low sandbar island | Elymus |
| Egg Island | 600231 | 145046' | glaucescens | brackish delta/ coastal marine | earthquake influenced low sandbar island | Elymus |
| Middleton Island | 58024 | 146019' | glaucescens | offshore marine | earthquake influenced offshore island | <u>Calamagrostris;</u> Elymus, driftwood |
| Lake touise | 62020' | 1460321 | argentatus | freshwater lake | sloping lake islet | Calamagrostris meadows |

Principal Study Areas -- Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska

* Large white-headed Larus populations during breeding season.

| Study Area | Year | Periods of Study |
|---|------|--|
| Glacier Bay | 1971 | 17 July - 11 August |
| North Marble Island | 1972 | 15 May - 14 August |
| North Marble Island | 1973 | 27 April - 9 August |
| Outer Coast of Glacier Bay National Monument | 1974 | 23 May - 4 August |
| Haenke Island | 1974 | 14 - 15 June |
| Ory Bay | 1974 | 17 - 18 June |
| Ory Bay | 1975 | 28 June - 3 July |
| Dry Bay | 1977 | 4 May - 23 July |
| Egg Island | 1975 | 18 June – 18 August |
| Egg Island | 1976 | 20 May - 15 August |
| Strawberry Reef | 1976 | 29 - 30 June |
| Copper Sands (S) | 1976 | l July |
| Lake Louise | 1976 | 24 - 25 August |
| Lake Louise | 1977 | 9 - 10 June: 8 - 10 July 1 - 3 August |
| Lake Louise | 1978 | 1 - 3 August |
| Middleton Island | 1978 | 19 May - 7 July |
| Egg Island | 1978 | 16 July - 25 July |

.

Table 3.Principal Periods of Studyfor Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska
4.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Colony Selection

This research involved 28 months field work during eight field seasons (1971 - 1978). Following the discovery in 1971 of hybrid gulls nesting on a cliff face in a recently deglaciated fjord (Patten and Weisbrod, 1974), an extensive survey was conducted (1971 - 1978) to determine location, distribution, habitats and numbers of parental forms and hybrids in breeding populations of gulls between Juneau and Prince William Sound, Alaska (Table 4). The survey indicated three coastal sites (North Marble, Dry Bay, and Egg Island), one offshore site (Middleton Island), and one interior location (Lake Louise) were suitable for intensive study, for reasons of accessibility, recent geological history, and species composition. Each location had distinguishing characteristics and represented the major colony for a considerable geographical. area. The offshore and interior sites provided habitats preferred by what are regarded as pure types of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls, respectively. The three coastal colonies selected for intensive study presented a gradation of intermediate habitats, from a sandbar barrier island, to a recently declaciated fiord, to a river mouth connecting coastal with interior environments. Hybridization was expected in all three intermediate habitats. Additional visits were made to three other coastal locations (Copper Sands, Strawberry Reef, and Haenke Island) and two interior sites (Dezadeash Lake, Yukon Territory, and Atlin Lake, British Columbia) to gather supporting information on colony composition and nesting habitat selection. Breeding adult gulls were collected at the eight Alaskan colonies to determine the occurrence and extent of

| Total Herring Hybrida Glaucous- Middleton Island I 116 116 Haenke Island 1 116 116 winged Haenke Island 2 100 116 90 Egg Island 3 678 68 610 Copper Sands 4 200 50 150 Strawberry Reef 5 200 75 125 Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Scaler's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 | erring Hybrid ^a (10 68 50 75 | llaucous- winged 90 610 | Total | | | |
|---|--|----------------------------------|-------|---------|--------|----------------------------------|
| Middleton Island 1 116 116 Haenke Island 2 100 10 90 Egg Island 3 678 68 610 Copper Sands 4 200 75 125 Strawberry Reef 5 200 75 125 Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tilingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 | 10 58 50 75 | 116 90 610 | | Herring | Hybrid | Glaucous- winged ^b |
| Haenke Island 2 100 10 90 Egg Island 3 678 68 610 Copper Sands 4 200 50 150 Strawberry Reef 5 200 75 125 Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tilngit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 | 10 68 50 75 | 90 610 | 2J | ł | 1 | ŝ |
| Egg Island 3 678 68 610 Copper Sands 4 200 50 150 Strawberry Reef 5 200 75 125 Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 | 68 50 75 | 610 | 10 | 1 | 2 | 8 |
| Copper Sands 4 200 50 150 Strawberry Reef 5 200 75 125 Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 | 50 75 | | 56 | ; | ę | 50 |
| Strawberry Reef 5 200 75 125 Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 Lake Louise 11 154 154 | 75 | DC I | 16 | ţ | ç | = |
| Dry Bay 6 224 3 120 101 North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 Lake Louise 11 154 15 | | 125 | 25 | : | 10 | 15 |
| North Marble 7 741 20 30 691 Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 Lake Louise 11 154 15 | 3 120 | 101 | 38 | 4 | 25 | 10 |
| Tlingit Point 8 16 4 3 9 Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 Lake Louise 11 154 154 | 20 30 | 691 | 4c | - | æ | 1 |
| Sealer's Island 9 35 15 8 12 Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 Lake Louise 11 154 15 | 4 3 | 6 | ł | 1 | ł | : |
| Johns Hopkins Inlet 10 50 30 10 10 Lake Louise 11 154 154 Docedersch Lake Viikon 12 60 60 | 15 8 | 12 | ł | 1 | i t | 1 |
| Lake Louise 11 154 154 Desidents Lake Viiton 12 60 60 | 30 10 | 10 | ; | : | ; | : |
| Development of Nithan 12 60 60 | 154 | Į | 1 | Ш | 1 | : |
| NETERICENT LANCE LANCIN 15 00 00 | 09 | 1 | ł | ł | ł | 1 |
| Atlin Lake, B.C. ^d <u>13 75</u> | 75 | C T | 1 | ; | : | |
| 2649 361 374 1914 | 361 374 | 1914 | 165 | 15 | 51 | 66 |

Gull colony survey. The colony numbers correspond to the numbers on Fig. 3. Table 4.

bthus these figures are conservative. bConsiderable difficulty was encountered in defining "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> in the study area. Most individuals cshow evidence of introgression (cf. Section 4.5; Figs. 32, 37). CPermit restrictions did not allow collection of more than four gulls in Glacier Bay National Monument. This colony requires further investigation. Field observations suggested the population was phenotypically argentatus, but study skins in the British Columbia Provincial Museum (BCPM), collected at Atlin Lake in 1916, suggest glaucescens influence.

See Table 5 for further details.

۲ ۱

ņ

introgression.

4.2 Determination of Isolating Mechanisms

An investigation of pre- and post-mating isolating mechanisms required the analysis of nesting habitat selection, mating patterns, and reproductive productivity of the Glaucous-winged, Herring Gull, and intermediate forms.

4.21 Nesting Habitat Selection

Study plots representative of variations in structural features of the habitat, i.e., slope, substrate, and cover, were established in each of the eight major colonies¹ and in five minor colonies² in order to discern potential nesting habitat preferences. The density of nests and the requirement for adequate sample sizes determined the size of each study area, but where possible, the natural features of the habitat defined its borders. The study area on Egg Island (an arbitrary 150 meter square southwest of the USCG Light Tower) was an exception because of the expanse of uniform vegetation covering the island.

4.22 Mating Patterns

Mating patterns were studied for evidence of random or assortative mating. The visual assessment of the variable color characters of the iris and subterminal portions of the primaries of adult gulls in mixed colonies was accomplished by careful study with binoculars and 25 x telescope. The study included 112 nests in two study plots at Dry Bay and 452 nests in four study plots on North Marble.

¹North Marble, Dry Bay, Egg Island, Copper Sands, Strawberry Reef, Haenke Island, Middleton Island, and Lake Louise, Alaska.

²Glacier Bay, Alaska (Johns Hopkins Inlet, Sealer's Island, Tlingit Point), Atlin Lake, British Columbia, and Dezadeash Lake, Yukon.

4.23 Reproductive Productivity

A total of 933 nests in all colonies were studied for reproductive productivity of Glaucous-winged, Herring Gull, and intermediate forms. The nests under study were marked with numbered forestry stakes at the beginning of each investigation. Numbers of eggs and chicks were recorded during sequential visits to determine clutch size and hatching success. Visits through the colonies averaged every three days during the egg stage, and every four days during the chick stage. The information was recorded in the National Oceanic Data Format 035 "Flat Colony Survey" (Appendix I). Chicks were banded to establish fledging success. The presence of both parental types and many intergrades of variable phenotypes within the colony at Dry Bay required more detailed methods. Chicks of known parentage at Dry Bay were web-tagged with numbered fingerling fish tags immediately upon hatching. The same chicks were banded at three weeks of age, with 2.5 cm tall, butt-end aluminum bands placed upon the left tarsus. The reference numbers were repeated twice vertically around the band (Sladen et al., 1968). A 2.5 cm plastic band, with engraved 3-digit alphanumeric codes (A001-A000) was placed upon the right tarsus, enabling individual recognition of the chicks from distances up to 35 meters. The productivity of "pure" and mixed pairs could be verified by this procedure.

4.3 Mensural Characters

Breeding adult gulls (n = 165) were collected in Alaska to obtain morphological evidence of the occurrence and extent of gene flow between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls. The gulls were taken by shotgun after they flew up from nest sites. A vernier calipers, accurate to the nearest

Table 5

Summary of Sample Sizes

(Extension of Table 4)

| | | Pairs Studi | ed for | |
|--|--|---|-------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Adult Gulls Observed from a Distance | Breeding Adults Collected and Analyzed | Nesting Habi- ing Selection & Mating Pat- erns | Reproduc- tive Pro- ductivity | Museum Specimens Examined |
| 2649 | 165 ¹ | 718 | 933 | 506 |

¹23 additional gulls, some of which were non-breeders, were captured at the Cordova municipal dump. A comparative analysis of these gulls is provided in Appendix VI.

•

millimeter, was used to obtain standard measurements of the following characters: culmen length, bill depth at posterior nares; bill depth at posterior nares; bill length from side of the anterior nares to tip; diagonal tarsus length; chord of closed (flattened) wing. Weight was measured by a Pesola gram scale, accurate to the nearest gram. The information was recorded on a Gull Data Sheet devised for this study (Appendix II). Measurements of the same characters have been used in previous gull studies and are of comparative value (Smith, 1966b). Analysis of these characters is contained in Appendix IV. Brood patches and condition of the gonads, noted upon dissection, verified breeding status. Table 5 provides a summary of sample sizes of adult gulls analyzed, museum specimens examined, and breeding pairs studied.

4.4 Investigation of Colorimetric Characters

The investigation of colorimetric characters consisted of recording and analyzing iris, orbital ring, and primary feather pigmentation of 165 breeding adult gulls collected in southern Alaska during this study. Nine additional specimens from Lake Louise, collected by Dr. F.S.L. Williamson, were also analyzed as part of this sample.

4.41 Specification and Description

The colors of the iris, orbital ring, and wing tip influence species recognition in certain large white-headed gulls (Smith, 1966b). A rapid and precise method of identifying and recording these characters was important to the study of variation in freshly collected specimens, and in the investigation of mating patterns. The Munsell System of Color Notation (Munsell Skin, Hair, and Eye Color Charts, Matte Finish Edition) and the Munsell Neutral Value Scale (Munsell Color Co., Baltimore, MD) (Appendix III) were used to provide a basis for objective comparison.

The Munsell Charts were used in the field because gull soft part colors may fade or otherwise change rapidly after a specimen is taken (Fig. 18). The colors of the iris, orbital ring, primaries, tarsi and feet of specimens were described in writing immediately after collection, compared directly to the standard charts of the Munsell Notation, and photographed with Kodacolor II film.

4.42 Analysis

Initial observations of the range of morphological variation and pairing of large gulls in the southern Alaskan contact zone suggested occurrence of second-generation hybrids and backcrosses. An efficient comparison of the interbreeding populations required a method of portraying the variation exhibited by the parental types and intermediate forms. Anderson's (1936) original techniques for analyzing hybridization, consisting of a list of differences between the hybridizing entities, have been gradually refined to a quantitative aperoach, known as the <u>hybrid index</u> method. This method involves numerical scores for the characters which differ between the two populations (Anderson, 1949; Sibley, 1954). Three separate hybrid indices were created for the analysis of colorimetric characters in this study: the iris (IHI), the orbital ring (OHI) and the wing hybrid index (WHI) primary of feather pigmentation. Further, a composite index (CHI) was developed to provide a more complete investigation of the variation in colorimetric characters.

4.43 Iris Pigmentation

Iris color may function as an important factor in species recognition, and thus as an isolating mechanism among certain large whiteheaded gulls (Smith, 1966b). Field observations of more than 2600

4S



Fig. 18. The Munsell Charts were used in the field to provide a basis for objective comparison of soft part colors (iris and orbital ring).

individual gulls (Table 4) suggested a considerable degree of variation between dark-eyed glaucescens and light-eyed argentatus phenotypes. For this reason, the variation and distribution of iris pigmentation was analyzed by four different, although related, methods involving qualitative and statistical comparisons of both separate and combined iris parameters. First, a hybrid index (IHI) was created to determine the range of iris colors (cf. Analysis, Section 4.42). For each bird collected, the color of the iris as a whole was recorded on a scale of 1 to 6 to facilitate statistical analysis, with 1 = brown (Munsell 2.5 YR) and 6 = yellow (Munsell 5 Y). Second, the means of the iris color indices were ranked in groups by colony, according to their statistical similarity, as determined by the Duncan's Multiple Range Test (cf. Statistical Procedures, Section 4.6). Third, iris color was subdivided into the separate Munsell categories (parameters) of hue (H), value (V), and chroma (C) (Appendix III), and the frequency distributions of each category in each colony were compared qualitatively among the populations. Fourth, the numerical designations of the three iris parameters were combined to produce the complete Munsell Notation (H V/C = a color) for each individual specimen, and the resulting iris color frequencies were compared qualitatively for each population.

4.44 Orbital Ring Pigmentation

The orbital ring of a gull is that fleshy portion of the eyelid which is visible when the eye is completely open. The orbital ring forms a circle around the opened eye, and is variously colored in different species of gulls. The orbital ring, along with the iris, contrasts against the white head of the gull, and may function as an isolating mechanism among certain species (Salomansen, 1950; Macpherson, 1961; Smith, 1966b).

The variation and distribution of orbital ring pigmentation was examined to determine the possible function as a recognition character between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>. Orbital ring pigmentation was recorded on a scale of 1 to 9, with 1 = dark pink (Munsell 5 R) and 9 = yellow (Munsell 5 Y). The scale became the index upon which statistics were computed. Some gulls had uniformly pigmented orbital rings; others had orbital rings composed of two, or occasionally three hues. In such cases the means of the two or three indices were used for analysis. An analysis of variance was used to test the significance of the observed differences among colonies, and subsequently, the means of the eight populations were grouped according to their statistical similarity, as determined by the Duncan's Multiple Range Test. In addition, since statistics based upon means may obscure qualitative differences between populations, the frequency distributions of both uniformly colored and multicolored orbital rings were compared qualitatively by colony.

4.45 Primary Feather Pigmentation

Primary feather pigmentation was recorded by means of a wing hybrid index (WHI) with six categories, developed by Ingolfsson (1970), and modified for this study¹ (cf. Appendix VI). The Index, as used in this study, was based upon the pattern (extent) of melanin deposition in the subterminal portions of the outer primary feathers, and on the intensity of melanin in the same area, as rated by the Munsell Neutral Value Scale. The index included six categories of primary

Ingolfsson defined typical <u>hyperboreus</u> as '0' and typical <u>argen-</u> tatus as '5'.

feather pigmentation, ranging from typical <u>glaucescens</u>, with primaries the same shade as the mantle (rated as N6/ on the Munsell Scale; an index value of WHI - 1) to typical <u>argentatus</u>, with primaries of intensive black pigment (Munsell N2/; WHI - 6).

The six categories of the wing hybrid index were defined by the varying combinations of the intensity and pattern of melanin on the subterminal portions of the primaries. As the intensity of melanin increased, the pattern included progressively more of the subterminal portions of the outer primary feathers. (The definitions of the categories used are given in Figure 19, and typical examples of the wing patterns are shown in the Frontispiece). Since all gulls were collected during the breeding season, most individuals were molting the innermost primaries (6th and 7th) but not the outermost primaries (8th, 9th, and 10th). In any event, the outermost primaries are most useful in taxonomic discrimination. When an apparent difference occurred in melanin intensity between the old and new outer primaries, the shade of the new primary was used in assigning the index. Feather wear sometimes occurred on the extreme distal tips of the primaries. Occasionally, the wear extended to the apical white spots on the 9th and 10th primaries (known as the "mirrors")(cf. Poor, 1946). However, such feather wear did not change the pattern of melanin on the subterminal portions of the feathers. Fading, which was occasionally observed in museum specimens, slightly altered the intensity of melanin, but was not sufficient to alter the wing hybrid index (i.e., argentatus primaries of Munsell N2/ fade to Munsell N2.25/)¹ (Fig. 19).

l"Greys" fade towards "pale grey"; "blacks" fade towards "brown"
(R. Clayborne, pers. comm.).

| <u>Hybrid</u> Inc | dex | Munsell Scale | Verbal Description |
|-------------------|-----|---------------|--|
| | o | N7/ | primaries lighter than mantle (atypical Cordova <u>glaucescens</u>) |
| | 1 | N6/ | primaries same shade as mantle (<u>glaucescens</u>) |
| | 2 | N5/ | primaries l shade darker than mantle (hybrid) |
| | 3 | N4/ | primaries 2 shades darker than mantle (hybrid) |
| | 4 | N3.25/ | primaries 3 shades darker than mantle (hybrid) |
| | 5 | N2.5/ | primaries blackish (hybrid) |
| | 6 | N2/ | primaries black (<u>argentatus</u>) |

HYBRID INDEX OF PRIMARY FEATHER PIGMENTATION

MUNISELL NEUTRAL VALUE SCALE

Fig. 19. Hybrid Index of Primary Feather Pigmentation (WHI). The Hybrid Index is a quantitative approach to analyzing hybridizing entities. The Hybrid Index consists of numerical scores for the characters which differ between the two populations. This Hybrid Index is keyed to the Munsell Neutral Value Scale. Macpherson (1961) and Barth (1968) noted minor differences in the wing tip patterns of male and female <u>argentatus</u>, i.e., the restricted black pattern of the 9th primary (the "<u>thayeri</u>" pattern) occurred more often in <u>argentatus</u> females than in males. Although these slight differences in primary feather pigmentation were noted in some adult <u>argentatus</u> during this study,¹ the differences were not sufficient to alter the wing hybrid index used in this study.

4.46 Composite Hybrid Index

The scores for the primaries, irides, and orbital rings were added together to produce a "composite hybrid index" (IHI + OHI + WHI = CHI), which allowed a more thorough exploration of the relationships among the eight populations examined. The scores were arranged in such a way that resemblance to <u>argentatus</u> was always high in value, with the highest value for pure <u>argentatus</u>, and a resemblance to <u>glaucescens</u> always low in value, with the lowest value for pure <u>glaucescens</u>. The composite hybrid index obtained was, of course, an arbitrary indication of the "hybridness" (i.e., the relative number of <u>argentatus</u> or <u>glauces</u>-<u>cens</u> genes), since the categories were arbitrarily defined. The main concern in defining the categories was to arrive at recognizable objective stages on the Index which could be differentiated from other states.

4.5 Museum Skins

Museum skins (n= 506) of large white-headed gulls (<u>Larus</u>) were examined in the following museums²: American Museum of Natural History, (AMNH), New York City; British Columbia Provincial Museum (BCPM),

²Abbreviations used in the text are given in parentheses.

¹AMNH 344044 and 358144 provide examples. See Museum Skins, Section 4.5, for an explanation of these abbreviations.

Victoria; U.S. National Museum of Natural History (USNM), Washington, D. C.; Thomas Burke Memorial Washington State Museum (WSM), Seattle; and the University of Alaska Museum (UAM), Fairbanks. Standard body measurements were taken on the skins examined. Primary feather pigmentation was specified by the Munsell Neutral Value Scale and recorded by a Wing Hybrid Index (cf. Primary Feather Pigmentation, Section 4.45).

In order to delimit the natural variation of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u>, a large number of presumably pure birds were examined from areas where the two do not overlap. Descriptions in the literature were also used, especially the valuable papers by Poor (1946) and Schultz (MS) on populations of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>, respectively. In so doing, considerable difficulty was encountered in defining a "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> population, since the form hybridizes with all other large white-headed gulls which it encounters on the breeding grounds. In fact, a so-called "pure" population of <u>glaucescens</u> population on Middle-ton Island, Alaska, has been considered the typical or "pure" population, with respect to which comparisons were made.¹

4.6 Statistical Procedures

Six statistical procedures were used to test for significant differences in the gull data collected during this research. These procedures were the t-test, analysis of variance, Duncan's Multiple Range Test, contingency table analysis, Chi-square tests, and linear regression of

¹Reference specimens are:

USNM 527864, 527865, 527866, 527867 and 527868.

a dependent variable on a single independent variable.

The t-test was used for comparison of the means of two groups of data. For instance, mensural characters of "pure" types of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were compared by t-test.

If the data contained more than two groups, a further comparison was necessary, using a two-step test. The first step was an analysis of variance, which indicated whether or not there were real differences among the groups. Such real differences among the groups were demonstrated by a significant F-ratio (the statistic appropriate to the analysis of variance). For example, the means of the measurements for bill depth at posterior nares were compared by analysis of variance among male gulls from eight colonies in a search for evidence of relationships. Similarly, the means of the iris color indices (IHI) were compared among the eight colonies and among mixed and pure pairs within the colonies in search of evidence for pre-mating isolating mechanisms.

If the analysis of variance did indicate significant differences between the means of the groups, then a second step, known as the Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) was needed to complete the analysis. The DMRT is a systematic procedure for comparing group means. This test places group means into statistically similar (homogenous) subsets. A single group can be placed into two adjoining subsets, thereby demonstrating a statistical relationship to both subsets. The DMRT and the t-test are both "robust" (i.e., they assume a normal distribution of means, not samples, and therefore were relatively independent of sample size).

If the data were counts, rather than measurements, the technique

employed was the analysis of contingency tables (crosstabulation), and the tests employed were Chi-square tests. For example, three statistical tests were conducted on the mating patterns of the gulls at Dry Bay for evidence of random or assortative mating. Contingency tables were used to display the following joint frequency distributions. First, the index of primary feather pigmentation of each male was compared against that of the corresponding female in 112 pairs. Second, the iris colors of the males were crosstabulated against the iris colors of the females. Third, the indices of primary feather pigmentation and iris color were combined for each individual gull, and the sums for each male were crosstabulated against the corresponding sum for each female (pair by pair) in 112 pairs. The joint frequency distributions were then analyzed by the Chi-square statistic to test whether there was correlation within each pair. A large value of Chi-square implied a systematic correlation among the variables. Where integers of less than 5 occurred in 20% or more of the cells within the crosstabulation, adjacent cells were combined in order not to inflate the value of the Chisquare. In addition, the Chi-square test was used to compare the observed extent of disagreement in iris and primary feather pigment within each of the 112 pairs with that which would be expected by chance, if they were mating without respect to those characteristics.

The regression was used to describe the linear relationship of iris color to primary feather pigmentation since a graph (Fig. 32) suggested a straight-line relationship between these two indices.

In this study, a "p" value of (p < .05) was considered statistically significant; (p < .01) was considered highly significant, and (p < .001) was considered very highly significant.

4.7 Summary

Methods used in this study were similar, although not identical, to those used by other researchers in analyzing hybridization of birds. The hybrid index method, simple to apply, has given satisfactory results in previous cases of hybridization, and has even proven efficient for exploring complex situations (Anderson, 1949; Sibley, 1954; Ingolfsson, 1970; Strang, 1977; Hoffman <u>et al.</u>, 1978).

5.0 RESULTS

5.1 Primary Feather Pigmentation

Observations of over 2600 individual gulls in the study area indicated considerable variation in primary feather pigmentation. The range of primary feather pigmentation varied from primaries the same shade of grey as the mantle (WHI 1) to primaries of intensive black pigment (WHI 6) deposited in distinctly delimited subterminal bands. However, mean wing hybrid indices for gull populations appeared to correlate closely with geographic location. A detailed analysis of the degree of primary feather pigmentation of 165 collected gulls included an analysis of variance (Table 6), a statistical comparison (DMRT) of the means for each colony (Tables, 7, 8) (cf. Statistical Procedures, Section 4.6), and a qualitative comparison of the frequency distribution of the indices between each colony (Figs. 20, 21, 22).

Glaucous-winged Gulls from the offshore Middleton Island, apparently farthest away from potential Herring Gull influence, had the lightest wing hybrid index (WHI 1.2), with no indices greater than WHI 1.5 (Table 6). The three Copper River Delta populations, Egg Island (WHI 1.91), Copper Sands (WHI 2.03), and Strawberry Reef (WHI 2.20) displayed progressively intensifying melanin deposits in the subterminal portions of the outer primary feathers. These populations are located from NW to SE across the Copper River Delta in the order listed. Although the Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef colonies had frequency distributions of WHI's which were more like each other than they were like the colony on Egg Island, all three Copper River Delta colonies displayed a high frequency (44 - 60%) of individual gulls with primaries slightly darker than the mantle (WHI 2) (Fig. 20).

| Table 6. | Hybrid Index of Primary for <u>Larus</u> Colonie | Feather Pigmentation* (W es in Southern Alaska | (11) | |
|---|---|---|-----------------------|----------------|
| Calony | Mean | Range | Standard Deviation | Sample Size |
| Middleton Island | 1.20 | 1.0-1.5 | 0.27 | 5 |
| Egg Island | 19.1 | 0.0-4.0 | 0.69 | 56 |
| Haenke Island | 1.95 | 1.0-3.5 | 0.83 | 10 |
| Copper Sands | 2.03 | 1.0-3.0 | 0.67 | 16 |
| Strawberry Reef | 2.20 | 1.0-3,0 | 0.54 | 25 |
| Dry Bay | 3.10 | 1,0-6,0 | 1.56 | 38 |
| North Marble | 4.12 | 3.0-6.0 | 1.32 | 40 |
| Lake Louise | 5.90 | 5.0-6.0 | 0.30 | 11 |
| | Analysis | of Varlance | | |
| Source | Degrees of Ficedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | F-ratio |
| Between Groups | 1 | 188.71 | 26.96 | 29.50** |
| Within Groups | 157 | 143.49 | 16.0 | |
| Total | 164 | 332.20 | | |
| * Hing Hybrid Index c ** very highly significa | if 1 = "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> ; a W .nt (p < .001). | Hl of 6 = "pure" <u>argenta</u> t | <u>us</u> (Fig. 37). | |

60

[©]additional specianens (USNM 16095 and 16097) collected in June, 1899, at Point Gustavus in Glacier Bay, approximately 40 km south of Horth Harble, have UNE of 3.0 and 2.0, respectively.

| Table 7. Ranked Means for for <u>Larus</u> Color | ans for the Wing Hybrid Inde. | * * | |
|--|---|---|-------------------------------------|
| (Duncan's Multiple Homogenous subsets (subsets of groups, whose higher significant range for a subset of that size). The | <pre>iltiple Range Test: p < .05 highest and lowest means do There is no significant d</pre> | level) not differ by more the ifference between the | han the shortest means of groups |
| Subset 1 (subterminal primaries same shade is mant) Group Middleton Island Egg Island Mean 1.20 | s mantle to l shade darker) Haenke Island 1.95 | Copper Sands (S) 2.03 | Strawberry Reef 2.20 |
| Subset 2 (primaries 2 shades darker than mantle; e) Group Dry Bay Mean 3.1D | tle; extensive melanin) | | |
| Subset 3 (primaries 3 shades darker than mantle; e> Group North Marble Mean 4.12 | tle; extensive melanin) | • | |
| Subset 4 (primaries black; distinctly delimited and Group Lake Louise Mean 5,90 | ted and extensive black patt | ern) | |
| *A Wing Hybrid Index of l = "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> ; | <u>scens</u> ; a WHI of 6 = "pure" <u>a</u> | rgentatus (Fig. 37). | |

| Table 8. | Ranked Means for <u>Larus</u> Col (Duncan's Multipl | for Wing Hybrid Ind onies in Southern A e Range Test: p < | ices* laska .01 level) |
|---|---|---|--|
| Homogenous subsets (su est significant range groups underlined with | absets of groups, whose high for a subset of that size) a single dotted line. | est and lowest mean. There is no signi | s do not differ by more than the short ficant difference between the means of |
| Subset 1 (subterminal | primaries same shade as mar | tle to 1 shade dark | er) |
| Group Middl Mean | leton Island Egg Island 1.20 1.91 | Haenke Island 1.95 | Copper Sands (S) Strawberry Reef 2.03 2.20 |
| Subset 2 (primaries 2 | - 3 shades darker than mant | ie; extensive melan | in) |
| Group Mean | Jry Bay North Marble 3.10 4.12 | | |
| Subset 3 (primaries 3 | shades darker than mantle t | o black; extensive a | and distinctly delimited pattern) |
| Group Mean | -th Marble Lake Louise 4.12 5.90 | | |
| | | | |

*A Wing Hybrid Index of 1 = "pure" glaucescens; a HHI of 6 = "pure" argentatus (Fig. 37).





WING HYBRID INDEX







The Haenke [sland and Egg Island populations had similar means of primary feather pigmentation (WHI 1.95 - 1.91) but the frequency distributions for these colonies were quite different. Haenke Island birds exhibited equal percentages (40%) of WHI 1 and 2, while the Egg Island colony had fewer birds with WHI 1 (23%) and a much greater concentration of WHI 2 (64%) (Figs. 20,21).

The Dry Bay colony at the mouth of the Alsek River exhibited the complete range of primary feather pigmentation (WHI 1 to 6) (Table 6). The mean wing index (WHI 3.1) was almost exactly midway between <u>glauces</u>-<u>cens</u> and <u>argentatus</u>; although the distribution of the indices was weighted towards <u>glaucescens</u>, 72% of the colony was composed of intergrades (WHI 2 - 5). The indices of WHI 1, 2, and 3 occurred in equal proportions (20%), but the indices of WHI 4, 5, and 6 were represented in decreasing proportions (Fig. 22). However, the Dry Bay population had the greatest concentration of WHI 6 (8%) of any coastal group.

The mean wing index for the colony at Lake Louise was WHI 5.9, representative of an <u>argentatus</u> population, and the frequency distribution (91% WHI 6) clustered about the mean (Fig. 22).

The F-ratio for the observed distribution of primary feather pigmentation for all colonies was very highly significant (F = 29.5, 164 d.f., p < .001), indicating real differences among group means (Table 6). Duncan's Multiple Range Test grouped colonies in subsets according to their statistical similarity in mean wing hybrid index (Tables 7 & 8). Middleton Island, Egg Island, Haenke Island, Copper Sands, and Strawberry Reef were included in a homogenous subset (at the 5% level of significance) most resembling glaucescens, although exhibiting progressively intensifying melanin in the mean indices of subterminal primary feather pigmentation, in the order listed (Table 7, Subset 1). The mean indices for Dry Bay (WHI 3.1), North Marble (WHI 4.12), and the Lake Louise population (WHI 5.9) were significantly different from each other and from the <u>glaucescens</u> subset (at the 5% level), but also displayed progressively intensifying melanin in the subterminal portions of the outer primary feathers in the order listed. Thus there is a progression of increasing <u>argentatus</u> influence in primary feather pigmentation (a cline) from the offshore Middleton Island <u>glaucescens</u> (WHI 1.2) to the interior Lake Louise <u>argentatus</u> (WHI 5.9) through gradually darkening coastal groups (WHI 1.91 to 2.20) and hybrid colonies (WHI 3.1 to 4.12) in fjords and river mouths (Table 8, Subset 2; Figure 36, p. 99).

5.2 Iris Pigmentation

The range of iris coloration included very dark brown (IHI 4), dark brown (IHI 5), brown (IHI 6), light brown (IHI 7), light yellow (IHI 8), and yellow (IHI 9) (Table 9). A clinal change in mean iris color, from brown to yellow, was revealed in the series of colonies studied. As with primary feather pigmentation, the degree of iris color was related to geographic location, although the clines of iris color and primary feather pigmentation were at least partially independent of each other (Fig. 36, p. 99).

The Haenke Island population had the darkest index of iris pigmentation (IHI 6.3) and the least range (IHI 6 - 7) of groups examined (Table 9). The Middleton Island population had the next darkest index (IHI 6.6), but a slightly larger range (IHI 6 - 8). The Egg Island population mean for iris color was slightly higher (IHI 6.86), but the range (IHI 4 - 8) was

| Colony | Mean | Calar | Range | Standard Dev lat ion | Sample Size |
|------------------|------------|--------------|-------------|-------------------------|----------------|
| Haenke Island | 6.30 | brown | 6 - 7 | 0.48 | 10 |
| Middleton Island | 6.60 | light brown | 6 - 8 | 0.89 | ŝ |
| Egg Island | 6.86 | light brown | 4 - 8 | 0.98 | 56 |
| Strawberry Reef | 7.08 | light brown | 6 - 8 | 0.95 | 25 |
| Copper Sands | 7.12 | light brown | 6 - 8 | 0.96 | 16 |
| North Marble | 7.25 | light brown | 6 - 9 | 1.50 | 4 |
| Dry Bay | 7.79 | light yellow | 6 - 9 | 0.81 | 38 |
| Lake Louise | 00.6 | yellow | 6 - 6 | 0.00 | 1 |
| | | Analysis | of Variance | | |
| Source | Degrees of | Sum of | Mean | F-ratio | |
| | Freedom | Squares | oquares | | |
| Between Groups | 7 | 65.49 | 9.36 | * 77 * | |
| Within Groups | 157 | 124,81 | 0.79 | | |
| Total | 164 | 190,30 | | | |

Hybrid Index for Iris Color (IHI)** for Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska

Table 9.

the largest, possibly reflecting the fact that this was the largest colony examined. Copper Sands and the nearby Strawberry Reef colonies shared similar indices of iris pigmentation (IHI 7.08 - 7.12) and similar ranges (IHI 6 - 8). While the mean index for the North Marble Island population was light brown (IHI 7.25), the range expanded to include yellow irides (IHI 6 - 9). The mean index for Dry Bay was IHI 7.79 (light yellow), and the range (IHI 6 - 9) also included brown to yellow irides. The Lake Louise population had the lightest index of iris color (IHI 9 yellow) (Table 9), although individuals varied in the amount of melanin flecks on the iris.

The F-ratio for the observed distribution of iris colors for all colonies was highly significant (F = 11.77, 164 d.f., p < .001), indicating real differences among group means (Table 9). However, <u>glaucescens</u> populations were connected to an <u>argentatus</u> population by an uninterrupted continuum of the categories of iris color (Table 11). Only the extremes could be distinguished statistically in the DMRT. The mean of the coastal Haenke Island colony (IHI 6.3 - brown irides) was connected to the mean of the interior Lake Louise colony (IHI 9 - yellow irides) by a "bridge" of intermediate colonies in fjords and at river mouths, i.e., North Marble (IHI 7.25 - light brown) and Dry Bay (IHI 7.79 - light yellow) (Table 10, Subset 2).

5.3 Parameters of Iris Color

Hue, Value, and Chroma are the parameters which define a color in the Munsell System (Appendix III).

5.31 Hue

The hue (H) notation of a color indicates its relationship to a visually equally-spaced scale of 100 hues. The hue notation in this

| Group Lake Louise Mean 9.00 |
|--------------------------------|
| |

| Table | 11. Ranke | d Means for Iris Co (Duncan's M | olor (IHI) for <u>Le</u> Ultiple Range Te | <u>urus</u> Colonies in S st: p < .01 leve | outhern Alaska* 1) | |
|----------------------------|---|--|--|--|---|---|
| Homoge est si groups | nous subsets (subs gnificant range fo underlined with a | ets of groups, who r a subset of that single dotted line | e highest and lo size). There is | west means do not . no significant d | differ by more tl ifference between | han the short- the means of |
| Subset | l (brown - light | brown) | | | | |
| Group Mean | Haenke Island [*] * 6.30 | Middleton Island 6.60 | Egg Island 6.86 | Strawberry Reef 7.08 | Copper Sands 7.12 | North Marble 7.25 |
| Subset | 2 (light brown - ⁷ | light yellow) | | | • # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # | 0 6 5 6 6 6 6 6 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 |
| Group Mean | Middleton Island 6.60 | Egg Island 6.86 | Strawberry Reef 7.08 | Copper Sands 7.12 | North Marble 7.25 | Dry Bay 7.79 |
| Subset | 3 (bright yellow) | 6 6 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | | 0 0 7 7 8 6 6 6 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | | t ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; |
| Group Mean | Lake Louise** 9.00 | | | | | |
| 8 9 8 8 8 | e e s s a a a t à s a t a s | | | | | |
| A. | n Iris Hybrid Inde | (IHI) of 6 = "pur | e" glaucescens; | an IHI of 9 = "pu | re" <u>argentatus</u> (F | ig. 37). |
| ** | nlv the extremes Ca | an he distinguished | statistically. | hv lack of member | shin in a common. | cutset A |

¢ \$ unity une extremes can be distinguished statistically, by lack of statistical continuum is formed if the extremes are excluded.

study is based upon three major hues: Red (R), Yellow-Red (YR), and Yellow (Y), since these cover the range of pigmentation in orbital rings and irides. The range of iris hues included 7.5 YR (brown) (<u>glaucescens</u>), 10 YR (light brown), 2.5 Y (light yellow) and 5 Y (yellow) (argentatus).

The frequency distributions of iris hues were analyzed qualitatively (Fig. 23). Haenke Island had the highest frequency (70%) of brown (7.5 YR) hues. Middleton Island resembled Haenke Island, with a 60% frequency of brown (7.5 YR), but differed by presence of 20% 2.5 YR, light yellow. The Copper River Delta colonies of Egg Island, Copper Sands, and Strawberry Reef shared strikingly similar distributions of brown (7.5 YR), light brown (10 YR) and light yellow (2.5 Y). Both Dry Bay and North Marble populations exhibited strong yellow hues (5 Y). North Marble, compared to Dry Bay, had a higher percentage of brown (7.5 YR) hues. At Dry Bay, the distribution was concentrated around light yellow (2.5 Y). The Lake Louise population had the highest (100%) frequency of yellow hues (5 Y).

5.32 Value

The value (V) is defined as the notation of a color indicating the degree of lightness or darkness in relation to a neutral grey scale. The range of iris values of gulls examined extended from V 3, with abundant melanin obscuring the difference between the pupil and the iris, to V 8, with the pupil clearly visible, with only occasional flecks of dark pigment. Thus dark-eyed gull phenotypes (glaucescens) were represented by V 3, V 4, and V 5, and light-eyed phenotypes (argentatus) by V 7 and V 8.

Haenke Island gulls, with an 80% concentration of V 4, most resembled a "pure" glaucescens population in iris values (Fig. 24). The





Middleton Island population displayed lighter values, with 40% concentrations at both V 5 and V 8. The remaining coastal populations exhibited frequencies dominated by V 4 and V 5, indicative of <u>glaucescens</u>. The Copper River Delta populations at Egg Island and Copper Sands, as expected, shared similar distributions of iris values. However, on Strawberry Reef, the island at the east end of the Delta, the population was transitional in iris values between the coastal <u>glaucescens</u> colonies and the hybrid colony at Dry Bay. Dry Bay gulls had the broadest and most even distribution of iris values, reflecting the hybrid nature of the population. The North Marble population had a similar even distribution of iris values, although lacking the intermediate value of V 6. The Lake Louise <u>argentatus</u> population, with 91% V 8, was virtually opposite of the distribution of the Haenke Island population at the <u>glaucescens</u> end of the spectrum (80% V 4) (Fig. 24).

5.33 Chroma

Chroma (C) is defined as the degree of departure of a given Munsell hue from a neutral grey of the same value. Chroma scales depend upon the strength (saturation) of the sample evaluated. Iris chroma in gulls in this study did not correlate with other iris parameters. All breeding populations exhibited a concentration on the chroma scale at C 4 (Fig. 25). The range of iris chroma extended from C 2 to C 8, although C 5 and C 7 were absent from all populations, and C 8 occurred at North Marble, only¹.

¹The single non-breeding population studied, that at Cordova (Appendix VI) differed considerably in distribution of iris chroma from that of the breeding populations.



5.34 Combined Iris Parameters (Hue, Value, and Chroma)

Iris color frequencies within individual gull colonies were quite variable, but qualitative comparisons among colonies of the frequencies of the complete Munsell notation revealed degrees of relationship not readily apparent in the comparisons of the individual parameters of iris color.

Haenke Island birds had the greatest concentration of 7.5 YR 4/4 (brown) irides, representing the "purest" population of <u>glaucescens</u> studied, as far as iris pigmentation was concerned (Fig. 26) (cf. Primary Feather Pigmentation, Section 5.2). At the opposite end of the spectrum, the Lake Louise population had the greatest concentration of 5 Y 8/4 (yellow) irides, representing an <u>argentatus</u> population (Fig. 26).

The colonies at Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef of the Copper River Delta had the most similar distributions of the combined iris parameters, concentrated bimodally at 7.5 YR 4/4 (brown) and at 2.5 Y 5/4 - 5/4 (light yellow) (Fig. 27). Most gulls on Egg Island had iris colors of either 7.5 YR 4/4 (brown) or 2.5 Y 5/4 (light yellow), but the range of the combined iris parameters included 2.5 YR 3/4 (dark brown) to 2.5 Y 7/6 (very light yellow) (Fig. 28). Thus, all three Copper River Delta populations were closely related in parameters of iris color, but the Egg Island population was not as closely related to those on Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef as they were to each other. (The Complete Munsell Notation for iris color in the Copper River Delta colonies thus ranged from dark brown to light yellow: Fig. 29). This finding correlates well with that of the primary feather pigmentation (WHI), orbital ring pigmentation (OHI), and the measurement of bill depth at posterior nares (Appendix VI).






Fig. 27. The gull populations breeding at Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef (Copper River Delta) had similar distributions of iris colors, concentrated at brown and light yellow hues. (7.5 YR = brown hues; 10 YR = light brown hues; 2.5 Y = light yellow hues).



Copper River Delta, Alaska. The distribution of iris colors was concentrated in the 7.5 YR hues (brown) and the 2.5 Y (light yellow) hues, but also in-cluded 2.5 YR (very dark brown) and 10 YR (light brown) hues. Frequency distribution of iris colors in Larus gulls breeding at Egg Island, Fig. 28.



Fig. 29. Iris colors in Copper River Delta <u>Larus</u> colonies ranged from dark brown to light yellow.

North Marble gulls had brown (7,5 YR 4/4 - 4/5), light yellow (2.5 Y 7/4), and yellow (5 Y 8/8) irides; Middleton Island gulls had brown (7.5 YR 5/4 - 8/2), light brown (10 YR 5/4) and light yellow (2.5 Y 7/4) irides (Fig. 30).

Dry Bay was distinguished by having the greatest variety of iris colors in any single breeding population studied. The frequency distribution ranged from dark brown to yellow, including twenty intermediate colors (Fig. 31).

5.4 Relationship of Iris Color to Primary Feather Pigmentation

Field observations indicated the possibility of a relationship between primary feather pigmentation and iris color. For example, lighteyed gulls had dark primaries, dark-eyed gulls had light primaries, and gulls with intermediate shades of melanin in their primaries had irides of intermediate shades. However, exceptions were common. (Note that the parental types have contrasting iris colors and primaries).

The iris hue of 188 gulls (both collected and captured) were crosstabulated against categories of the wing hybrid index (cf. Statistical Procedures, Section 4.6). The relationship was shown to be significant by the Chi-square test, which produced a Chi-square of 27.46, with 16 d.f. (p < .03). This relationship can be described by the regression line:

y = .5x + 0.13

where y is the hybrid index of primary feather pigmentation, and

x is the iris hue (Fig. 32).

This regression line describes the actual data; a theoretical line (dotted) connects points for the two "pure" types (Fig. 32). These lines indicate that as the iris color (hue) becomes lighter, there is a statistically significant tendency for the primaries to become darker.



Fig. 30. Frequency distributions of iris colors for <u>Larus</u> gulls breeding at North Marble and Middleton Island, Alaska. (7.5 YR = brown hues; 10 YR = light brown hues; 2.5 Y = light yellow hues; 5 Y = yellow hues). North Marble gulls had brown, light yellow, and yellow irides; Middleton Island gulls had brown, light brown, and light yellow irides.







Fig. 32. Iris hues of <u>Larus</u> gulls in southern Alaska plotted against categories of the Wing Hybrid Index of primary feather pigmentation. The solid regression line described the actual data; the dashed theoretical line connects points for the two "pure" types. These lines indicate that as the iris color becomes lighter, there is a statistically significant tendency for the primaries to become darker. However, exceptions were common.

This relationship establishes that the variation and distribution of iris color were correlated with primary feather pigmentation. However, it is not clear whether they functioned independently of, or in conjunction with, each other in species recognition between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>, since the two forms were linked by a complete range of intergrades (cf. Analysis of Mating Patterns, Section 5.9).

5.5 Orbital Ring Pigmentation

The "pure types" of <u>Larus argentatus</u> in southern Alaska have uniformly pigmented orbital rings of Munsell hue 5 Y (yellow). Contrastingly, "pure types" of <u>Larus glaucescens</u> have dark pink or vinaceous orbital rings of hue 5 R. However, seven discernible hues were observed between the two extremes, with more than one hue frequently occurring in the same orbital ring. The hybrid index of orbital ring pigmentation (OHI) demonstrated variation among colonies, and qualitative frequencies of orbital ring color demonstrated variation within colonies, but as a general trend, the means of the extreme indices of dark pink and bright yellow could be arranged into a gradation of increasing amounts of yellow pigment (Tables 12, 13, Fig. 36, p. 99).

The Haenke Island population had a mean orbital ring of dark pink (5 R; OHI 1.30); the Middleton Island population had a mean orbital ring color of pink (7.5 R; OHI 2.4); the North Marble Island population had a mean orbital ring color of light pink (10 R; OHI 2.75) (Table 12). Egg Island, Copper Sands, and the Dry Bay populations had similar means of orbital ring indices (OHI 3.66, 4.00, 4.36) of yellowish pink (2.5 YR). The Strawberry Reef population had slightly more yellow present in the mean orbital ring index (OHI 4.60) than did the other Copper River Delta populations or the Dry Bay population (above), with the mean representing

| Colany | Mean | Munsel] Hue | Color | Sample Size |
|---|---|-------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| Haenke Island | 1.30 | 5 R | dark pink | 10 |
| Middleton Island | 2.40 | 7,5 R | pink | <u>م</u> |
| North Marble | 2.75 | 10 R | iight pink | 4 |
| Egg Island | 3.66 | 2.5 YR | yellowish pink | 56 |
| Copper Sands | 4.00 | 2.5 YR | yellowish pink | 16 |
| Ory Bay | 4.36 | 2.5 YR | yellowish pink | 38 |
| Strawberry Reef | 4.60 | 5 Y.R | pinkish yellow | 25 |
| Lake Louise | 8.90 | 5 Υ | yellow | 1 |
| | Analysis | of Variance | | |
| Contraction of the second s | Degrees of | Sum of | Mean | |
| source | Freedom | Squares | Squares | F-Facio |
| Between Groups | 7 | 376,89 | 53.84 | 7.43* |
| Within Groups | 157 | 1137.01 | 7.24 | |
| Total | 164 | 1513.90 | | |
| *Very highly significant **A "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> has (540 37) | <pre>(p < .001). an orbital ring index</pre> | t (OHI) of 1 - 2; | a "pure" argentatus f | has an OHI of 8 - 9 |
| | | | | |

Hybrid Index of Orbital Ring Pigmentation (OHI)** for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (H 1 + Hue 2 + Hue 3)

Table 12 .

87

.

| Table 13 | . Ranked Means for (Duncan's Multipl | Orbital Indices (OHI e Range Test: p < . | [) for <u>Larus</u> Cold .05 level).** | nies in Souther | 'n Alaska* | |
|-----------------------------------|--|--|---|--|--|---|
| Homogeno est sign groups ur | us subsets (subsets a lificant range for a liderlined with a sin | of groups, whose hig subset of that size) gle dotted line. | ghest and lowest). There is no s | means do not di Ignificant diff | ffer by mo erence bet | re than the short- ween the means of |
| Subset 1 | (dark pink - light | pink) | | | | |
| Group Mean | Haenke Island | Middleton Island 2,40 | North Marble 2,75 | | | |
| Subset 2 | (light pink - yello | wish pink) | | | | |
| Group Mean | Middleton Island 2.40 | North Marble 2.75 | Egg Island 3.66 | Copper Sands 4.00 | Dry Bay 4.36 | Strawberry Reef 4.60 |
| Subset 3 | (yellow) | | + 4 4 5 5 6 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | 9 2 5 6 4 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | - 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 | 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 |
| Group Mean | Lake Louise ^{***} 8.90 | | | | | |
| | | | | | | |
| 4 8 4 9 | re" <u>glaucescens</u> has (Fig. <u>37)</u> . | an orbital ring ind | tex (OHI) of 1 - | 2; a "pure" arg | entatus ha | s an OHI of |
| **The c follo | wing: at the p < .(| his test between the Ol level, the Lake L | <pre>2 p < .05 and the ouise group join</pre> | <pre>p < .0] levels s Subset 2.</pre> | of signif | icance is the |
| ***As1de | e from these extreme: | s, a statistical con | itinuum is formed | | | |

hue 5 YR, pinkish yellow. The Lake Louise population had a mean orbital ring index (OHI 8.9) representing hue 5 Y (yellow).

The Munsell hues of 7.5 YR, 10 YR and 2.5 Y (light yellowish pink, pinkish yellow, and light yellow) were not represented in orbital rings as population means, but occurred in composite orbital rings (cf. Combination Hues, Section 5.52).

A highly significant F-ratio (F = 7.43, 164 d.f., p < .001) was produced by the analysis of variance of the hybrid indices of orbital ring pigmentation (Table 12), indicating real differences among group means. The means of orbital ring indices for each colony, together representing a spectrum of colors from dark pink to yellow, were arranged into three statistically similar subsets by the Duncan's Multiple Range Test (cf. Statistical Procedures, Section 4.6). At the 5% level of significance, Subset 1 contained three colonies, Haenke Island (OHI 1.30). Middleton Island (OHI 2.40), and North Marble (OHI 2.75), with OHI means of dark pink to light pink (Table 13). The six colonies in Subset 2, Middleton Island (OHI 2.40), North Marble (OHI 2.75), Egg Island (OHI 3.66), Copper Sands (OHI 4.0), Dry Bay (OHI 4.36) and Strawberry Reef (OHI 4.6) displayed a gradation of orbital ring indices from pink to light yellowish pink. The only colony in Subset 3 was Lake Louise (OHI 8.9; yellow). Statistically, aside from the Haenke Island population (OHI 1.30) and the Lake Louise colony (OHI 8.9) at the extremes, the other colonies occurred in common subsets, and demonstrated a continuum of orbital ring pigmentation (Table 13). Note the sharp step-cline between Strawberry Reef (OHI 4.6) and Lake Louise (OHI 8.9), which was associated with a major mountain barrier, the Chugach Mountain Range (Table 13, Fig. 36).

If orbital ring pigmentation were to function as a species-specific recognition character in this zone of overlap, then variation would be limited. However, the orbital ring proved to be the most variable character examined.

5.51 Solo Hues.

If the orbital rings were uniformly pigmented, they were designated as "solo hues." Haenke Island and Lake Louise populations represented the opposite extremes of dark pink and yellow uniformly pigmented ("solo hued") orbital rings (Figs. 33, 34). Gulls with uniformly pigmented orbital rings were also recorded in the North Marble, Egg Island, and Dry Bay populations. Dark pink (5 R), and 2.5 YR (yellowish pink) were the most commonly represented solo hues (Figs. 33-35) in all colonies except Lake Louise, which contained over 90% uniformly yellow orbital rings. Notable is the range of uniformly colored orbital rings at Dry Bay (dark pink - light pinkish yellow) where gulls with black primaries had solo orbital ring hues of yellowish-pink (2.5 YR), pinkish yellow (5 YR) and light pinkish yellow (10 YR).

5.52 <u>Combination Hues</u>. Some gulls had orbital rings composed of two or three hues. These orbital rings were labeled "combination hues." Orbital rings with a combination of two hues may have similar base hues (5 R - 5 R), but each has its own value and chroma, producing a different color. For example, a pink eye-ring with areas of more intense reddish pigmentation occurs in 20 - 25% of the individuals in the Dry Bay and Egg Island populations (Figs. 34, 35).

Combinations of two hues exclusively were found in the orbital rings of the Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef populations, further demonstrating the close similarity of the adjoining populations (Fig. 35).



Fig. 33. Frequency distributions of orbital ring pigmentation in Larus populations at Lake Louise, and Middleton Island, Alaska. The Lake Louise population had orbital ring hues concentrated at 2.5 Y (light yellow) and 5 Y (yellow); the Middleton Island population had orbital ring pigmentation concentrated at 5 R (dark pink) and 2.5 YR (yellowish pink), but combination hues were also present.





Copper Sands both exhibited 100% combination hues (pink and yellow in similar patterns of deposi-tion). The Egg Island population exhibited solo hues (concentrated at 5 R, dark pink) and combination hues, including some individuals with a combination of three hues in the orbital ring. Frequency distributions of orbital ring pigmentation in Larus populations breeding at Strawberry Reef, Copper Sands, and Egg Island, Copper River Delta, Alaska. Strawberry Reef and F1g. 35.

A typical pattern in these two populations was an orbital ring with a pinkish hue on the upper rear portion of the eyelid, and a yellowish hue on the lower front portion. Combinations occurring within these two populations were pink with yellowish pink (5 R - 2.5 YR) or pink with light yellowish pink (5 R - 7.5 YR).

Individual guils on Egg Island and Dry Bay had orbital rings with a combination of three hues. For example, an orbital ring of a pink base color, but with darker pink areas on the upper rear, and yellowish pink on the lower front portion (5 R - 5 R - 2.5 YR), was recorded on Egg Island (Fig. 35). At Dry Bay, an orbital ring with light pink, dark pink, and yellowish pink hues (10 R - 5 R - 2.5 YR) was observed (Fig. 34). Egg Island had the greatest distribution of combination hues, including pink with darker pink areas (5 R - 5 R) and pinkish yellow with yellow (5 YR - 5 Y) (Fig. 35).

The distribution of combination hues at Dry Bay included orbital rings of pinkish yellow with pink (5 YR - 5 R) to orbital rings of a pink base color, with areas of light pinkish yellow (5 R - 7.5 YR). Dry Bay was also distinguished by having the greatest distribution of solo hues, in addition to the most uniformly distributed pattern of combination hues (Fig. 34).

In summary, the possibility that orbital ring pigmentation functions at present as an independent species-specific recognition character between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> is considered remote because of the wide spectrum of variation. However, the degree of variation may function as a character for individual or population recognition.

5.6 Composite Hybrid Index

Primary feather pigmentation, iris color, and orbital ring pigmentation, which were analyzed separately to discern relationships between gull populations in southern Alaska, were also unified in a composite hybrid index for a more complete exploration of these relationships (Table 14).

A highly significant F-ratio (F = 61.01, 163 d.f., p < .001) was produced by the analysis of variance of the composite hybrid indices (Table 14). The offshore Middleton Island population, with the lowest composite index, represented a "pure" glaucescens colony. The interior Lake Louise population, with the highest composite index, was representative of argentatus (Table 14). Between these extremes were three statistically homogenous subsets in the Duncan's Multiple Range Test at both the 5% and 1% levels of significance (Tables 15, 16). Subset 1 contained phenotypic glaucescens populations (Middleton Island, Haenke Island, Egg Island, Copper Sands, and Strawberry Reef). Subset 2 contained hybrid colonies in bays and fjords (Dry Bay and North Marble) and Subset 3 contained only the Lake Louise argentatus population. The coastal glaucescens populations displayed gradually increasing indices, representing darkening of primary feather pigmentation, and increasing yellow pigments in orbital rings and irides (Fig. 36). Strawberry Reef was included in both Subset 1 (glaucescens) and Subset 2 (hybrids) in the DMRT (p < .01); the positions of all other populations remained unchanged. Thus the colony at Strawberry Reef displayed a statistical relationship to both coastal glaucescens and hybrid colonies from the results of these criteria. The hybrid colonies were in turn statistically intermediate between argentatus and glaucescens.

| Colony | Mean | Range | Standard Deviation | Sample Size |
|---|-----------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|
| Middleton Island | 9.40 | 8.00 - 12.00 | 1.29 | 5 |
| Haenke Island | 9.55 | 8.00 - 12.00 | 1.21 | 10 |
| Egg Island | 10.39 | 8.00 - 16.00 | 1.76 | 56 |
| Copper Sands | 10.40 | 9,50 - 13,50 | 1.26 | 16 |
| Strawberry Reef | 11.40 | 9.50 - 17.00 | 2.33 | 25 |
| Dry Bay | 13.54 | 9.00 - 23.00 | 2.62 | 37 |
| North Marble | 14.12 | 10,00 - 23,00 | 6.00 | 4 |
| Lake Louise | 23.82 | 23.00 - 24.00 | 0.40 | n |
| | Anal | ysis of Variance | | |
| Source | Degrees of Freedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squàres | F-ratio |
| Between groups | 7 | 1925.73 | 275.10 | 61.01 ^{**} |
| Within groups | 156 | 703.40 | 4.51 | |
| Total | 163 | 2629.14 | | |
| *A "pure" glaucescens has a 23.00 - 24.00 (Fiq. 37). | a Composite Hybrid | Index of 8.00 - 9.00; a " | pure" <u>argentatus</u> ha | s a CHI of |

Composite Hybrid Index (CHI)* for <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska

Table 14.

•

96

**Very highly significant (p < .001).</pre>

| Table 15. Homogenous shortest s means of g Subset 1 (Group Mean | Ranked Means for the Compo (Iris + (Dunc (Dunc subsets (subsets of groups ignificant range for a subs proups underlined with a sin most like <u>glaucescens</u>) Middleton Island 9.40 | isite Hybrid Index Orbital Ring + Pr an's Multiple Ran , whose highest ar et of that size. igle dotted line. Haenke Island 9.55 | (CH1) for <u>Larus</u> imary Pigmentati ge Test: p < .(nd lowest means There is no sig Egg Island 10.39 | Colontes* in Sc ion Indices) 5 level) do not differ by nificant differ 01ficant Sands Copper Sands | uthern Alaska more than the ence between the Strawberry Reef** 11.40 |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Subset 2 (Group Mean | hybrid colonies with indivi Dry Bay 13.54 | dual <u>argentatus</u> pi North Marble 14.12 | resent) | | 4 3 3 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 |
| Subset 3 (Group Mean | interior <u>argentatus</u>) Lake Louise 23.82 | 5 5 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 | | | |
| * A "F | oure" <u>glaucescens</u> has a Comp the position of Strawberry Table 16. | osite Hybrid Inde / Reef, here assig | x of 8 - 9; a "f ned to a subset | oure" <u>argentatus</u> most resembling | has a CHI of 23 - 24. glaucescens; compare |

-

| Table 16. | Ranked Heans for the Southern Alaska (Iris - (Duncar | Composite Hyb + Orbital Ring 's Multiple R | rid Index (CHI) f + Primary Feathe ange Test: n < .(| or <u>Larus</u> Coloni er Pigmentation Di level) | es ^t in Indices) |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| Homogenous subset est significant r groups underlined | <pre>\$ (subsets of groups, wild ange for a subset of that with a single dotted]</pre> | nose highest a it size). The ine. | nd lowest means d re is no signific | lo not difference ant difference | more than the short- between the means of |
| Subset l (most li Group Mean | ke <u>glaucescens</u>) Middleton Island 9,40 | laenke Island 9.55 | Egg Island 10.39 | Copper Sands 10.41 | Strawberry Reef ^{**} 11.40 |
| Subset 2 (hybrid Group Mean | colonies with and withou Strawberry Reef ^{**}]].40 | it individual Dry Bay 13.54 | argentatus presen North Marble 14.12 | lt) | |
| Subset 3 (interio Group Mean | r <u>argentatus</u>) Lake Louise 23.82 | | | | |
| *A "pure" <u>gl</u> . 23.00 - 24. | aucescens has a Compositi 00. | e Hybrid Inde | x of 8.00 - 9.00; | a "pure" <u>argen</u> | tatus a CHI of |
| ** Note the po and the hybu | sition of Strawberry Re rid subsets, thereby der | ef, assigned b ionstrating a | y the DMRT at the statistical relat | <pre>p < .01 level ionship to both</pre> | to the glaucescens classifications. |

See Discussion, Section 6.4, for a further elaboration of this finding (p. 128 - 135).







COMPARISON OF argentatus AND glaucescens

Fig. 37. Comparison of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> "pure" types. <u>L. glaucescens</u> have a Wing Hybrid Index of 1: primaries the same shade as the mantle, and no observable pattern of melanin deposition. <u>L. argentatus</u> has a Wing Hybrid Index of 6: primaries of intensive black pigment, in an extensive and distinctly delimited pattern, with melanin deposited along the feather shafts of the 8th, 9th, and 10th primaries. <u>L. glaucescens</u> have an Orbital Hybrid Index of 1 - 2, with dark pink (5R) to pink (7.5 R) hues. <u>L. argentatus</u> have an OHI of 8 - 9, with light yellow (2.5 Y) to yellow (5 Y) hues. <u>L. glaucescens</u> have an Iris Hybrid Index of 6 (7.5 YR), brown hues. <u>L. argentatus</u> have an IHI of 9 (5 Y), yellow hues.

5.7 Nest Site Selection: Slope, Substrate, and Cover

Southern Alaskan <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> nest on a variety of substrates. In Glacier Bay, <u>argentatus</u> was most often found in fjords close to glacier fronts; <u>glaucescens</u> was concentrated in more marine regions, but also colonized recently deglaciated fjords. <u>L</u>. <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were first observed nesting together on fjord cliffs 4 km from the front of the Johns Hopkins Glacier in Johns Hopkins Inlet in Glacier Bay in July 1971 (Patten & Weisbrod, 1974). In 1972-73 <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were found nesting together on low rocky islets, flat gravelly hillsides, and sloping grassy meadows in Glacier Bay (Table 17). North Marble Island in Glacier Bay had highest densities of nesting <u>glaucescens</u> on grassy meadows, in which <u>Hordeum</u> was the dominant vegetation. Some nests were located on precipitous sites, approaching 50% slope (Table 18). Small numbers of phenotypic <u>argentatus</u> were scattered through this colony.

Dry Bay, at the mouth of the Alsek River, morthwest of Glacier Bay, supported 500 pairs of mixed <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> nesting on flat gravel bars (Tables 17, 18). The low alluvial islands, washed by high waters in late summer and during winter storms, were of unstabilized substrate. Vegetation was sparse and indicated a combined maritime and freshwater influence (cf. Study Areas, Section 3.22).

Thousands of <u>glaucescens</u> at Egg Island, Copper Sands, and Strawberry Reef, nested on dunes covered with <u>Elymus</u> meadows. Slope of the dunes was shallow, with a mean less than 3%; the highest dunes were only 10 m above sea level (Tables 17, 18).

The glaucescens on Middleton Island were colonizing two habitats; an

| Colony | Species Composition | Substrate/Cover |
|-----------------------|--|---|
| Glacier Bay colonies: | | |
| Johns Hopkins Inlet | mixed <u>argentatus</u> - glaucescens | bare cliff face |
| Sealer's Island | mixed <u>argentatus</u> - glaucescens | low rocky islet |
| Tlingit Point | mixed <u>argentatus</u> - glaucescens | flat gravelly islet |
| North Marble | mixed <u>argentatus</u> - glaucescens | sloping grassy hillsides |
| Dry Bay | mixed <u>argentatus</u> - glaucescens | flat alluvial gravel bars |
| Haenke Island | glaucescens | grassy cliff terraces |
| Middleton Island | glaucescens | grassy knolls & <u>Elymus</u> / boulder/driftwood mosaic |
| Egg Island | glaucescens | Elymus-covered dunes |
| Copper Sands | glaucescens | Elymus-covered dunes |
| Strawberry Reef | glaucescens | Elymus-covered dunes |
| Lake Louise | argentatus | sloping grassy islet, boreal lake |
| Atlin Lake, B.C. | argentatus | low rocky islet, boreal lake |
| Dezadeash Lake, Y.T. | argentatus | forested islet shores, boreal lake |

Table 17. Nest Site Substrates and Cover in <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska, British Columbia, and Yukon Territory

| Colony | Species Composition | Mean | Range | S.D. | Sample Size |
|--------------|------------------------|------|--------|------|----------------|
| North Marble | mixed | 16.2 | 1 - 48 | 15.7 | 9 |
| Dry Bay | mixed | 0 | 0 | 0 | 112 |
| Egg Island | glaucescens | 2.8 | 0 - 8 | 2.4 | 186 |
| Lake Louise | argentatus | 15.9 | 1 - 50 | 14.9 | 50 |

Table 18. Nest Site Slope in <u>Larus</u> colonies in Southern Alaska

<u>Elymus</u>-boulder-driftwood mosaic surrounding the island, and on grassy (Calamagrostris) knolls at the south end of the island.

The <u>argentatus</u> at Lake Louise nested on a grassy (<u>Calamagrostris</u>) islet, with slope and substrate similar to that of North Marble, and vegetation similar to that of Middleton Island.

Thus, both allopatric and sympatric <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> observed in this study were flexible in nesting habitat selection in coastal southern Alaska and adjoining interior lakes. Nest site substrate included gravel bars and cliff faces, with from 0% to over 50% slope (Table 18). Favored sites for both <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were grassy island slopes. Therefore nest site selection based on structural features of the habitat (slope, substrate, and cover) was not serving as an isolating mechanism between these gulls in the study area.

5.8 Analysis of Mating Patterns

Analysis of mating patterns involved study of pairs at 564 nest sites. At North Marble, 162 gull pairs within four study plots were observed with binocular and telescope in 1972. The study of the pairs revealed the following: 157 phenotypic <u>glaucescens</u> pairs; 1 typical <u>argentatus</u> (WSM 27430) paired with a "typical" <u>glaucescens</u>, and 3 "intermediates" (WSM 27427, 27428, 27429) paired with glaucescens.

Gull pairs at 290 nest sites were examined in 1973, and the following were recorded: 276 phenotypic <u>glaucescens</u> pairs; 1 pair of <u>argentatus</u>; 3 <u>argentatus</u> paired with <u>glaucescens</u>, and 10 intermediate gulls paired with <u>glaucescens</u>. The three <u>argentatus</u> paired with <u>glaucescens</u> were males; the probability of the single argentatus female selecting a mate of like type in this colony was 4/290, or (p < .01), suggesting assortative mating.

Mating patterns of 112 pairs within the mixed colony at Dry Bay were studied in detail during May, 1977.¹ The indices of primary feather pigmentation (WHI) and iris color (IHI) of each male were compared to those of the corresponding female in each of the 112 pairs. Further, the combined indices (WHI + IHI) of each male were compared to those of the corresponding female in each of the 112 pairs. Detailed crosstabulations of these three indices are presented in Appendices VIII. IX and X.

Three Chi-square tests were conducted on the distributions of primary feather, iris, and combined indices. The Chi-square test on the observed distribution of primary feather pigmentation indices, compared to that expected by chance (i.e., if the gulls were mating without respect to this characteristic), produced a significant Chi-square of 11.29, with 3 d.f. (p < .02) (Table 19). Based upon comparisons of wing hybrid indices, 63% of the pairs at Dry Bay agreed exactly; 18% disagreed by one index value; 8.6% disagreed by two index values (backcrosses), 0.9% by three index values, 1.9% by four index values, and 7.6% disagreed by five index values (mixed pairs). Of the 63% of the pairs with identical hybrid indices, 51 pairs were <u>glaucescens</u> (1 x 1); 12 pairs were intermediates selecting like types (eight 2 x 2 and four 3 x 3); and 3 pairs were <u>argentatus</u> (6 x 6).

The Chi-square test on the observed distribution of iris colors, compared to a random (chance) distribution, resulted in a Chi-square of

¹The results and analysis of the mating patterns of the gulls in the mixed colony at Dry Bay were completed before the publication of Hoffman, Weins, and Scott (1978).

| | Observed | Expected (by chance) | Chi-square <u>(O-E)²</u> E |
|-----------------------------------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------------|
| agree exactly (identical WHI) | 66 | 48.45 | 6.36 |
| disagree by 1 WHI | 25 | 32.96 | 1.92 |
| disagree by 2 WHI | 13 | 18.80 | 1.79 |
| disagree by more than 2 WHI | 8 | 11.79 | 1.22 |

Table 19. Chi-square Test of the Comparison of Hybrid Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation (WHI) of Males Against Females in 112 Pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska.

(Data in Table 50)

 χ^2 (3 d.f.) = 11.29*

*Significant (.01

4.23, with 3 d.f. (n.s., p < .05) (Table 20). This unexpected result is related to the strongly skewed distribution of iris color indices at Dry Bay; most individuals had dark eyes, and therefore any tendency towards mating patterns based on eye color alone could not be established.

However, the observed distribution of the combined primary feather and iris color indices, compared to that expected by chance, resulted in a significant Chi-square of 11.24, with 3 d.f. ($p \le .03$) (Table 21). Based on comparisons of these combined indices, 56.3% of the pairs at Dry Bay agreed exactly; 19.6% disagreed by one combined index value; 10.7% disagreed by two index values, 5.3% by three index values, and 8% by four or more combined index values.

The results of these tests indicated that the mating patterns of the gulls in this study were assortative, or selective. Gulls in most cases chose mates similar to themselves, but occasionally selected mates of widely different phenotypes, forming mixed pairs and apparent backcrosses. It is apparent that the combination of primary feather pigmentation and iris color was much more important than iris color alone as a factor in mate selection.

5.9 Clutch Size

There is geographic and annual variation in clutch size in gull populations in southern Alaska. The range of clutch size in 933 nests of <u>glaucescens</u>, <u>argentatus</u>, and mixed populations between 1972 and 1978 included means from 2.05 to 2.93 eggs per nest. The extremes both occurred in <u>glaucescens</u> populations (Table 22). The 1975 Egg Island population (<u>glaucescens</u>) was at the low end of the range. Clutch size increased significantly from 1975 to 1976 (Table 22). Analysis of population parameters

| | Observed | Expected (by chance) | Chi-square <u>0 - E² E</u> |
|----------------------------------|----------|-------------------------|--|
| Agree exactly (identical IHI) | 101 | 97.70 | .11 |
| Disagree by 1 IHI | 3 | 4.78 | .66 |
| Disagree by 2 IHI | 4 | 2.05 | 1.84 |
| Disagree by more than 2 IHI | 4 | 7.47 | 1.61 |

Table 20. Chi-square Test of the Comparison of Iris Color Indices (IHI) of Males Against Females in 112 Pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska

112

x² = 4.23*

not significant (p > .05). The distribution is skewed. Most individual gulls at Dry Bay had dark eyes.

| Table 21. | Chi-square Test of the Comparison of Combined |
|-----------|--|
| | Hybrid Indices (CHI) of Males Against Females |
| | in 112 Pairs of Larus Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska |
| | (IHI + WHI = CHI) |

| | Observed | Expected (by chance) | Chi-square <u>0 - E² E</u> |
|----------------------------------|----------|-------------------------|--|
| Agree exactly (identical CHI) | 63 | 45.92 | 6.35 |
| Disagree by 1 (CHI) | 22 | 30.52 | 2.38 |
| Disagree by 2 (CHI) | 12 | 15.40 | .75 |
| Disag ree by 3 (CHI) | 6 | 6.3 | .01 |
| Disagree by 4 or more (CHI) | 9 | 13.94 | 1.75 |
| | 112 | | x ² = 11.24* |

*Significant (p ≤ .03)

| Colony | Year | Species | Number of Nests Examined | Mean Clutch Size |
|------------------|------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------|
| North Marble | 1972 | mixed | 162 | 2.80 |
| North Marble | 1973 | mixed | 191 | 2.96 |
| Dry Bay | 1977 | "pure" (<u>gl</u> .) | 76 | 2.93 |
| Dry Bay | 1977 | mixed | 36 | 2,89 |
| Egg Island | 1975 | glaucescens | 153 | 2.05 |
| Egg Island | 1976 | glaucescens | 186 | 2.56 |
| Middleton Island | 1978 | glaucescens | 52 | 2.88 |
| Lake Louise | 1977 | argentatus | 77 | 2.74 |

Table 22. Clutch Size in Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska

1972-1978

933 nests

at Egg Island in 1975 suggested an expanding population with a high proportion of young females, which tend to lay smaller clutches than older adults (Patten & Patten, 1975, 1976, 1977, 1978). The interior Lake Louise <u>argentatus</u> population had an intermediate clutch size of 2.74. The upper extreme in clutch size was the mean of the "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> at Dry Bay in 1977 (2.93). The weighted means for the mixed North Marble Island population were quite high (2.80 in 1972; 2.96 in 1973; combined weighted mean 2.90) (Table 22).

Phenotypes of both parents at 112 nests were determined in two study plots at Dry Bay in 1977 (cf. Analysis of Mating Patterns, Section 5.8). The categories containing at least one intergrade parent were combined for analysis of clutch size. Only one "pure" <u>argentatus</u> x <u>argentatus</u> pair was found at these sites. The analysis of clutch size of "pure" pairs at Dry Bay was therefore confined to <u>glaucescens</u>. However, the clutch sizes of the 77 "pure" pairs of <u>argentatus</u> at Lake Louise have been compared to <u>glaucescens</u> and mixed pairs.

The analysis of variance for clutch size in southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> colonies produced a highly significant F-ratio (F = 35.6, 9 d.f., p <.001) (Table 23). The clutch size data were therefore analyzed using Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) (cf. Statistical Procedures, Section 4.6). (The Dry Bay colony was divided into two groups: "pure" <u>glaucescens</u> and mixed pairs, but the North Marble data were combined as a single mean).

There were four homogenous subsets of clutch sizes for <u>argentatus</u>, <u>glaucescens</u>, and mixed populations in the DMRT (p < .05)(Table 24). Subset 1 contained the 1975 Egg Island <u>glaucescens</u> population. Subset 2 contained populations of glaucescens, argentatus, and mixed pairs. Subset 3

| Table 23. | Analysis of in Souther | [•] Variance of Clutch S n Alaskan <u>Larus</u> Colon | Size Ties | |
|----------------|---------------------------|---|-----------------|---------|
| Source | Degrees of Freedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | F-ratio |
| Between Groups | 6 | 88.79 | 12.68 | 35.57* |
| Within Groups | 923 | 283.83 | 0.36 | |
| Total | 532 | 372,62 | | |
| | | | | |

.

*Very highly significant (p < .001).

٠

| | | short |
|--------|--------|-----------|
| | | the |
| | | than |
| _ | | nore |
| askā | | ٩ |
| ern Al | | differ |
| outh | 5) | ot |
| n Se | ö, | - op |
| nies i | å | means |
| Colo | Test | est |
| s | 96 | JOW |
| Lar | Ran | and |
| for | iple | st |
| ize | lu l t | tahe |
| ch S | s' | se h |
| Clute | ncan | who |
| for | In() | u ps. |
| s u | | aro |
| Mea | | of |
| iked | | iets |
| Rar | | subs |
| | | ts (|
| | | subse |
| ÷. | | sno |
| e 2 | | naen |
| Tabl | | Ношо |

Homogenous subsets (subsets of groups, whose highest and lowest means do not differ by more than the short-est significant range for a subset of that size). There is no significant difference between the means of groups underlined with a single dotted line.

| Subset 1 Group Mean | glaucescens Egg Island - 1975 2.05 | | | |
|---------------------------|--|--------------------|--------------------|------------------------|
| Subset 2 | <u>glaucescens</u> | <u>argentatus</u> | <u>glaucescens</u> | hybrid [*] |
| Group | Egg Island - 1976 | Lake Louise | Middleton Is. | Dry Bay |
| Mean | 2.56 | 2.74 | 2.88 | 2.89 |
| Subset 3 | <u>argentatus</u> | <u>glaucescens</u> | hybrid | combined ^{**} |
| Group | Lake Louise | Middleton Is. | Dry Bay | North Marble |
| Mean | 2.74 | 2.88 | 2.89 | 2.90 |
| Subset 4 | gl <u>aucescens</u> | hybrid | combined | <u>glaucescens</u> |
| Group | Middleton Is. | D r y Bay | North Marble | Dry Bay |
| Mean | 2.88 | 2.89 | 2.90 | 2.93 |
| | | | | |

^{*}hybrid = pairs containing at least one intergrade gull.

**combined = glau. x glau.; arg. x glauc.; intergrade x glau.; arg. x ?rg.
contained <u>glaucescens</u>, <u>argentatus</u>, and two mixed populations. Subset 4 contained mixed pairs at Dry Bay, "pure" (<u>glaucescens</u>) pairs at Dry Bay, and the mixed colony on North Marble Island. Within each subset, the clutch sizes were all statistically similar.

At the p < .01 level of significance, the homogenous subsets of ranked means for clutch size were reduced to three. Subset 1 remained the 1975 Egg Island population; Subset 2 contained the 1976 clutch size for <u>glaucescens</u> at Egg Island, that of <u>argentatus</u> at Lake Louise, that of <u>glaucescens</u> on Middleton Island, and that of the mixed pairs at Dry Bay. Subset 3 contained the <u>argentatus</u> at Lake Louise, <u>glaucescens</u> at Middleton Island, mixed pairs at Dry Bay, and the mean of the combined colonies at North Marble (Table 25).

Thus, while there were significant annual and geographical differences, populations of <u>argentatus</u> were not significantly different from mixed or <u>glaucescens</u> with respect to clutch size.

5.10 Hatching and Fledging Success

There were three types of egg loss in 933 nests studied in southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> colonies: (1) eggs which disappeared from the nest because of predation ("lost" eggs); (2) eggs that remained in the nest but failed to hatch; and (3) eggs which pipped but the embryo failed to emerge and died (Table 26).

The most important cause of hatching failure was egg loss to predation, ranging from 4% to nearly 30% of eggs laid. In most cases, egg predation was by other (<u>Larus</u>) gulls. The <u>glaucescens</u> colony at Egg Island (1975-76) and the mixed colony at North Marble (1972-73) did not differ significantly from each other in egg loss to predation, but both

| Homogenous subsets (su significant range for a groups underlined with | bsets of groups, who a subset of that siz a single dotted lin | ise highest and la e). There is no e. | owest means do not significant diffe | t differ by more erence between th | than the short- e means of |
|---|---|--|---|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Subset 1 Group | glaucescens Eqd Island ~ 1975 | | | | |
| Mean | 2.05 | | | | |
| Subset 2 | glaucescens | argentatus | glaucescens | hybrid* | |
| Group Mean | Egg Island - 1976 2.56 | Lake Louise 2.74 | Middleton Is. 2.88 | Dry Bay 2.89 | |
| Subset 3 | argentatus | glaucescens | hybrid | combined** | glaucescens |
| Group Mean | Lake Louise 2.74 | Middleton Is. 2.88 | Dry Bay 2.89 | North Marble 2.90 | Dry Bay 2.93 |
| | ÷ ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; | . \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ | | 6 \$ 4 4 1 L \$ 5 6 1 X \$ 7 6 1 X 5 | |

Ranked Means for Clutch Size for Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska

Table 25.

(Duncan's Multiple Range Test: p < .01)

*hybrid = pairs containing at least one intergrade.

**combined= glau. x glau.; arg. x glau.; intergrade x glau.; arg. x arg.

"Lost," Inviable, and Pipped Eggs Failing to Hatch in <u>Larus</u> Colonies in Southern Alaska (1972 - 1978) (in Study Plots)

Table 26.

ł

| Colany | Year | Species | Total Eggs | Lost Eggs | Inviable Eggs | Pip Faile | ped/ d to Hatch |
|------------------|------|-------------|---------------|-------------|---------------|--------------|--------------------|
| North Marble | 1972 | uixed | 455 | 125 (27.5%) | 22 (4.8%) | - | (%1 >) |
| North Marble | 1973 | mixed | 566 | 150 (26.5%) | 26 (4.6%) | | (< 1%) |
| Egg Island | 1975 | glaucescens | 313 | 92 (29.5%) | 8 (2.6%) | - | (%1 >) |
| Egg Island | 1976 | glaucescens | 476 | 104 (21.8%) | (1.9%) 9 | - | (%1 >) |
| Ory Bay "A" | 1977 | mixed | 265 | 10 (3.7%) | 8 (3.0%) | 2 | (%1 >) |
| Dry Bay "B" | 1977 | mixed | 63 | 7 (11.1%) | 0 | 0 | |
| Lake Louise | 1977 | argentatus | 211 | n.a. | 13 (6.2%) | 2 | (% 1%) |
| Middleton Island | 1978 | glaucescens | 150 | 8 (5.3%) | 18 (12.0%) | 0 | |

had significantly higher (p < .05) higher rates of this type of egg loss than the mixed colony at Dry Bay (Table 26). Data on egg loss to predation were not available for the <u>argentatus</u> population at Lake Louise.

Inviable eggs (1972-78) ranged from 0% at the Dry Bay colony (mixed <u>argentatus</u> x <u>glaucescens</u>), to 1.9% in the Egg Island <u>glaucescens</u> population, to 6.2% in the <u>argentatus</u> breeding at Lake Louise, and to 12% in the <u>glaucescens</u> population on Middleton Island. Inviable eggs in the mixed colony at North Marble (1972-73) had similar low frequencies, ranging from 4.6% to 4.8%. Differences between populations in frequencies of inviable eggs were not significant (p < .05) (Table 26).

Egg loss caused by eggs which pipped without further emergence of the embryo was well below 1% at every colony (Table 26).

Hatching success for all colonies (1972-78) ranged from 67% to 93% (Table 27). The study colony with the highest hatching success was the mixed population at Dry Bay in 1977. This colony also had the lowest egg loss to predation. Predation was the controlling factor in hatching success in all colonies, with the exception of Middleton Island, where large internest differences (>50 meters) may have reduced attempts at predation by other gulls.

The Egg Island <u>glaucescens</u> population was not significantly different in hatching success or observed chick mortality from the mixed colony on North Marble, but chick disappearance was significantly higher (p < .05). This was probably related to the much greater meadow area on Egg Island, which allowed chicks to wander. Dry Bay, because of intense eagle predation, had the highest rate of chick disappearance (Table 27). The North Marble Island colony had the highest percentage of chicks fledged of those

Table 27.

Hatching Success, Chick Mortality, and Fledging Success in Larus Colonies in Southern Alaska (1972 - 1978)

| Colony | Year | Spectes | Nest Exam- ined | Chicks Hatching | Observed Mortality | Disap- peared | Fledged (% of Hatched) | (Mean per Nest) |
|---|------|-------------|-----------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|
| North Marble | 1972 | mixed | 162 | 304 (67%) | 16 (5%) | 5 (2%) | 283 (93%) | 1.75 |
| North Marble | 1973 | mixed | 161 | 390 (£63%) | 31 (8X) | 16 (4%) | 343 (88%) | 1.80 |
| Egg Island | 1975 | glaucescens | 153 | 254 (69%) | 30 (12%) | 75 (26%) | 157 (62%) | 1.03 |
| Egg Island | 1976 | glaucescens | 186 | 343 (77%) | 27 (8%) | 108 (31%) | 208 (61%) | 1.12 |
| Dry Bay "A" | 1977 | mixed | 06 | 245 (92x) | 16 (6%) | 95 (39X)* | 134 (54%) | |
| Ory Bay "B" | 1977 | mixed | 22 | 59 (93X) | 2 (31) | 29 (49%)* | 28 (48%) } | 1.44 |
| Lake Louise | 1977 | argentatus | 11 | n.à. | 8 | 5 | 73 | 0.95 |
| Middleton Island | 1978 | glaucescens | 52 | 123 (82%) | ł | ŧ | | * |
| والمحافظة | | | | | | | | |

*Most chick disappearance was due to sustained eagle predation.

** Chicks on Middleton Island were impossible to follow after hatching because of dense vegetation.

.

hatching, and the Dry Bay population the lowest percentage (Table 27). However, the final fledging success as measured in chicks produced per nest depended additionally upon the clutch size and hatching success. The analysis of variance for fledging success in eight southern Alaska study colonies produced an F-ratio of 1.81, 7.d.f. (p < .05; F-probability = .0816), i.e., differences between colonies in fledging success were not significant (Table 28). There was sufficient variability in fledging success within the colonies studied to eliminate significant differences between the colonies. However, the hybrid pairs within the mixed colony at Dry Bay produced 1.47 chicks per nest, while in comparison the phenotypically "pure" pairs (<u>glaucescens</u>) produced 1.40 chicks per nest (t = 0.72; p > .05), also not significant.

In summary, although there was significant annual and geographical variability in clutch size in gull populations in southern Alaska, the clutch size and fledging success of "hybrid" versus "pure" pairs within the mixed colony at Dry Bay were not significantly different. Differences in fledging success between colonies of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> examined were also not significantly different. Therefore, at these confidence levels, there was no evidence of post-mating isolating mechanisms affecting clutch size and fledging success during the study years.

| 28. |
|-----|
| Je |
| Tab |

| Source | Degrees of Freedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | F-ratio |
|----------------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------------|---------|
| Between Groups | 7 | 135.67 | 19.38 | 1.81* |
| dithin Groups | 925 | 8508.88 | 10.69 | |
| Total | 932 | 8644.55 | | |
| | | | | |

*Not significant (p > .05; F-probability = .0816).

6.0 DISCUSSION

6.1 Allopatric Hybridization of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls

The interbreeding of two previously isolated populations in a zone of contact is known as allopatric hybridization (Mayr, 1942; 1963). Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls are virtually allopatric in the Pacific Northwest, occupying largely exclusive but adjacent geographical areas. The contact between these forms is determined by both intrinsic and extrinsic factors. The extrinsic factors originally separating these two gull populations were glaciation and mountain ranges, which even now allow contact only in geographically restricted areas. The Alaska, St. Elias, and Coast Ranges of the Pacific Northwest are now the most important barriers to gene flow between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls. The mountains themselves do not provide suitable habitat for gulls and in addition they produce two very different climatic zones, the boreal (subarctic) interior and the west coast marine. But where rivers and recently deglaciated fjords break the mountain barrier, a zone of secondary contact results between the two previously isolated gull populations. Interbreeding occurs in these areas of contact, since complete reproductive isolating did not evolve during their period of separation.

Among the most important intrinsic factors determining the degree of genetic contact between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls are nesting habitat preferences. The deliberate choosing of the approprizhabitat can serve as a powerful reinforcement of geographic borders and reduces the probability that new isolation will become established beyond the species border, but for gulls there is a degree of variability

in habitat preferences.

Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls exhibit incomplete habitat segregation along the division between fresh-water and marine environments during the breeding season. Along the coast of Alaska, Herring Gulls have a distinct preference for breeding in restricted fresh-water and brackish conditions such as at the heads of fjords with active glaciers and at river mouths. For example, in Glacier Bay, numbers of breeding Herring Gulls diminish with distance away from active glacier fronts (Table 4, Figure 4). Breeding Glaucous-winged Gulls are generally confined to marine environments, although after the breeding season they may follow major rivers and salmon streams inland. A colony of <u>glaucescens</u> breeding on islands in Bidarka Bay, Illiamna Lake, on the base of the Alaska Peninsula (Williamson and Peyton, 1963) and a small population breeding some distance up the Columbia River (Hoffman, pers. comm.) are two known exceptions to this rule.

Nesting habitat selection in gulls is influenced by the interaction of genetic and developmental factors, with individuals preferring to nest in that habitat in which they were hatched (i.e., habitat imprinting). Noseworthy <u>et al.</u> (1973) found that young Herring Gulls, after experimental displacement, returned to habitat similar to that in which they were hatched. Tinbergen (1953) found that Herring Gulls returned as adults to nest in the same types of habitat in which they had been raised as chicks. Young adult gulls, breeding for the first time, may initially prefer to return to the colony in which they were raised (i.e., philopatry). If successful in breeding, they return to the same breeding place in subsequent seasons (Southern 1977). Such colony site tenacity has been documented for several gulls, including the Herring Gull in Europe and the Great Lakes (Tinbergen, 1961; Drost <u>et al</u>., 1961; Ludwig, 1963) and the Glaucous-winged Gull in British Columbia (Vermeer, 1963). Colony site tenacity develops when the environment of the colony sites does not change from year to year, and breeders are successful.

There are two categories of gulls which seek new nesting locations. These are gulls breeding for the first time, and unsuccessful breeders. First-time breeders not returning to their natal site may attempt to breed in a habitat similar to that in which they were raised but at a different location or they may attempt to settle in a site where experienced breeders are nesting (McNicholl, 1975). A gull abandoning an unsuccessful nest site may seek a different location where other birds are nesting or an alternative breeding habitat. First-time breeders and unsuccessful adults demonstrate sufficient flexibility to pioneer new and potentially productive habitats and display a degree of opportunism rather than rigid preferences. The limited availability of nesting habitat in the interior may also encourage Herring Gulls to colonize the coast.

Colonies located in unstable environments have fewer returning experienced adults, but more young birds attempting to breed for the first time. Mixed colonies of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls are found on river bars near the coast and in recently deglaciated fjords--notably unstable environments. Site tenacity in such places either has not had time to develop, or the areas are potentially disadvantageous. The river bars may disappear completely, and the fjord sites may become unsuitable because of vegetative succession. Rapid colonization of such newly available and temporarily suitable sites would be of selective advantage. Based on the above, it is believed that pioneering individuals

or previously unsuccessful adults colonize such sites on the south coast of Alaska.

Tinbergen (1953), based on his studies of European Herring Gulls, observed that pioneering individuals are among the most susceptible to hybridization because of the paucity of conspecific mates. The eight years of observation upon which this study is based, supported by the findings of Sanger (1973) and Harrington (1975), also indicate that Herring Gulls, hatched on river bars in interior Alaska, migrate to the open sea in the winter. The Herring Gulls, returning from winters at sea, find suitable river-bar nesting habitat at the mouths of rivers within the coastal environment. These river bars, within sight and sound of the marine environment, are colonized by Glaucous-winged Gulls, leading to the breeding of both forms in the same habitat.

6.2 <u>Evolution of Assortative Mating Patterns Without Selective</u> <u>Pressure on Hybrid Offspring</u>

There was widespread evidence of hybridization within the <u>argentatus</u> -<u>glaucescens</u> contact zone, as indicated by observations of mixed pairs and the great unount of morphological variation in coastal adult <u>glau</u>-<u>cescens</u> populations. There was also evidence of maintenance of both parental types. Nesting habitat preferences and selection of like types as mating partners were partially formed isolating mechanisms, but did not prevent interbreeding between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>. Definite deviations from random mating were evident, indicating the development of incipient isolating mechanisms prior to contact between the two forms.

Among the most important pre-mating isolating mechanisms is species recognition. It has been postulated that the color of the iris and the orbital ring function in species recognition between large white-headed gulls (Smith, 1966b). The variation and distribution of iris and orbital ring colors make such action unlikely in southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> populations. However, the variability of these characters may function in individual or population recognition. For example, the orbital rings of the Strawberry Reef and Copper Sands populations resembled each other very closely, with combinations of only two hues occurring (yellow and pink in similar patterns of deposition). The three gull populations on the Copper River Delta also shared strikingly similar distributions of iris hues.

Even if intrinsic pre-mating isolating mechanisms were fully developed, pioneering <u>argentatus</u>, in the absence of appropriate stimuli from other Herring Gulls, would respond to <u>glaucescens</u> in breeding condition rather than not breed at all. The south coast of Alaska was beyond the normal breeding range of most <u>argentatus</u>, and the Alaskan Herring Gull population numbered far less than that of the Glaucous-winged Gull. Individual <u>argentatus</u>, coming into breeding condition <u>at</u> the end of their dispersal phase on the south coast, may have had difficulty finding conspecific mates.

Mixed pairs are found in recently deglaciated fjords and at river mouths in habitats meeting the preferences of both taxa. Mixed pairs made up 7.6% of the colony at Dry Bay, and only 0.6 - 1% of the colony on North Marble Island. The offspring of these mixed pairs were viable at least to fledging stage (cf. Hatching and Fledging Success, Section 5.10). As evidenced by the great amount of morphological variation exhibited by the coastal adult <u>glaucescens</u> (cf. Results, Sections 5.1 - 5.6), it is hypothesized that the <u>argentatus</u> x <u>glaucescens</u> hybrids survived to adulthood and returned to the natal colony or to the vicinity to breed. The F_1 individuals mated with individuals resembling the most abundant parental type, <u>glaucescens</u>, forming a backcross, with the full range of variability potentially expressed in their offspring. Apparent backcross pairs, based upon indices of primary feather pigmentation, made up 8.6% of the colony at Dry Bay, and 2% - 3.4% of the colony at North Marble. The progeny of the backcrosses formed pair bonds with bird resembling the hybrid parent, creating a population of intermediates, the recombinants of which resembled the parental types. The recombinant forms resembling <u>argentatus</u> attracted more <u>argentatus</u> from the migration pathway, and interbreeding continued.

Patterns of mating in the mixed colony at Dry Bay were assortative, with frequent exceptions. Based upon comparisons of wing hybrid indices (cf. Analysis of Mating Patterns, Section 5.8), 63% of the pairs at Dry Bay agreed exactly; 18% disagreed by one hybrid index value, 3.6% disagreed by two index values, 0.9% by three index values, 1.9% by four index values, and 7.6% disagreed by 5 index values (mixed pairs). The probability that the single <u>argentatus</u> pair observed on North Marble would be formed, given the number of potentially available <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> mates, was 1/140, suggesting a high degree of assortative mating.

Harris's (1970) egg fostering experiments on <u>argentatus</u> and <u>fuscus</u>, two closely related species in Britain, also revealed a strong tendency for individuals (especially females) to choose mates similar to the birds that raised them. The most reasonable explanation for this occurrence is that the selection of mating partners is determined by fixation on a parental type. This fixation is incompletely formed, but leads to assortative mating patterns in gulls without differential selection pressure

on hybrid offspring along the southern Alaskan coastline. The assortative mating patterns include intergrades selecting like types as mating partners.

6.3 Viability of Hybrid Offspring

The genotype of a species is considered to be an integrated system (coadapted gene complex) adapted to the ecological niche in which a species lives. Gene recombination in the offspring of species crosses could lead to the formation of disharmonious gene complexes (Dobzhansky, 1951). The decreased viability of hybrid offspring lessens the reproductive potential of both interbreeding species. While both argentatus and glaucescens differ in their preferences for fresh-water and saltwater conditions during the breeding season, both are generalists, filling the role of opportunistic scavengers outside the breeding season. There is no evidence that argentatus x glaucescens hybrids are any less well adapted to the southern Alaskan coastline than are either of the parental forms. as evidenced by comparisons of clutch size, fledging success, and frequency of intergrades (cf. Results, Sections 5.1 - 5.6 and 5.8). According to theory, any mutation which provides a basis for species recognition will be selected for if hybrid offspring suffer reduced fitness. Such selection leads to the evolution of pre-mating isolating mechanisms. Assortative mating patterns usually evolve if there is a selective pressure against hybrid offspring, which is not the case with glaucescens x argentatus crosses in the coastal environment. Furthermore, extensive interspecific hybridization in animals normally accompanies the beginning of sympatry, and rapidly declines because of the establishment of antihybridization mechanisms. While contact and hybridization between glaucescens and artentatus was obviously recent in areas such as Glacier Bay,

.

geological evidence suggests that in localities such as Dry Bay, contact was possible as long as 10,000 years ago. Morphological analyses of adult gulls at the six colonies along the zone of contact indicate widespread gene flow from <u>argentatus</u> into <u>glaucescens</u> populations, with no evidence of hybrid inviability.

6.4 Relationships Between Northeast Gulf of Alaska Larus Populations

The relationships between breeding populations of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls in the Northeast Gulf of Alaska have until recently remained unexplored. Evidence of gene flow from <u>argentatus</u> into <u>glaucescens</u> populations, as indicated by colorimetric hybrid indices, was widespread, although the actual contact (interbreeding) between the two populations was found to be restricted. Mixed populations of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> displayed degrees of reproductive isolation ranging from occasional interbreeding between pioneering individuals, through intergrades selecting like types as mating partners, to absorption of <u>argentatus</u> into variable populations of <u>glaucescens</u>. The morphological analyses and the reproductive survey revealed that the degree of intergradation was related to the geological and ecological history of the immediate area of the colony. The investigation of the zone of contact thus focused on a study of the unique conditions determining the area of hybridization in this part of Alaska.

Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls have similar nesting habitat requirements with respect to slope, substrate, and cover, but they differ in their preference for marine and fresh-water conditions. Hybridization occurs in habitats at the interface between fresh-water and marine environments, characterized by disturbed, rapidly changing conditions, such as at the mouths of rivers and in recently deglaciated fjords. Gene flow is particularly evident where migration pathways of <u>argentatus</u> along river valleys cross coastal colonies of <u>glaucescens</u> (cf. Dry Bay population, Sections 5.1 - 5.6). The degree of contact and gene flow between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls is discussed below in relation to the environment of six coastal colonies, an interior location -- Lake Louise, and an offshore site -- Middleton Island.

Interbreeding is a transitory phenomenon in recent post-glacial environments such as Glacier Bay. Fjords with retreating glaciers resemble high-arctic environments, where melting of large bodies of ice creates fresh-water conditions unsuitable for Herring Gulls. Interbreeding between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls occurs on cliff faces and gravel bars. However, the interbreeding is restricted in time, because of rapid post-glacial successional changes. Growth of alders (Alnus crispa) within twenty years of deglaciation (Streveler and Paige, 1971) was sufficient, in some cases, to cause gulls to seek new breeding habitats. Small numbers of such displaced Herring Gulls enter the larger Glaucous-winged Gull colonies, such as the one on North Marble Island in Glacier Bay. Deglaciated about 120 years ago, North Marble Island is a steeply sloping limestone knoll. Examination of the colony of 500 pairs nesting on grassy (Hordeum brachyantherum) meadows revealed that mixed pairs of argentatus and glaucescens successfully fledged young. The colony was of sufficient size for nesting activities of the gulls to retard vegetative succession. The relative stability of this colony may also have attracted Herring Gulls displaced from other locations in Glacier Bay.

Hybridization at Dry Bay occurred in a mixed alluvial-maritime environment which escaped Pleistocene glaciation. The gull colony of 500

pairs was located on flat gravel bars 4.8 km from the mouth of the Alsek River. The sparsely vegetated gravel bars, colonized by both argentatus and glaucescens were subject to constant river erosion and flooding by winter storm tides. The Alsek River, one of the major breaks through the coast ranges originates in the interior Yukon Lake district, and is a known migration route connecting interior populations of birds and mammals with similar coastal populations (Streveler and Paige, 1971). Dry Bay is a major migration staging area (pers. obs.). Thousands of Herring Gulls, which have wintered at sea, congregate on the gravel bars before moving inland in May, intermixing with coastal Glaucous-winged Gulls in proximity to the breeding colony. Numbers of breeding Herring Gull "pure types" are low in this unstable delta environment, but the percentage of intergrades is high, approaching 50% of the colony. The complete spectrum of primary feather pigmentation (WHI 1 - 6 -- pale grey to black), iris hue (IHI 6 - 9 -- brown to yellow), and orbital ring color (OHI 1 - 9 -- pink to yellow) is evident in a collection of breeding birds from this colony. The population characteristics for this colony are distinctly intermediate between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls: subterminal portions of the primaries 2 x darker than mantle (WHI 3.11); orbital rings pinkish yellow (OHI 4.5); and irides light yellow (IHI 7.79). The composite hybrid index was 13.54 ± 2.62 , indicating a distinct Herring Gull influence, with considerable population variability. Mating patterns were assortative, including intergrades and pure types generally selecting like types as mating partners. Mean clutch size and fledging success of pure glaucescens pairs (2.93 eggs/nest; 1.40 chicks fledged per nest) and those pairs containing at least one intergrade (2.89 eggs/nest; 1.47 chicks fledged per nest) were not statistically different. The high percentage of intergrades, the spectrum of morphological variation, and the

development of assortative mating patterns indicate long-term contact between Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls in this area.

Haenke Island, deglaciated twice within the last 1000 years, supported a colony of 200 pairs of <u>glaucescens</u> nesting on grassy (<u>H.brachyantherum</u>) cliff terraces. The colony at Haenke Island was separated from interior regions of the Yukon and therefore from Herring Gull contact by the highest peaks of the St. Elias Range (to 5800 m) and by the immense Malaspina Glacier. The <u>glaucescens</u> population exhibited restricted primary feather pigmentation, with subterminal portions of the primaries slightly darker than mantle (WHI 1.95), brown eyes (IHI 6.30) and dark pink orbital rings (OHI 1.3). The Haenke Island gull population, with a composite HI of 9.55 \pm 1.21, morphologically resembled the <u>glaucescens</u> population inhabiting Middleton Island (below). Haenke Island was slightly more geographically isolated than other areas examined in this study, and the <u>glaucescens</u> breeding at the site displayed little evidence of prior genetic contact with <u>argentatus</u>.

The populations inhabiting the three major <u>glaucescens</u> colonies of the Copper River Delta (Fig. 10) resembled each other more than any other colonies in the Northeast Gulf of Alaska, and their morphological characteristics indicated prior contact with <u>argentatus</u>. The 1964 earthquake increased the surface area of the barrier islands, which in some cases quickly vegetated with resistant grasses, and was thereupon colonized by expanding populations of <u>glaucescens</u>. The <u>argentatus</u> population which existed on the delta before the 1964 earthquake (Gabrielson and Lincoln, 1959) no longer exists, probably because the balance between fresh and saltwater was altered, with subsequent encroachment of woody vegetation creating habitat unsuitable for nesting Herring Gulls.

Egg Island, with the largest known Glaucous-winged Gull colony (10,000 pairs), was a series of sand bars and dunes before the 1964 earthquake. The island increased tremendously in surface area after the 2 m uplift, with subsequent colonization by the beach rye grass <u>Elymus</u>, thus creating unlimited nesting space. Major sources of artificial food (the Cordova canneries and fish-processing houses) within 18 km have contributed to the population increase of 4% per year. In the absence of unusually severe weather conditions and of human predation (egging) in the immediate study area, the low clutch size (2.4) and moderate fledging success (1.08) suggested that the Egg Island breeding population was composed of young adults, probably immigrating from a large area of the southern Alaskan coast.

The gull population at Copper Sands, nesting on three comparatively small <u>Elymus</u>-covered dunes, remained relatively stable despite the earthquake uplift because of the lack of sufficient nesting space. The Strawberry Reef population also did not increase dramatically, in this case because of the distance (80 km) to the sources of artificial food at Cordova¹ (Fig. 11).

The populations inhabiting the three Copper River Delta colonies displayed essentially identical frequencies of iris hue. However, the indices of melanin in the subterminal portions of the primaries increased from Egg Island (1.91) to Copper Sands (2.03) to Strawberry Reef (2.20). Similarly, the hybrid indices indicated increasing yellow pigments in the

¹Recent reports indicate essentially complete reproductive failure in the gull colony at Strawberry Reef because of brown bear predation (Michelson, pers. comm.).

orbital rings from Egg Island (3.66 -- yellowish pink) to Copper Sands (4.0 -- yellowish pink) to Strawberry Reef (4.6 -- pinkish yellow). Composite hybrid indices reflected the trend: Egg Island (10.39 \pm 1.76), Copper Sands (10.40 \pm 1.27), and Strawberry Reef (11.40 \pm 2.33); the variation in primary feather pigmentation and orbital ring coloration was clinal across the Copper River Delta. The Strawberry Reef population, with more yellow pigments in the orbital rings, and increased melanin deposits in the subterminal portions of the primaries, had the largest standard deviation of the composite hybrid index. Strawberry Reef was the most variable of the Copper River Delta colonies, and the population clearly displayed <u>argentatus</u> influence. Contact with <u>argentatus</u> may have been most frequent here because Strawberry Reef is the closest barrier island to the mainland, to the Copper River (a potential migration route) and thus to freshwater sources, which argentatus prefers.

Gabrielson and Lincoln (1959) reported an <u>argentatus</u> colony on the Copper River Delta, but repeated and comprehensive aerial surveys by Patten and Isleib (pers. comm.) have been unable to locate it. The tremendous habitat alteration of the Delta since the 1964 earthquake may have made the marshes unsuitable for nesting <u>argentatus</u>. Population characteristics of the Copper River Delta <u>glaucescens</u> indicate interbreeding between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> when the <u>argentatus</u> population inhabited the delta. In particular, it is apparent that the Strawberry Reef population, which is transitional in characteristics between the Copper River Delta <u>glaucescens</u> and the hybrid population at Dry Bay in the Alsek River, absorbed the genes of the <u>argentatus</u> population formerly inhabiting the Copper River Delta.

Middleton Island is in the Gulf of Alaska 130 km south of Cordova. and 75 km west of Kayak Island (Fig. 3). It has been colonized by 750 pairs of glaucescens within the last 20 years (Hatch, Pearson, and Gould, 1979). A 4.5 meter uplift during the 1964 earthquake exposed a broad band of boulder and log-strewn beach, now inhabited by a glaucescens population displaying essentially no darkening of primary feathers (WHI 1.2), pink orbital rings (OHI 2.4), and brown to light brown irides (IHI 6.6). The composite hybrid index (0.40 ± 1.29) of this colony was the lowest of any group examined in the field during this study, indicating a population of phenotypically pure glaucescens. Furthermore, the mantle and primary feathers of a group of five breeding adult gulls collected at random from Middleton Island are lighter and more uniform than any other glaucescens group in the U.S. National Museum. This includes those glaucescens from Amchitka Island, Alaska, of which USNM 46626 and 466837 serve as examples. The lack of melanin in the subterminal portions of the primaries of the gulls breeding on Middleton Island suggested that this population did not originate from the coastal zone between Cordova and Juneau, but rather from an area without breeding Herring Gulls, such as Kodiak Island.

Lake Louise, in southcentral Alaska, supported the interior Herring Gull colony examined in detail. The colony of 77 pairs was located in a long-term stable habitat, a small, steeply sloping, grassy (<u>Calama-</u> <u>grostris</u>) islet in a boreal lake. Although the slope and vegetative cover of the islet resembled North Marble Island in Glacier Bay, which was colonized by both <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>, and the grassy knolls on Middleton Island, colonized by <u>glaucescens</u>, there were no <u>glaucescens</u> at Lake Louise. The gulls breeding at Lake Louise were phenotypically

<u>argentatus</u>: black subterminal primary bands (WHI 5.9); yellow orbital rings (OHI 8.9) and yellow irides (IHI 9.0); composite HI 23.81 \pm 0.4. Observations at additional gull colonies in interior British Columbia and the Yukon supported this conclusion, although Drury (pers. comm.) reported a diminished pattern of primary feather pigmentation of <u>argentatus</u> breeding at Kluane Lake, Yukon Territory, which possibly indicates some gene flow from <u>glaucescens</u> via the Alsek River, although the report needs further investigation. Interior <u>argentatus</u> populations do not show much, if any, <u>glaucescens</u> influence because there is little advantage for glaucescens to colonize the interior.

6.5 <u>Predictions of Additional Gene Flow Between Previously Isolated</u> Larus Populations

The results of this study predict interbreeding in locations other than those reported here, especially where migration pathways of interior <u>argentatus</u> cross coastal <u>glaucescens</u> colonies on river deltas along the Pacific Coast. The coast-river-lake systems in southcentral and southeastern Alaska provide examples (Figs. 3, 16).

The Susitna Flats on Upper Cook Inlet are joined with the interior Lake Louise by the Susitna River. Dry Bay is joined by the Alsek River to the Dezadeash and Kluane Lake districts in the Yukon. The Taku River connects the coastal Taku Arm with the Atlin Lake drainage area in British Columbia. Similar situations are expected in northern British Columbia, for instance along the Stikine River (cf. Webster, 1950). To date (1979), Herring Gulls have not been known to breed south of the edge of the boreal forest in the Fort St. Johns region of northcentral British Columbia, and thus coastal hybrid colonies (<u>argentatus</u> x <u>glaucescens</u>) are not expected in central or southern British Columbia.

The interbreeding between glaucescens and argentatus is currently restricted by geographical conditions and by partially formed premating isolating mechanisms of marine/fresh-water nesting habitat preferences and assortative mating patterns. The rate of hybridization could increase in the Gulf of Alaska if the current level of environmental disturbance, in the form of large-scale fisheries, remains high. The development of intensive fisheries in Alaska within the last seventy years has led to increasing amounts of offal and similar garbage in the environment. Large-scale, foreign-flag, factory ship fisheries have developed off Alaskan coasts within approximately the last fifteen years. These factory ships discharge thousands of tons of fish waste annually into the sea (cf. Wahl and Heinemann, 1979). Onshore in Alaska, at Dutch Harbor, as an example, commercial institutions processed about five million kilograms of crab a week during the 1978 season (Morgen, 1979). These factories also produce vast amounts of organic waste. The resulting food supply will enhance survival of coastal gull populations and potentially accelerate rates of gene flow between previously isolated Larus populations (cf. Ingolfsson, 1970).

6.6 <u>The Geological and Evolutionary History of the argentatus -</u> glaucescens Contact

The Pacific Northwest is divided into two radically different climatic and ecological regions: the coastal and interior environments, which are separated by high ranges of mountains. Both coastal and interior regions of the Pacific Northwest were subjected to profound geological and climatic changes during the late Pleistocene and early Holocene times. Beginning approximately 25,000 years ago, the main Wisconsin glaciation developed and lasted some 12,000 years on the coast and about 3000 years longer in the interior (Borden, 1979). At its maximum extent, the main Wisconsin glaciation buried all of British Columbia as well as adjoining coastal areas in northwest Washington State and southeastern Alaska under the vast Cordilleran Ice Sheet. West of the Cascades, a massive glacial lobe extended from the Coast Mountains of British Columbia southward through the Straits of Georgia and adjoining Puget Sound lowlands, reaching its maximum extent slightly south of 47° N Latitude approximately 15,000 years ago (Borden, 1979).

The ancestral <u>Larus argentatus</u> populations probably came out of eastern Siberia during the early Pleistocene (Stegmann, 1934). These ancestral populations spread in both easterly and westerly directions across the Eurasian land mass, and crossed the Bering Land Bridge into the North American continent (Stresemann and Timofeeff-Ressovsky, 1947; Hopkins, 1962; Haag; 1962). Expanding ice masses of the late Pleistocene subsequently separated the ancestral <u>Larus argentatus</u> populations, forcing them into refugia in Europe, Asia, and North America during successive glaciations (Geyr von Schweppenburg, 1938). One group was pushed back by the continental glaciation to an interior refugium known as Greater Beringia (Chukotka, Bering Land Bridge, Yukon-Tanana uplands, and western Yukon Territory). The other group was forced to retreat southward along the Pacific Coastline to the Puget Sound region.

During their long period of separation, morphological differences evolved between the coastal population, and the population in the northern interior. The interior Alaskan gull population remained essentially connected to Eurasian populations during the glaciation period. This population was flexible and adapted to a wide variety of ecological niches, being an obligatory migrant to marine environments during the winters.

While a land-bridge connected Alaska and Siberia and Alaska and western Yukon Territory were environmentally more a part of Asia than North America, the ancestors of the northern-interior gene pool (proto-<u>argentatus</u>), though marginally located, maintained gene exchange with related Eurasian populations (<u>vegae</u>, <u>taimyrensis</u>).

By contrast, the isolated, coastal-southern gull population (proto-<u>glaucescens</u>) evolved and differentiated as it adapted to marine regions near glacier fronts. The Puget Sound lowland of Washington and southwestern British Columbia became ice-free about 13,500 to 11,500 years ago and more northerly areas only slightly later (Borden, 1979). The contraction of coastal glaciers was followed by a rapid range expansion of proto-<u>glaucescens</u> northward along the Pacific Coast, similar to the situation today in Glacier Bay, as breeding gull populations colonize recently deglaciated areas.

In the interior of British Columbia and in southwestern Yukon Territory, as well as in the passes through the Coast Mountains, glaciers remained longer. By about 10,000 years ago, Cordilleran ice had vanished from the southern Canadian plateau. Access from unglaciated areas of the northern interior to deglaciated parts of the intermontaine region may have developed about 9500 to 10,000 years ago. In early Holocene times, an ancestral <u>argentatus</u> population, adapted to boreal lakes and rivers, but possessing the capacity to colonize marine regions, expanded as soon as deglaciation would allow into the subarctic interior of British Columbia and moved southeast along the retreating base of the Wisconsin glaciers, across southern Canada, to the Great Lakes region, and eventually colonized the Eastern Seaboard.

The two gull populations which expanded into newly available

territory during the late Pleistocene and early Holocene times, had evolved certain morphological (colorimetric) differences and habitat preferences during their period of separation, but they appear to have been derived from a common ancestral group before the main Wisconsin glaciation. During early post-glacial time, proto-<u>argentatus</u> moved southward through the interior, and proto-<u>glaucescens</u> moved northward along the coast. These two populations eventually encountered each other where the major geographical barrier dividing the coastal and interior environments was incomplete. Genetic contact was probably established when the <u>argentatus</u> populations followed one or more recently deglaciated river valleys through the coastal mountain ranges to reach to northern Pacific coast and returned.

6.7 <u>Alternative Hypotheses for the Narrow Hybrid Zone Between</u> argentatus and glaucescens

This description of the two forms and the environment in which they meet presents the basis of the <u>argentatus</u> - <u>glaucescens</u> interaction. The two colorimetrically different but interfertile taxa, which evolved in dissimilar natural environments, are interbreeding in a zone of contact in southern Alaska. In addition to the rapid geological and successional changes in coastal southern Alaska, certain aspects of the environment are becoming progressively altered by human influence, notably by the development of intensive fisheries, producing increasing amounts of fish offal and similar garbage.

Four alternative theoretical hypotheses for the existence of a narrow hybrid zone between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were explored in search of the best explanation for the data collected. These hypotheses are not mutually exclusive, and the "best fit" for the southern Alaskan Larus situation appears to involve a combination of elements of two of them (see below). The four hypotheses are known as the (1) ephemeral-zone, (2) the dynamic equilibrium, (3) the hybrid superiority, and (4) the ecotone-disclimax hypotheses.

The ephemeral-zone hypothesis states that hybridization will end either in speciation or fusion of the hybridizing taxa by means of introgression (Dobzhansky, 1940, 1951; Sibley, 1957, 1959, 1961; Wilson, 1965; Remington, 1968; Moore, 1977). This hypothesis is inappropriate to the argentatus - glaucescens contact for several reasons. Speciation requires selective pressure against those individuals which form mixed pairs, and is to be expected if the populations have diverged to the extent that the hybrids are less fit than the parental phenotypes; Otherwise the hybrids would serve as a bridge for introgressive hybridization. Historical data on the duration and extent of the contact are not available, other than from Williamson and Pevton (1963) in Cook Inlet. This study reveals that natural selection was apparently not acting against hybrids in the coastal environment, at least through the fledging stage (cf. Results, Section 5.10). Further, analysis of adult morphology indicates intermediate adults are common and reproduce as well as "pure" types within the contact zone (cf. Results, Sections 5.1 - 5.6). The viable and fertile hybrids could serve as a bridge for introgressive hybridization. However, evidence suggests that coastal glaucescens genes are not penetrating interior argentatus populations to the degree that the converse is occurring. Therefore, rapid speciation or fusion of these two forms is not occurring, although the glaucescens population are increasing in variability (cf. Discussion, Section 6.2).

The dynamic equilibrium hypothesis, as postulated by Bigelow (1965) and discussed by Moore (1977), requires influxes of genes from both parental populations. The hypothesis has aspects which apply to the southern Alaskan Larus contact zone. The spring migration pattern of argentatus from offshore wintering areas, which extend from the Gulf of Alaska to southern California (Sanger, 1973; Harrington, 1975), towards breeding localities in interior Alaska and the Yukon, includes river valleys such as those of the Alsek and Susitna. These rivers pass through major mountain barriers, such as the Alaska and St. Elias Ranges. Local glaucescens populations at colonies near river mouths may receive substantial influxes of argentatus genes, as well as glaucescens genes from other colonies. Continued immigration of "naive" individuals could swamp evolution of isolating mechanisms. Hoffman et al. (1978), using computer simulation techniques, suggested that the continued immigration of both parental types is assisting in maintenance of the apparently stable glaucescens - occidentalis contact zone in western Washington State. Bigelow (1965) proposed that stable hybrid zones might result from a dynamic balance between gene flow and selection against hybrids. He suggested that steep selection gradients on either side of the contact zone might inhibit introgression, and that the evolution of antihybridization mechanisms in the restricted zone of contact might be disrupted by migrants moving into the restricted zone from more extensive areas of allopatry. To some extent this does occur in southern Alaska, where argentatus move through the study area during spring migration.

The <u>hybrid superiority hypothesis</u> states that hybrids are actually more fit than the parental phenotypes in the restricted regions in which they occur (Anderson, 1949; Muller, 1952; Hagen, 1967; Short, 1969, 1970, 1972; Littlejohn and Watson, 1973; Moore, 1977). Data from the southern Alaskan <u>Larus</u> contact zone indicate evidence of hybrid fertility, backcrossing, morphological intermediacy, and hybrid viability (cf. Results), but these do not imply superiority. Hybrids which select like types as mating partners could theoretically increase their reproductive fitness by production of offspring adapted to the intermediate environment.

The concept that ecological factors are most important in determining the fitness of these hybrids is central to the development of the hybrid superiority hypothesis (Moore, 1977). The extent of a contact zone could be determined by the range of ecological conditions to which the parental types are less well adapted. It has also been stated that most hybrid zones are narrow and occur at the juxtaposition of the ranges of the parental populations (Moore, 1977). The <u>argentatus</u> - <u>glaucescens</u> contact zone within this study area is clearly narrow and at the interface between the two parental populations (see also Short, 1969; Fig. 1). However, the extent of the <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>argentatus</u> contact zone is apparently determined by geographical rather than ecological conditions, and there is no evidence that the intermediates are better adapted to this zone than are the parental types.

The <u>ecotone-disclimax hypothesis</u> is based on the observation that most stable hybrid zones appear to occur in ecological conditions that are ecotones, disclimax, or perpetually disturbed habitats (Moore, 1977). This explanation has aspects which apply to the <u>argentatus</u> - <u>glaucescens</u> contact zone. The mixed populations of gulls are found when <u>argentatus</u> of the interior boreal lakes and rivers meet the coastal <u>glaucescens</u> at the mouths of rivers and in recently deglaciated fjords. The occurrence of the zone of overlap and hybridization also appears to correlate

with a change in climatic conditions from west coast marine to boreal interior, or in the case of the recently deglaciated fjords, from west coast marine to circumstances which mimic arctic conditions.

River valleys are among the most variable of environments (Anderson, 1949). River action may drastically alter previously existing conditions within a short time. The relationship between disturbed environments and hybridization is typical of many cases of hybridization (Anderson, 1949; Grant, 1971; Moore, 1977, Corbin and Sibley, 1977). The greater the number of gene differences between the parental types, the greater will be the number of special new habitats (in a broad sense, including time-energy budget and feeding preferences) necessary for the segregants. Presumably, the genetic differences between argentatus and glaucescens are not especially great. Theoretically, if F2 and subsequent generations are to survive and reproduce, there must be environments not only with intermediate habitats, but also environments which present possible recombinations of the contrasting differences of the parental environments. The theoretical expected intermediate habitat for these two gull forms would be a fresh water / salt water mosaic within a mixed west coast marine - boreal forest environment. This is precisely the environment near the mouth of the Alsek and Susitna Rivers in southern Alaska.

Zones of contact (cf. Mayr, 1963) usually involved only a small portion of the complete ranges of the participating populations. The vast majority of both <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> populations breed outside this particular contact zone, although <u>glaucescens</u> is in genetic contact with two other forms, <u>hyperboreus</u> (Strang, 1977), and <u>occidentalis</u> (Hoffman et al., 1978), to the north and south, respectively. The

continuation of hybridization in the southern Alaskan contact zone may result from the very sharp boundary between the two environments in which <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> usually breed, in this case the radical separation of interior Alaska and northwestern Canada from coastal Alaska by very high mountain ranges. The abrupt separation allows such a small fraction of each form to be sympatric with the other at river mouths, bays, and recently deglaciated fjordlands, that gene flow to these <u>ecotones</u> may swamp development of complete ethological pre-mating isolating mechanisms (Jackson, 1973). <u>L. glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> are <u>not</u> in contact over a broad area. If they were, then theoretical requirements would be present for rapid evolution of antihybridization mechanisms and the end of introgression.

Pioneering gull populations in recently deglaciated fjordlands are within a partially different selective framework, even though the environment is a dynamic <u>ecotone</u>. Whenever retreat of ice masses is rapid, as within the last 200 years in Glacier Bay, large areas are opened for colonization. Tinbergen (1953) noted that hybridization is characteristic of pioneering populations. When the pioneering individuals, for example, <u>argentatus</u> phenotypes, arrive in the recently deglaciated environment, they are unable to find conspecific mates. Thus, even though their pre-mating isolating mechanisms could be as completely developed as those in the eastern Canadian arctic (Smith, 1966b), the threshold of the pioneering <u>argentatus</u> may eventually diminish to a low enough level that they hybridize with <u>glaucescens</u> rather than not reproduce at all (cf. pp. 82 - 86, <u>in Blair, 1961). L. argentatus</u> is distinctly less common than <u>glaucescens</u> within the fjordlands of Glacier Bay. Individual <u>argentatus</u> may not find conspecific mates, and the instinctive mating drive may eventually overcome the inhibitory restraint of differing speciesspecific recognition signals and mixed <u>argentatus</u> x <u>glaucescens</u> pairs are formed. The viable offspring, with recombinant genomes, may have a selective advantage in the rapidly changing environment.

Man, in addition to catastrophic natural forces, creates new, artificial ecological niches in which hybrid segregants might survive and reproduce (Anderson, 1949; Sibley, 1950, 1954; Sibley and West, 1958, Sibley and Sibley, 1954, Corbin and Sibley, 1977). Some of these artificial niches are of definite types. For instance, natural plant hybrids are often restricted to man-disturbed environments, i.e., they are weeds in an ecological sense (Anderson, 1949; Grant, 1971, Moore, 1977). Most stable hybrid zones appear to occur in ecological conditions which conform to Wright and Lowe's (1968) definition of "weed" habitat (in Moore, 1977). Some of the most important artificial feeding niches for Larus gulls are garbage dumps, sewage outfalls, and concentrations of fish offal around canneries and fish processing plants. L. argentatus in particular is an excellent example of a vertebrate "weedy" species, rapidly increasing in numbers and expanding its range on the East Coast of North America, in Britain and Europe, L. argentatus is pre-adapted to man-disturbed environments and to use artificial food (Drury, pers. comm.). Continued rapid development in coastal Alaska, particularly of fisheries and petrochemical industries, will lead to increased contact between Larus populations, assist in the survival of hybrid forms, facilitate gene flow between colonies, and after a period of enhanced variability, may even lead to a new adaptive peak in these commensal gulls (cf. Discussion, Secton 6.5).

In summary, it is apparent that the hypotheses discussed above are

not mutually exclusive. In the study area, the "best fit" appears to include elements of the dynamic equilibrium and ecotone-disclimax hypotheses. <u>L. glaucescens</u> colonies at mouths of rivers providing migration routes to interior Alaska receive regular influxes of <u>argentatus</u> genes. Mixed populations of gulls are also found in rapidly changing environments such as recently deglaciated fjords. The occurrence of the zone of overlap and hybridization also appears to correlate with a change in climatic conditions from west coast marine to boreal interior, or to circumstances which mimic arctic conditions. The geographically restricted narrow zone of overlap and hybridization appears potentially stable in its present configuration, although rapid resource development in coastal Alaska may increase gene flow between gulls in environments disturbed by the availability of fish offal and similar refuse.

5.8 <u>Relationship of the Findings of this Study to the Circumpolar</u> Formenkreis through Eastern Siberia

Dr. Alexander A. Kistchinski of the Soviet Academy of Sciences (pers. comm.) reports a <u>Larus</u> situation on the eastern side of the Bering Strait similar to that in Alaska. Species composition differs slightly. <u>L</u>. <u>glaucescens</u> breeds on the Aleutian chain and extends into Soviet territory only on the Commander Islands¹, where Ludmila V. Firsova of the Ornithology Department, Zoological Institute, Leningrad, has been studying the breeding biology of <u>glaucescens</u> (Fig. 38). She also reports a mixed pair, which produced viable offspring, of <u>L</u>. <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>L</u>. <u>schistisagus</u>, the Slaty-backed Gull², breeding at Korf Bay, on the northern Kamchatka Peninsula (Kistchinski, pers. comm.).

The Slaty-backed Gull occupies the coastal niche of glaucescens

¹ Reference specimens are AMNH 745216, 745218, 745221, 745223, 745228.
² The type specimen is Larus schistisagus Stejneger, USNM 92885.



Fig. 38.

on the eastern shore of the Sea of Okhotsk and the Kamchatka Peninsula. L. argentatus vegae inhabits interior northeastern Siberia, as L.a. smithsonianus occupies interior Alaska. A zone of overlap and probable hybridization exists between schistisagus and vegae where rivers descend from the northern Koryak Highlands and enter the Bering Sea (Fig. 38). L. schistisagus typically nests on cliffs facing the Bering Sea, and vegae usually nests in scattered pairs on subarctic rivers and lakes. However, Portenko (1963; cf. Vaurie, 1965) and Kistchinski (pers. comm.) found vegae and schistisagus breeding sympatrically on sea cliffs of the Northern Bering Sea from Cape Barykov to the mouth of the Khatyrka River and in the river deltas of the southern Korvak Highlands. Birds breeding in these river deltas may serve as a partial gene bridge connecting coastal with interior populations, forging another link in the circumpolar Formenkreis. These settings are remarkably similar to those found in Alaska, e.g., the Alsek River Delta at Dry Bay, and the Susitna River Delta near Anchorage, where interior coastal populations hybridize.

The following species composition serves as an example of those gulls breeding on sea cliffs in the northern Koryak Highlands: about 5% <u>hyperboreus</u>, 70% <u>schistisagus</u>, 5% <u>vegae</u>, and 20% probable intermediates exhibiting a wide variety of characteristics of both <u>vegae</u> and <u>schistisagus</u>. Portenko (1963) believed that <u>schistisagus</u> and <u>vegae</u> should be regarded as conspecific, Firsova and Kistchinski (pers. comm.) now believe that the binomial nomenclature should be retained, since parental types are present in the mixed colonies. <u>L.a. vegae</u> and <u>L.</u> <u>schistisagus</u> coexist in a narrow zone of overlap and hybridization, and should be treated as semispecies.

L. hyperboreus breeds northward from the Anadyr Ridge on the coastal lowlands of Siberia, where it is in sympatry with vegae on the subarctic and arctic lakes and offshore islands. L. hyperboreus pallidissimus¹ nests on arctic coastal cliffs and lowland shores westward across Northern Siberia. and on the periphery of Wrangel Island. Mixed colonies of vegae and hyperboreus are found in many locations on the Arctic Coast of Siberia, with no interbreeding. L. hyperboreus also nests on low shores and coastal cliffs southwards to the northern Koryak Highlands, where it coexists with L.a. vegae and L. schistisagus. Small numbers of L.a. vegae breed in U.S. territory on St. Lawrence Island, where they nest on cliffs (Fay and Cade, 1959; Searing, 1976; Drury, pers. comm.). St. Lawrence Island is a fragment of the former Bering Land Bridge that the ancestral populations of argentatus moved from eastern Siberia into North America during the early Pleistocene. From St. Lawrence Island, or the Siberian coastline, L. argentatus vegae may move to coastal Alaska² since Drurv (pers. comm.) recently reported a mixed pair of L. hyperboreus barrovianus and L.a. vegae on the Seward Peninsula of Alaska. Ingolfsson (1970) considered aberrant hyperboreus from western Alaska result from hybridization with vegae which are known to stray over to the Alaskan mainland³ (Gabrielson and Lincoln, 1959).

In addition to the generally E - W or circumpolar connection of the

¹USNM 589394 is an example of this form, collected at St. Matthews Island, Alaska, by I. Gabrielson.

 2 <u>L.a. vegae</u> appear regularly in fall migration in the western Aleutians (Gibson, pers. comm.). UAM 3568 is an example collected at Shemya Island.

³The type of "Larus <u>nelsoni</u> Henshaw" (USNM 97253), collected at St. Michaels, Alaska, by E.W. Nelson, on June 20, 1880, had in fact been identified as a <u>hyperboreus</u> x <u>vegae</u> hybrid by Dwight (1925).
<u>Formenkreis</u> in the subarctic and arctic regions, there is a N - S connection along the Pacific Coast of North America, at least along the Alaskan, western Canadian, and northwestern U.S. coasts, as exemplified by the <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>hyperboreus</u>, <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>argentatus</u>, and <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>occidentalis</u> contacts, as outlined below with a discussion of their taxonomy.

6.9 Taxonomy of Large White-headed Gulis of the North Pacific Rim

The effects of glaciation, as discussed above, are particularly apparent where pairs of "semispecies" are formed (Rand, 1948). These are cases in which two forms, or groups of forms, meet in a narrow zone of overlap. The relationships of the forms to each other are neither those of species, nor of subspecies, but combine characteristics of both, in a stage of evolution between species and of subspecies, called semispecies. Gene exchange would still be possible among semispecies, but not as free as among conspecific populations (Amadon, 1966). Mayr (1969) considered semispecies as transient intermediate steps in the evolution of full species. Hoffman, Weins, and Scott (1978) suggested that the semispecies concept should be further expanded to include such apparently stable zones of overlap and hybridization as the <u>glaucescens</u> -<u>occidentalis</u> contact in Western Washington State¹ (Fig. 1).

Data gathered in southern Alaska during research for this dissertation support the concept developed by Hoffman <u>et al</u>. (1978). Similar to the <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>occidentalis</u> contact, the morphology and mating patterns of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> demonstrate that Short's (1969) and Mayr's

¹A number of <u>glaucescens</u> x <u>occidentalis</u> specimens are housed in the Washington State Museum under accession numbers 11605, 12866, 12295, 12299, 13402, 13441, and 13444.

(1963) criteria for conspecificity, i.e., that the zone of contact should be characterized by random mating, complete intergradation, absence of pure parental types, with introgression into adjacent parental populations, are not met in southern Alaska. Short (1969) first suggested that <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> are semispecies. The results of my study confirm that suggestion.

However, evidence from western Alaska suggests that the hyperboreus alaucescens contact¹ may meet the criteria for conspecificity. L. hyperboreus barrovianus², breeding in northern and western Alaska, as well as in the western Canadian arctic to the MacKenzie Delta, is characterized by smaller size and darker mantle than other hyperboreus subspecies (Rand, 1952; Manning et al., 1956; Macpherson, 1961). Johansen (1958) suggested that barrovianus showed a probable glaucescens influence. Swarth (1938) found gulls on Nunivak Island off western Alaska to be nearly completely intermediate between glaucescens and barrovianus. Strang (1977) found a uniform level of glaucescens characters in populations of barrovianus on the Yukon - Kuskokwim Delta of western Alaska (Fig. 1). However, a character gradient has not been demonstrated between these two forms, nor have mixed colonies or mixed pairs been located. The contact between barrovianus and glaucescens clearly bears further investigation. The available evidence does suggest that the contact between barrovianus and glaucescens has not been restricted by geographical

A reference specimen from this contact zone is USNM 589396.

²The type specimen of this form is <u>Larus barrovianus</u> Ridgway (USNM 88913).

barriers, and is of considerable antiquity, especially as compared to that of the <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>argentatus</u> zone of southern Alaska. Further, <u>argentatus</u>, <u>glaucescens</u>, and <u>occidentalis</u> apparently form a chain of semispecies. <u>L</u>. <u>glaucescens</u> is the "key" link in this chain, since it interbreeds with every other large white-headed gull with which it comes in contact, including <u>hyperboreus</u>.¹ This chain is in turn linked through <u>L</u>. <u>argentatus</u> vegae and <u>L</u>. <u>schistisagus</u> of the Siberian coastline with the circumpolar <u>argentatus</u>, <u>cachinnans</u> - <u>fuscus</u> Formenkreis (Table 1).

This study designates the Glaucous-winged Gull as a semispecies to the circumpolar Herring Gull superspecies. Thus, the appropriate taxonomic treatment for the Glaucous-winged Gull is <u>Larus [argentatus] glaucescens</u> (cf. Amadon, 1966)

¹ Ingolfsson (1970) reported extensive interbreeding between <u>hyper-</u> boreus and <u>argentatus</u> on Iceland. See Current State of Knowledge, Section 2.22.

7,0 SUMMARY

This study investigated plumage and soft part colors, nesting habitat selection, mating patterns and hatching and fledging success of large gulls (<u>Larus</u>) in colonies in southern Alaska. The research was approached through a comparative field study of allopatric and sympatric gull populations.

The evolution and systematics of the Herring Gull group were introduced in Chapter 1, after two Alaskan members of the genus <u>Larus</u> were described. Questions were posed in search of answers to pre- and postmating isolating mechanisms between the Herring Gull (<u>Larus argentatus</u>) and the Glaucous-winged Gull (<u>Larus glaucescens</u>). The intent in answering these questions was to clarify the taxonomic and ecological relationships between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>, relate the Alaskan situation to the larger circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u>, and aid in further understanding the complex systematics of the Herring Gull group.

The literature on the morphology and evolution of Palearctic and Nearctic Larus gulls was summarized in Chapter 2. There was general agreement in the literature on the origin of yellow-footed and pinkfooted gulls. An ancestral Larus population was divided by the East Siberian Ice Barrier into two major refugia. Populations that evolved into the pink-footed <u>argentatus</u> group were forced to the east side of the barrier, and the populations that evolved into the yellow-footed <u>cachinnans-fuscus</u> group were displaced to the west side in the Aral-Caspian area. The ancestral <u>argentatus</u> dispersed in interglacial times over North America, leading to gradual development of the pink-footed American group, which includes <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>occidentalis</u>, among others.

Post-glacially, <u>argentatus</u> emigrated to Europe from eastern North America, coming into contact with the westward expanding <u>cachinnans-fuscus</u> group, to which <u>argentatus</u> was, in general, reproductively isolated. The classic overlap of a "ring" species (<u>Formenkreis</u>) was thus formed. The connecting links in the <u>Formenkreis</u> were the sympatric populations of <u>Larus</u> gulls in central Siberia, which hybridize on a large scale¹.

Evidence was presented linking the western North American <u>Larus</u> populations with the circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u>. A review of the evolutionary status of large white-headed gulls of the West Coast suggested none of these <u>Larus</u> populations were completely reproductively isolated by pre-mating mechanisms, since they interbreed in narrow Zones of sympatry. Breeding biology of large white-headed gulls was reviewed to assist in understanding the dynamics of the interbreeding forms. Four hypotheses, which were pertinent to the theoretical aspects of interbreeding between <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> in southern Alaska, were presented in a brief section on narrow hybrid zones in vertebrates.

The study areas were discussed in Chapter 3. After an introduction to the general environmental conditions on the south coast of Alaska and adjoining interior regions, eight individual study sites were described. These sites consisted of six coastal colonies located between Juneau and Prince William Sound, an offshore island in the Gulf of Alaska, and a colony on a fresh-water lake in interior Alaska, north of Valdez. The geology of the coastal and offshore sites was changing rapidly because of recent deglaciation, major earthquakes, and floods. Slope and substrate of the study colonies varied from horizontal gravel bars to nearly vertical cliff faces. Two coastal colonies supported interbreeding

Cf. L.a. taimyrensis, Table I.

<u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u>. The interior colony at Lake Louise was composed of only <u>argentatus</u>, and only <u>glaucescens</u> nested on the offshore Middleton Island. Principal periods of study for these colonies were given.

Materials and methods were presented in Chapter 4. Techniques used to study nesting habitat selection, mating patterns, and reproductive productivity of Glaucous-winged, Herring Gull, and intermediate forms were described. The Hybrid Index was discussed as a method for analyzing hybridization. Numerical scores were assigned to the variation exhibited by the parental types and intermediate forms. Colors analyzed in the study were identified and recorded by the Munsell System of Color Notation.

Chapter 5 contained the results of the research. The study included such colorimetric characters as primary feather pigmentation, iris, and orbital ring colors. The primary feather pigmentation (WHI) of southern Alaskan gulls was analyzed in detail. Individual gulls within the study area were highly variable, and the variation included primaries the same shade as the mantle, with no observable pattern of melanin deposition, to a distinctly delimited and extensive black pattern including much of the outermost primaries. The complete range of variation in primary feather pigmentation between <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> types was found within an individual colony located at Dry Bay, southeast of Yakutat, Alaska.

The range of iris coloration in gulls within the study area included very dark brown, dark brown, brown, light yellow, and bright yellow, forming an uninterrupted continuum from populations most like <u>glaucescens</u> to populations clearly identifiable as argentatus.

Qualitative comparisons of the frequencies of the individual Munsell categories of iris hue, value, and chroma, and the combinations thereof, revealed that neighboring colonies on the Copper River Delta had strikingly similar distributions of iris hues. The mixed populations at North Marble and Dry Bay shared similar, although not identical distributions of iris hues and values. The distribution of iris values in the irides of the Strawberry Reef population resembled that of the population inhabiting Dry Bay. The Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef populations were closely related, although Strawberry Reef additionally resembled the hybrid population at Dry Bay.

The relationship between gull iris color and primary feather pigmentation in southern Alaska was statistically significant. Light-eyed gulls had dark primaries, dark-eyed gulls had light primaries, and gulls with intermediate shades of melanin in the primaries had irides of various intermediate shades. However, exceptions were common. The variation and distribution of iris color, although related to primary feather pigmentation, were not likely to function in species recognition between the light-eyed <u>argentatus</u> and the dark-eyed <u>glaucescens</u>, since the two forms were linked by a complete range of intermediates.

The extreme pigments in orbital rings of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> in southern Alaska were dark pink and bright yellow, but six intermediate hues existed, and more than one hue may occur in an individual eye-ring. Each colony examined had a different mean composite orbital ring, but statistical tests confirmed that the orbital ring colors of the populations at ends of the spectrum were connected by increasing amounts of yellow pigment. Orbital rings of some individual gulls in the study

area were uniformly pigmented. Other gulls possessed orbital rings with two or three hues. The population at Dry Bay had the greatest distribution of uniformly pigmented orbital rings, as well as the most even distribution of orbital rings with combination hues. The function of orbital ring pigmentation as a species-specific recognition character was unlikely, because of the spectrum of variation. However, the variability may function as a character for individual or population recognition.

Hybrid indices demonstrated three partially independent clines of increasing <u>argentatus</u> influence extending from the offshore Middleton Island to the interior Lake Louise. Primary feathers became darker and yellow pigments increased in the irides and orbital rings in gull populations along this axis. The major source of <u>argentatus</u> genes along the North Gulf Coast of Alaska was the hybrid colony at Dry Bay, which served as a bridge between coastal and interior Larus populations.

Three statistical tests were conducted on the mating patterns of gulls in 112 pairs at Dry Bay as additional evidence for the hypothesis. These tests indicated that mating patterns were significantly assortative; i.e., the gulls tended to choose mates similar to themselves, but in some cases selected mates of widely different phenotypes, forming mixed pairs and apparent backcrosses. The combination of both iris color and primary feather pigmentation was considerably more important than iris color in mate selection.

Both allopatric and sympatric <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were flexible in nesting habitat selection in southern Alaska. Nest site substrate ranged from gravel bars to cliff faces, including from 0% to over 50%

slope. Favored sites for both forms were grassy island slopes.

Clutch size, hatching success, and fledging success of <u>Larus</u> gulls in southern Alaska were examined for evidence of post-mating isolating mechanisms. While there were statistically significant annual and geographical differences in clutch size between <u>Larus</u> colonies in southern Alaska, populations of <u>argentatus</u> were not significantly different from mixed or glaucescens populations.

Rates of egg inviability (failure to hatch) in all colonies were low, and the differences between populations in frequencies of non-hatching eggs were not significant. Clutch size and fledging success of mixed versus "pure" pairs were also not significantly different within the mixed colony at Dry Bay.

Chapter 6 contained a discussion of the research results, beginning with a section on the allopatric hybridization of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls. Nesting habitat preferences and assortative mating patterms were incompletely formed pre-mating isolating mechanisms in the study area. The relationships between breeding populations of Glaucouswinged and Herring Gulls along the North Gulf Coast of Alaska were explored. Mixed populations of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> displayed degrees of reproductive isolation ranging from occasional interbreeding between pioneering individuals, through intergrades selecting like types as mating partners, to absorption of <u>argentatus</u> into variable populations of glaucescens.

The geological and evolutionary history of the <u>argentatus</u> - <u>glauces</u>cens contact was discussed in detail.

An ancestral Pacific Northwest Larus population most resembling

argentatus was separated into two groups about 25,000 years ago by the Cordilleran ice mass of the main Wisconsin glaciation. The isolated coastal form (proto-glaucescens), displaced south to the Puget Sound region, evolved on marine headlands resembling arctic environments in proximity to glacier fronts. This isolated form developed pale primaries characteristic of arctic Larus populations. The second gull population, displaced north to the Greater Beringia refugium in interior Alaska and the Yukon, bred on boreal lakes, migrated along river valleys, and wintered offshore in the Pacific from the Gulf of Alaska to southern California. This population remained in genetic contact with related Siberian populations of argentatus across the Bering Land Bridge until the world-wide rise in sea level approximately 10,000 years ago, which submerged the Bridge.¹ The retreat of the Cordilleran ice mass allowed both northern and southern gull populations to expand, but coastal mountains, broken only by major river systems, still separated the two gull populations as the glaucescens moved north along the coast. Small numbers of pioneers of the argentatus form colonized the southern Alaskan coast at river mouths and in recently deglaciated fjords. Hybridization occurred with glaucescens in these rapidly changing habitats, thus permitting one-way gene flow from the northern interior to the coastal southern gull population. Gene flow was primarily one-way for a variety of reasons. First, glaucescens with few exceptions did not breed in the interior. The interior environment, with restricted food availability

¹Rausch (1963) considers the term "bridge" for this connection is perhaps unfortunate, since by connotation it implies a narrow corridor. At the time of maximum exposure of the Bering-Chukchi platform, this isthmus was approximately equal in width to the present north-south dimension of Alaska.

and limited nesting space, could support only small populations of large gulls adapted to that specific environment. Second, the coastal environment, rich in food, provided little motivation to occupy the interior. Third, annual migration was normally obligatory for boreal <u>argentatus</u> and optional for coastal <u>glaucescens</u>. Interior lakes and rivers freeze, while the south coast of Alaska remains ice-free through the winter. The lack of a fully developed instinct for migration could be a strong selective pressure against <u>glaucescens</u> in interior environments. Recently fledged <u>glaucescens</u> or <u>glaucescens</u> x hybrids could not survive in the interior following failure to migrate from boreal lakes in the autumn.

This one-way gene flow in allopatric hybridization of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> led to increasing variability of the coastal <u>glaucescens</u> in iris, orbital ring, and primary feather pigmentation. The interior <u>argen-tatus</u>, by contrast, remained relatively monomorphic.

Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls are still largely allopatric except in restricted areas where intermediate habitat meets the preferences of both taxa. They are semispecies (in the amended definition of Lorkovic, 1958), displaying some of the characteristics of species, and some of subspecies (cf. Mayr, 1963; Amadon, 1966). The fact that they hybridize to a greater or lesser extent proves that they did not acquire complete reproductive isolation during their period of geographic separation.

The <u>glaucescens</u> - <u>argentatus</u> contact thus led to an unusual situation between the extremes of reinforcement of isolating mechanisms as when hybrids are selected against, and swamping of both parental populations when hybrids are not selected against (cf. Sibley, 1957). Selection

on hybrid genomes was at least neutral in the coastal environment, but potentially severe in the interior environment. The post-glacial coastal environment was severely disturbed by the 1964 earthquake, and is still subject to rapid geological changes, while the interior environment is relatively stable. The increased variability of coastal populations is thus potentially a selective advantage. Future development in coastal Alaska. particularly in fisheries and petrochemical industries, will increase contact between <u>Larus</u> populations and assist in the survival of hybrid forms in disturbed environments. The gene flow between large white-headed gull populations will likely increase in future years as a secondary consequence of human activities, and may even lead to a new adaptive peak in these commensal forms.

In the concluding section of the Discussion, the interbreeding between <u>Larus</u> gulls in southern Alaska was found to resemble that occurring between <u>Larus</u> gulls on the Pacific coast of Siberia, and the relationship to the circumpolar <u>Formenkreis</u> was indicated.

| × |
|----|
| - |
| - |
| ~ |
| |
| - |
| ۵. |
| α. |
| < |
| |
| |
| |
| — |
| • |
| - |
| 8 |

Hational Oceanic Data Format 035

RECORD FORMAT DESCRIPTION

RECORD NAME CLUTCH - DIRD COLONY DATA

| 14. Field Name | 15. Position | 16. Le | ngth | 17. Attri- | 18. Use and Meaning |
|------------------|--------------------------------|---------|-------|------------|---------------------|
| | from 1 measured in Bytes | Number | Units | butes | |
| File Type | | e | Bytes | A3 | Always '035' |
| file Identifier | 4 | 9 | Bytes | A6 | |
| Record Type | 10 | <u></u> | Bytes | IV | Always 'F' |
| Station Number | E | S | Bytes | A5 | Nest or ledge no. |
| Sample Date-Time | | | | | |
| Year | 16 | 2 | Bytes | 12 | (66~00 |
| Month | 18 | 2 | Bytes | 12 | 01-12 |
| Day | 20 | 2 | Bytes | 12 | 01-31 |
| Hour | 22 | 2 | Bytes | 12 | 00-23) |
| Taxonomic Code | 24 | 12 | Bytes | 112 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | _ | - | |

8.0 APPENDICES

| 14. Field Name | 15. | Position from 1 | 16. 1 | ength | 17. Attri- butes | 18. Use and Meaning |
|-----------------------|-----|----------------------|--------|-------|---------------------|---|
| | | measured in Bytes | Number | Units | | |
| Station Type Code | | 36 | · | Bytes | u | ']' = nest ']' - octr |
| | | | | | | <pre>c = lests '3' = ledge '4' = subcolony '5' = colony</pre> |
| Number of Eggs | | 37 | e | Bytes | 13 | Whole number |
| Number of Chicks | | 40 | e | Bytes | 13 | Whole number |
| Egg Mortality | | 43 | e | Bytes | 13 | Whole number |
| Chick Mortality | | 46 | . ຕ | Bytes | 13 | Whole number |
| Number of Incubators | | 49 | e | Bytes | 13 | Whole number |
| Number of Adult Birds | | 52 | 4 | Bytes | 14 | Whole Number |
| Number of Nests | | 56 | e | Bytes | 13 | Whole Number |
| Egg Mortality | | | | | | |
| Cause Code (I) | | 59 | - | Bytes | Al | |
| Cause Code (II) | | 60 | Y | Bytes | Al | |
| Cause Code (111) | | 61 | - | Bytes | AI | |

8.1 APPEHDIX I (Continued)

| l4. Field Name | 15. Position from 1 | 16. L | ength | 17. Attri- butes | 18. Use and Meaning |
|------------------------------|------------------------|----------|-------|---------------------|---------------------|
| | measured in Bytes | Number | Units | | |
| Chick Mortality | | | | | |
| Cause Code (1) | 62 | | Bytes | Al | |
| Cause Code (II) | 63 | | Bytes | Al | |
| Cause Code (III) | 64 | - | Bytes | AI | |
| Adult Activity Code | 65 | , | Bytes | AI | |
| Nest Condition Code | 66 | | Bytes | W | |
| Number of Adult Pairs | 67 | ~ | Bytes | 12 | Whole number |
| Number of Non-Breeding Birds | 69 | 2 | Bytes | 12 | Whole number |
| Number of adults | 'n | Q | Bytes | I6 | Whole number |
| Sequence Number | 11 | 4 | Bytes | 14 | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |

8.1 APPENDIX I (Continued)

8.2 APPENDIX II

GULL DATA FORM

<u>Larus argentatus</u> - <u>Larus glaucescens</u>

| 1. | Date 2. CollectedReleased Same date or |
|-----|---|
| 3. | Map Ref. # Location |
| | Nearest TownCountyState |
| | CountryCoordinates: LatLong |
| 4. | FWS band#(L. Tarsus-known age) (Rt. Tarsus-unknown age |
| 5. | Tarsus Color Band: White/iellow/Green/Red(Orange)/Blue/Black; |
| | Ref. #L or R Tarsus. 6. Plumage: 1 2 3 4+ or Specify |
| 7. | Age: L/HY/SY/TY/ATH (4th yr +). |
| 8. | Iris: |
| 9. | Eye Ring: |
| 10. | Primary Color: |
| 11. | Wing Hybrid Index:12. Feet & Legs |
| 13. | Inside of Mouth:14. Weight:gms |
| 15. | Sex: M or F . 16. Flattered Wing:mm 17. Tarus:mm |
| 18. | Culmen:mm. 19. Bill: Anterior Nares to Tip:mm |
| 20. | Bill: Depth at Posterior Nares:mm |
| 21. | Blood Smear Ref.# 22. Serum Sample Ref. # |
| 23. | Parasites: InternalExternal |
| 24. | Crop/Stomach Contents: |
| 25. | Photo: Yes/NoDate taken by whom |

- 26. Dye: Complete; Front ½ body; Rear ½ body; Left Side; Right Side; Other_____. Picric; nyansol; Rhod. B; Other_____
- 27. Other markings: (Specify): _____ Sketch: see Reverse
- Remarks: behavior of bird when released; location of release if different from site of capture, etc.

8.3 APPENDIX III

Munsell System of Color Notation

The following explanation is taken from <u>Munsell Color</u>, a private publication printed by Macbeth, a division of Kollmorgen Corporation, and is used with permission.

The Munsell notation system of equally spaced color scales provides a tool for expressing perceived color of an object and the color differences observed among a group of objects. The system of color notation identifies color in terms of three attributes, hue, value, and chroma. This method of color notation arranges the three attributes of color into orderly scales of equal visual steps: the scales are used as parameters for accurate specification and description of color under standard conditions of illumination and viewing.

The hue (H) notation of color indicates its relation to a visually equally-spaced scale of 100 hues.

The hue notation in this study is based upon three major hue names: Red (R), Yellow-Red (YR) and Yellow (Y), since these cover the range of pigmentation in orbital rings and irides.

The value (V) notation indicates the degree of lightness or darkness of a color in relation to a neutral grey scale, extending from absolute black to absolute white. The value symbol 0/ is used for absolute black, the symbol 10/ for absolute white.

The chroma (C) notation indicates the degree of departure of a given hue from a neutral grey of the same value. Chroma scales depend upon the strength (saturation) of the sample evaluated.

The complete Munsell Notation for a chromatic color is written symbolically: H V/C.

The complete notation for a sample of "vermillion" would be 5 R

6/14, while the notation for a sample of "rose" would be 5 R 5/4.

The notation for a neutral (achromatic) color, such as found in primary feather pigmentation of gulls, is written N V/. The notation of black, a very dark neutral, would be N2; the notation of white, a very light neutral, would be N9/; while the notation for grey, visually halfway between these two, would be N5/.

8.4 APPENDIX IV

Mensural Characters

Mensural characters were ascertained for 138 gulls in eight different populations which ranged from "pure" types <u>glaucescens</u> through various grades of "mixed" populations to "pure" type <u>argentatus</u>. The measurements, descriptive statistics, and analysis of variance for these populations are present in Tables 29, 30.

Populations of "pure" types and "mixed" populations of <u>argentatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> did not differ significantly in any dimension (p > .05) with one exception. The one exception in this study was that male <u>glaucescens</u> collected at Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef, neighboring colonies on the Copper River Delta, had significantly enlarged bill depth at posterior nares (p < .05) compared to any other colonies. The deeper bills common to males at both colonies suggested a closer relationship between these two populations than to any other groups. This finding is similar to that obtained by analysis of colorimetric characters. See Discussion, Section 6.4, for a further elaboration of these findings.

Comparison of Measurements

The standard morphological measurements of 138 adult gulls in eight populations are presented in an exploratory univariate analysis in Tables 29, 30. Since gulls are sexually dimorphic in body size and mensural characters, the sexes were analyzed separately. In spite of the small sample sizes, it is clear that there is a great deal of overlap in means, ranges, and standard deviations (Table 29). For

| Measurement | Colony | Composition | Mean | Range | S.D. |
|--------------------------------------|---|---|--|---|--|
| Cu]men | North Marble Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | arg. x <u>glauc</u> . arg. x <u>glauc</u> . <u>glauc.</u> <u>glauc.</u> <u>glauc.</u> <u>glauc.</u> <u>glauc.</u> | 59.8 59.7 59.2 59.1 59.9 | 57-62 57-64 55-64 55-64 55-64 55-64 57-63 | 2.06 2.36 2.31 2.31 1.46 1.97 |
| Bill: Anterior Nares to Tip | Lake Louise North Marble Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | .61e | 60.5 27.8 28.4 30.2 30.2 29.3 29.3 | 58-63 27.5-28.5 24.5-31 26-30 26-30 26-33 28-33 25-33 27-32 | 2.50 0.50 1.58 1.99 1.99 |
| Bill: Depth at Posterior Nares | Lake Louise North Marble Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordouse Lake Louise | | 28.5 19.9 21.4 20.3 20.3 20.5 | 28-29 18.7-20 18-22 19-21 27-31 18-23 18-23 19-25 20-21 | 0.50 0.65 1.04 1.13 1.13 1.24 1.24 0.50 |

| Measurenent | Colony | Composition | Mean | Range | s.D. |
|-------------|---|---|--|--|--|
| Tarsus | North Marble Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova Lake Louise | arg. x glauc. arg. x glauc. glauc. glauc. glauc. glauc. hyperbor. | 69.1 68.0 67.9 68.2 68.2 68.2 68.2 20.3 | 67-72 61-73 61-69 63-72 64-73.5 63-72 63-72 65-72 | 2.19 2.58 2.88 2.88 2.61 3.38 3.33 3.33 3.33 3.37 3.37 5.30 |
| 6u i M | North Marble Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova Lake Louise | 1 | 434.8 433.5 437.4 437.4 433.0 435.4 455.0 | 420-451 414-463 430-435 418-463 418-463 417-445 417-450 450-360 | 12.79 13.80 2.30 13.95 8.78 9.25 9.49 7.07 |

Table 29 continued.

Comparison of the Measurements (in Millimeters) of Sympatric and Allopatric Larus Gulls in Southern Alaska -- Females Table 30.

| Measurement | Calany | Composition | Mean | Range | S.D. |
|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Culmen | Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | arg. x glauc. glauc. glauc. glauc. glauc. lauc. | 53.6 53.8 53.1 54.2 54.2 | 50-57.5 50-57.5 50-55 52-53.5 51-60 50-58 | 2.09 2.78 1.80 1.24 2.33 2.65 |
| Bill: Anterior Nares to Tip | Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | | 26.6 26.5 24.9 25.8 25.8 25.8 25.8 | 24-31 22-29 22-27 26-28 23-29 24-29 | 1.83 2.42 1.64 1.48 2.32 |
| Bill: Depth at Posterior Nares | Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | | 18.5 19.5 19.1 19.0 | 17-22 17-20.5 18.5-21 18-20 17-20 17-23 | 1.30 1.28 0.76 0.89 1.08 2.19 |
| Tarsus | Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | | 65.6 62.9 61.4 62.3 62.3 62.3 | 62-70 60-67 57-67 61-64 -5 56-69 58-64 | 2.24 1.12 1.37 3.29 2.83 |

| - |
|----------|
| <u>9</u> |
| Ð |
| - |
| C |
| - |
| ىد |
| - |
| - |
| |
| 0 |
| - |
| 0 |
| 3 |
| |
| a |
| <i>_</i> |
| 0 |
| |
| Ūφ. |
| |

| Measurement | Calony | Composition | Mean | Range | S.D. |
|-------------|--|--|--|--|---|
| H i ng | Dry Bay Haenke Island Strawberry Reef Copper Sands Egg Island Cordova | arg. x glauc. glauc. glauc. glauc. glauc. /hyperbor. | 419.7 412.2 421.3 414.8 416.9 410.5 | 400-450 403-424 410-435 412-418 400-445 400-425 | 12.38 9.44 9.81 2.50 11.91 10.85 |

example, the mean culmen measurements of the males from eight colonies were less than 1.5 mm apart; similarly, the mean culmen measurements for females from six colonies were less than 1.5 mm apart. By comparison, the difference of means of males as compared to female specimens in culmen length was greater than 5 mm.

However, in the interests of completeness, F-ratios, the statistic appropriate to the analysis of variance, were computed on these data, using the SPSS-10 ONEWAY program. The program provides an analysis of variance that tests for significant differences in means between groups, and takes into account differences in sample sizes and degrees of freedom by groups. The F-test may require some qualification if the means are skewed. Since observed gull body measurements appear to approximate a normal distribution, the F-test should give a valid measurement of whether the differences are real.

The F-ratios for the measurements of female adult gulls indicated no significant differences between any of the populations examined (p > .05)(Table 31). However, for male gulls, the comparison first yielded a significant F-ratio at the 5 percent level for bill depth (at posterior nares) and bill length (anterior nares to tip) (Table 32). Using Tukey's (1977) methods for exploratory data analysis, two populations were selected for additional analysis, since they formed "detached points." This further exploration of the data revealed that the males in two colonies, Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef (neighboring colonies on the Copper River Delta) were the source of the significant variation. If the males from Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef were eliminated from the analysis, the F-ratio indicated no significant differences among the remaining six populations (Tables 33,34). Males

| Table 31. Analy: | sis of Variance (SPSS-1 For Ad | <pre>D ONEWAY) of Morpho ult Gulls (Female)</pre> | ogical Measurements | |
|------------------------|-----------------------------------|---|-----------------------|------------------|
| Captured/Collected at: | Dry Bay, Haenke Islan | d. Strawberry Reef. | Copper Sands (S), Egg | Island, Cordova. |
| Body Part | Degrees o Between Groups | f Freedom Within Groups | F-ratio | Significance |
| Wing | S | 41 | 0.741 | n.s.* |
| Tarsus | £ | 41 | 2.515 | n.s. |
| Culmen | 5 | 41 | 0.483 | n.s. |
| Bill: Anterior Nares 1 | to Tip 5 | 42 | 1.015 | n.s. |
| Bill: Depth at Poster | ior Nares 5 | 42 | 1.079 | n.s. |
| | | | | |

| 1 | |
|---|--|
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| • | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| • | |
| 1 | |
| | |
| 1 | |
| 1 | |
| 1 | |
| - 1 | |
| - 1 | |
| - 1 | |
| | |
| | |
| 1 | |
| | |
| | |
| - i | |
| | |
| - 1 | |
| - 1 | |
| | |
| 1 | |
| - E | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| and a second | |
| | |
| والمحاصبة | |

 $\star n.s.$ = not significant at p < .01 or p < .05

| Captured/Collected at: | North Marble, D Egg Island, Cor | ry Bay, Haen dova, Lake L | ke Island, ouise. | Strawberry Reef, | Copper Sands (S), |
|------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------|------------------|---|
| Body Part | Deg Between G | rees of Free roups Wit | dom hin Groups | F-ratio | Significance |
| Wing | 1 | | 94 | 1.143 | n.s. |
| Tarsus | | | 94 | 1.197 | n.s. |
| Culmen | 1 | | 94 | 0.593 | n.s. |
| Bill: Anterior Nares 1 | to Tip 7 | | 94 | 2.320 | significant at p < ,05 n.s. at p < .01 |
| Bill: Depth at Poster | ior Nares 7 | | ŷ6 | 3.526 | significant at p < .0l |
| | | | | | |

Analysis of Variance (SPSS-10 ONEWAY) of Morphological Measurements For Adult Gulls (Male)

Table 32.

ł

*.s. = not significant at p < .01 or p < .05

(Since analysis of variance has given a significant F-ratio at two variables, further analysis is needed.)

| lable 33. Alla 9 | 01.10A IN \$15 | For Adu | lt Gulls (Male) | pinoregical measu | | |
|------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|
| Captured/Collected at: | North Marbl WITHOUT Cop | e, Dry Bay, per Sands, S | Haenke Island, trawberry Reef | Egg Island, Corc | ova, Lake Louise; | |
| Bcdy Part | Betwe | Degrees of en Groups | Freedom Within Groups | F-ratio | Significance | |
| Wing | | 2 | 76 | 1.554 | n.s.* | |
| Tarsus | | 5 | 76 | 1.503 | η.5. | |
| Culmen | | 5 | 76 | 0.565 | n.s. | |
| Bill; Anterior Nares t | o Tip | 5 | 76 | 1.593 | η.s. | |
| Bill: Depth at Posteri | or Nares | 5 | 76 | 0.456 | n.s. | |
| | | | | | | |

Analysis of Variance (SPSS-10 ONEWAY) of Moroholonical Measurements Tahla 27

*n.s. = not significant at p < .01 or p < .05

| Measurements |
|-------------------------------------|
| of Morphological (Male) |
| (SPSS-10 ONEWAY) For Adult Gulls |
| Analysis of Variance |
| Table 34. |

| Captured/Collected at: | Strawberry Reef, Coppe | r Sands. | | |
|-------------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------|---------------|
| Body Part | Degrees of Between Groups | Freedom Within Groups | F-ratio | Significance |
| Wing | L | 18 | 0.431 | n.s. * |
| Tarsus | - | 18 | 0.510 | n.s. |
| Culmen | L | 18 | 1.431 | п.5. |
| Bill: Anterior Nares to | o Tip 1 | 18 | 3,442 | n.s. |
| Bill: Depth at Posteric | or Nares l | 18 | 0.130 | n.s. |
| | | | | |

*n.s. = not significant at p < .01 or p < .05

from Copper Sands (n = 11) and Strawberry Reef (n = 19), compared to each other, showed no significant differences (Table 34). Further, the difference between the sample means in the measurement of bill length (anterior marcs to tip) was of marginal significance ($p \ge .04$).

Since the F-ratio was at least marginally significant for these two dimensions, further comparisons were necessary. They required a rank-ordering approach. Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) (Steel and Torrie, 1960) was well suited for this type of analysis (cf. Statistical Procedures, Section 4.6). The DMRT confirmed that the differences between male populations in bill length (anterior nares to tip) were of marginal significance (n.s at p > .01). However, the next test indicated that males from the two neighboring colonies on the Copper River Delta, Strawberry Reef and Copper Sands, were significantly larger (p < .01) in bill depth (at posterior nares) than al! other colonies examined. As before, the two colonies were not significantly different from each other in this measurement.

After testing the significance of differences in measurements among various populations, "pure types" were selected from the data base on the basis of iris color and primary feather pigmentation. "Pure types" of <u>argentatus</u> were considered as those with an iris hue of Munsell 5 Y (bright yellow) and a wing hybrid index of WHI 6 (black pigment deposited in a broad band across the subterminal portions of the primaries, and extending up the feather shafts of the 8th, 8th and 10th primaries). "Pure types" of <u>glaucescens</u> were considered as those with an iris hue of 7.5 YR (brown) and a wing hybrid index of WHI 1 (primaries the same shade as the mantle, with no observable pattern of melanin deposition).

The means of the body measurements of the "pure types" of <u>argen-tatus</u> and <u>glaucescens</u> were compared by t-test, appropriate for the small sample size (n=21). The "pure types" did not differ in any measurement (p > .05). The observed statistical differences in bill depth between the two Copper River Delta <u>glaucescens</u> populations (Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef) and the other colonies cannot therefore, be used in taxonomic discrimination, since the "pure types" of <u>glaucescens</u> and <u>argentatus</u> do not differ statistically in this dimension. However, the difference in bill depth may have other genetic and evolutionary implications (cf. Discussion). Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef also resembled each other in colorimetric characters more than any other populations (cf. Results, Sections 5.1 Primary Feather Pigmentation; 5.2 Iris Pigmentation; 5.31 Iris Hue; and 5.34 Combined Iris Parameters (Hue, Value, and Chroma).

8.5 APPENDIX V

Superimposed upon the rapid vegetational and geological changes along the southern Alaskan coastline is the increasing human influence. Since the turn of the century successive tides of human influence have swept over Alaska. The most important developments for gulls have been the rise of intensive fisheries, open garbage dumps, and sewage outfalls. As an example, five seafood packing canneries and fishprocessing houses in Cordova provide a major food source to gulls in the form of salmon and crab offal. Gulls also feed at the open municipal dump at the end of the harbor.

The potential for discarded human food and industrial waste increases daily in coastal Alaska. Isleib and Kessel (1973) have documented an increasing gull population in the Cordova area to date. Our NOAA helicopter survey indicated 13,224 gull pairs nested on the sandbar barrier islands off the Copper River Delta in 1976 (Table 35). This number is expected to increase with the development of offshore oil resources, since gull-associated problems of human waste and garbage disposal are not likely to decline. Table 35. Nesting Gull Populations on Copper River Delta Sandbar Island 29 June 1976 NOAA Helicopter Survey +

| Sandbar Barrier Island | Population Estimate * |
|------------------------|--------------------------|
| Egg Island | 10,000 pairs |
| Copper Sands (N) | 200 pairs |
| Copper Sands (S) | 800 pairs |
| Kokinhenik Bar | a few pairs |
| Grass Island Bar | 200 pairs |
| Softuk Island | 25 pairs among driftwood |
| Strawberry Reef | 2,000 pairs |

* estimated by groups of 50 individuals

Other mudflats and islets serve as loafing areas for large populations of immatures and adults which may or may not be breeding.

+ observers: Pattens

8.6 APPENDIX VI

The Cordova Gull Population

Introduction

Huge flocks of gulls (\geq 10,000 individuals per hour) foraged in the effluent of the Cordova seafood processing plants during salmonpacking season (June - early August 1975 - 1978). The Cordova municipal dump provided an alternative food source when the canneries were not in operation. The origin of many of the adult gulls in the Cordova area was uncertain until this investigation, although interchange of some adult gulls between Cordova and the nesting colonies on the Copper River Delta was obvious.

Methods

To determine whether the Cordova gull population was qualitatively different in mensural and colorimetric characters from the breeding populations on the sandbar barrier islands (Egg Island, Copper Sands, and Strawberry Reef), and five other colonies in the study area, 23 adult gulls were live-trapped during June, July, and August 1975 -1978 in the Cordova municipal dump. These individuals were analyzed by the same methods as were used in the investigation of collected adults from breeding populations, but the Cordova gulls were also banded, color-dyed and released in order to trace local movements (cf. Methods, Sections 4.43 Iris Pigmentation, 4.44 Orbital Ring Pigmentation, 4.45 Primary Feather Pigmentation, and 4.6 Statistical Procedures). (For analysis of mensural characters, see Appendix IV).

Results

The wing hybrid index (cf. Section 4.45) was revised when unusual

gulls were trapped in the Cordova dump. These gulls had primaries lighter than the mantle (Munsell N7/ - N8/), as well as light-colored irides, and had slightly, although not statistically, larger body measurements than gulls collected from nearby breeding populations (Appendix IV, Tables 29 and 30). The wing hybrid index was modified to account for this variation, and the unusually light-primaried gulls given a score of "0" on the index.

Primary Feather Pigmentation

The mean wing hybrid index for the Cordova population (WHI 1.58) was the second lightest group sampled. Middleton Island gulls were the lightest (Table 36). The F-ratio for the analysis of variance of wing hybrid indices (including the Cordova population) was very highly significant (F = 28.9, 187 d.f., p < .001), indicating real differences among group means (Table 36). The data were further examined with the Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT). However, the Cordova population, although lighter in primary feather pigmentation, was not statistically different from the Copper River Delta populations at the 5% level of significance (Table 37, Subset 1).

Iris Pigmentation

The mean index for the iris pigmentation of the Cordova population (IHI 7.26 - light brown) was the third lightest group sampled (Table 38). The F-ratio for the observed distribution of iris pigmentation for all populations was very highly significant (F = 10.52, 187 d.f., p < .001). (Table 38). The Cordova population was placed between the intermediate colonies of North Marble (light brown irides) and Cry Bay (light yellow irides) by the DMRT, but was not statistically different in iris pigmentation from the Copper River Delta populations at the 5% level of

| Donu lation | Mean | Danne | Standard | Samula |
|---|--|-------------------|-----------------------|---------|
| | | Stuat | Deviation | Size |
| Middleton Island | 1.20 | 1.0-1.5 | 0.27 | 5 |
| Cordova | 1.59 | 0.0-3.0 | 0.87 | 23 |
| Egg Island | 16.1 | 0.0-4.0 | 0.69 | 56 |
| Haenke Island | 1.95 | 1.0-3.5 | 0,83 | 10 |
| Copper Sands | 2.03 | 1.0-3.0 | 0.67 | 16 |
| Strawberry Reef | 2.20 | 1.0-3.0 | 0.54 | 25 |
| Dry Bay | 3.10 | 1.0-6.0 | 1.56 | 38 |
| North Marble | 4.10 | 3.0-6.0 | 1.32 | 4 |
| take Louise | 5.90 | 5.0-6.0 | 0.30 | II |
| | Analysis o | f Variance | | |
| Source | Degrees of Freedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | F-ratio |
| Between Groups | 88 | 207.14 | 25.89 | 28,91** |
| Within Groups | 179 | 160.31 | 0.89 | |
| Total | 187 | 367.45 | | |
| *A Wing Hybrid Index of 1 = **Very highly significant (p | "pure" <u>glaucescens;</u> a < .001). | WHI of 6 = "pure" | argentatus (Fig. 37). | |

Hybrid Index of Primary Feather Pigmentation (MHI)* for Larus Populations in Southern Alaska (including Cordova)

Table 36.

| Table 37. | Ranked Means f in (Duncan | or the Wing H Southern Alas 's Multiple R | ybrid Index* ka (including ange Test: | for <u>tarus</u> Po Cordova) p < .05 leve | pulations 1) | |
|---|---|---|---|---|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| Homogenous subset shortest signific means of groups u | s (subsets of group ant range for a sub nderlined with a si | s, whose high set of that s ngle dotted l | est and lowe: ize). There ine. | t means do n is no signif | ot differ by m icant differen | ore than the ce between the |
| Subset 1 (subter | minal primaries sam | e shade as ma | ntle to l sha | de darker) | | |
| Group Mean | iddleton Island 1.20 | Cordova 1.58 | Egg Island | Haenke Is. | Copper Sands | Strawberry Reef |
| Subset 2 (primari | es 2 shades darker | than mantle; | extensive mel | anin) | | |
| Group Mean | Dry Bay 3.10 | | | | | |
| Subset 3 (primari | es 3 shades darker | than mantle; | extensive mel | anin) | | |
| Group Mean | North Marble 4.12 | | | | | |
| Subset 4 (primari | es black; distinctl | y delimited a | nd extensive | black patter | (u | |
| Group Mean | Lake Louise | | | | | |
| | | | | = | | |
| | nuo: | naccecter "a | | | nentatus (Fin | |

aryentatus (rig. 3/). aind 2 5 Alauceure, aund • 5 5 2 א איוווש מיושע.
| Population | Mean | Calar | Range | Standard Deviation | Sample Size |
|--|--|------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|----------------|
| Haenke Island | 6.30 | brown | 6 - 7 | 0,48 | 10 |
| Middleton Island | 6.60 | líght brown | 6 - 8 | 0.89 | 5 |
| Egg Island | 6.86 | light brown | 4 - 8 | 0.98 | 56 |
| Strawberry Reef | 7.08 | light brown | 6 - 8 | 0.95 | 25 |
| Copper Sands | 7.12 | light brown | 6 - 8 | 0.96 | 16 |
| North Marble | 7.25 | light brown | 6-9 | 1.50 | 4 |
| Cordova | 7.26 | light brown | 6 - 9 | 0.81 | 23 |
| Dry Bay | 7.79 | light yellow | 6 - 9 | 0.81 | 38 |
| Lake Louise | 9,00 | yellow | 6 - 6 | 0.00 | 11 |
| | Analys | is of Variance | | | |
| Source | Degrees of Freedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | | F-ratio |
| Between Groups | 8 | 65.49 | 8.19 | | 10.52** |
| Within Groups | 6/1 | 139.25 | 0.78 | | |
| Total | 187 | 204,74 | | | |
| *An Iris Hybrid Index **Very highly significa | (IHI) of 6 = "pure" <u>glau</u> int (p < .001). | cescens; an III of 9 = | "pure" <u>argen</u> t | catus (Fig. 37 |). |

Hybrid Index for Iris Color (IHI)* for Larus Populations in Southern Alaska

Table 38.

186

.

significance (Table 39).

<u>Iris Hue</u>

This distribution of iris hues in the Cordova population was quite different from the distribution of iris hues in the Copper River Delta populations, although the means were statistically similar. The iris hues of the Cordova population were concentrated at 10 YR (light brown) and 2.5 Y (light yellow), and those of the Copper River Delta were concentrated bimodally at 7.5 YR (brown) and 2.5 Y (light yellow) (Fig. 39). Iris Value

The value 8 in the Munsell System (quite light, indicating decreased melanin pigments) was present in the Cordova and Egg Island populations. The iris value 3 (quite dark, indicating abundant melanin pigments) was also present in the Cordova, Egg Island, and Copper Sands populations. In general, Cordova resembled Egg Island and Copper Sands in distribution of iris values (Fig. 40)

Iris Chroma

All populations except Cordova displayed a concentration of chroma 4 (Fig. 41). The Cordova population was quite different, with chroma rather evenly distributed among the classifications of C 2, C 3, C 4, with a smaller percentage of C 6 (cf. Results, Section 5.33). Since this study was conducted during the breeding season, the unexpected lack of a concentration at C 4 in the Cordova population suggested that the strength (saturation) of iris chroma in gulls may be related to breeding condition, and thus to endocrine physiology.

Combined Iris Parameters

The Cordova gull population displayed a wide distribution of combined iris parameters, extending from 5 $\ddot{r}R$ 4/4 (chocolate brown) to

| Table 39. | Ranked Mea (C | ins for Iris Co in Southern Juncan's Multif | llor Indices (IHI Alaska (includi de Range Test: |)* for <u>Larus</u> Po ng Cordova) p < .05 level) | pulations | |
|---|---|--|--|---|---------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Homogenous subset shortest signific means of groups u | s (subsets of ant range for inderlined with | groups, whose a subset of th i a single dott | highest and lowe hat size). There ed line. | st means do not is no signific | differ by mor ant difference | e than the between the |
| Subset 1 (brown Group Ha Mean | - light brown enke Island 6.30 | irídes) Middleton Is. 6.60 | Egg_Island S 6.85 | trawberry Reef 7.08 | Copper Sands 7.12 | North Marble |
| Subset 2 (light t Group Mean | rown irides) iiddletun Is. 6.60 | Egg Island 6.85 | Strawberry Reef | Copper Sands 7.12 | North Marble | Cordova 7.26 |
| Subset 3 (light k Group Mean | irown - light y Orth Marble | ellow irides) Cordova 7.26 | 0ry Bay 7.79 | | | |
| Subset 4 (yellow Group L Mean | irides) ake Louise 9.00 | | | | | |

I

*An IHI of 6.00 = "pure" glaucescens; an IHI of 9.00 = "pure" argentatus.

.







2.5 Y 6/6 (pale greyish yellow) (Fig. 42). The distribution was concentrated in the 10 YR hues, with highest concentration at 10 YR 4/2 (light greyish brown). By comparison, the distribution of the combined iris parameters for Egg Island, the nearest breeding population, extended from 2.5 YR 3/4 (dark brown) to 2.5 Y 7/6 (light yellow), but the concentration was notably highest at 7.5 YR 4/4 (brown) (Fig. 42). Orbital Ring Pigmentation

The mean index for orbital ring pigmentation in the Cordova population was medium pink (OHI 1.83), the second darkest population examined, ranking after Haenke Island (OHI 1.3) (Table 40). The F-ratio for all populations was very highly significant (F = 9.21, 187 df., p < .001) (Table 40). The Cordova population was statistically different in orbital ring pigmentation from all the Copper River Delta colonies at the 5% level of significance in the DMRT, but not statistically different from the Cordova population at the 1% level of significance, with considerable more yellow pigment in the orbital ring (cf. Iris Value, Section 5.32) (Tables 41, 42).

Solo Hues

Dark pink (5 R) was the dominant solo hue in the Cordova population, as at Egg Island, Dry Bay, Haenke Island, and North Marble (Figs. 43, 34). Solo hues were not found in the Copper Sands and Strawberry Refin populations, which had admixtures of yellow and pink hues (Fig. 35).

Combination Hues

A pink crbital ring with areas of intensive reddish pigment (5 R - 5 R) formed 17% of the Cordova and 28% of the Egg Island samples



IRIS: COMPLETE MUNSELL NOTATION

Fig. 42. Complete Munsell Notation for Iris Colors of Larus gulls at Egg Island, and Cordova, Alaska. Note the differences in the distributions of the 7.5 YR and 10 YR hues between Cordova and Egg Island

.

| | | a Andrean Andrea a star a s | والانباب والمحافظ | |
|---|---|---|--|----------------|
| Colony | Mean | Munsell Hue | Calar | Sample Size |
| Haenke Island | 1.30 | 5 R | dark pink | 10 |
| Cordova | 1.83 | 7.5 R | pink | 23 |
| Middleton Island | 2.40 | 7.5 R | pink | £ |
| North Marble | 2.75 | 10 R | light pink | 4 |
| Egg Island | 3.66 | 2.5 YR | yellowish pink | 56 |
| Copper Sands | 4,00 | 2.5 YR | yellowish pink | 16 |
| Dry Bay | 4.50 | 2.5 YR | yellowish pink | 38 |
| Strawberry Reef | 4.60 | 5 Y.R | pinkish yellow | 25 |
| Lake Louise | 8.91 | 5 Υ | yellow | 11 |
| | | Analysis of Variance | n men e name de la companya e una companya companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la company | |
| Source | Degrees of Freedom | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | F-ratio |
| Between Groups | 8 | 488.34 | 61.04 | 9.21** |
| Within Groups | 179 | 1186.32 | 6.63 | |
| Total | 187 | 1674.66 | | |
| *A "pure" glauces **Very highly sign | cens has an Orbital Hy ificant (p < .001). | brid Index of 1 - 2; a " | pure" <u>argentatus</u> has an OHI | l of 8 - 9. |
| | | | | |

Hybrid Index of Orbital Ring Pigmentation (OHI)* for <u>Larus</u> Populations in Southern Alaska

lable 40.

194

| Table 41. | Ranked Me | ans for Orbital in Southern (Duncan's Multi | Ring Indices (OHL Alaska (including ple Range Test: 1 | * for <u>tarus</u> Popul Cordov <u>a)</u> • < .05 level) | ations | |
|--|---|---|---|--|--------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Homogenous shortest s means of g | s subsets (subsets o ignificant range for proups underlined wit | f groups, whose r a subset of th th a single dott | highest and lowest at size). There ed line. | means do not dif s no significant | fer by moi difference | e than the e between the |
| Subset 1 Group Mean | (dark pink - light Haenke Island 1.30 | pink orbital rin Cordova 1.86 | gs) Middleton Island 2.40 | North Marble 2.75 | | |
| Subset 2 Group Mean | (pink - pinkist yel Middleton Is. 2.40 | low orbital ring North Marble 2.75 | s) Egg Island 3.66 | Copper Sands 4.00 | 0ry 8ay 4.50 | Strawberry Reef |
| Subset 3 (Group Mean | yellow orbital ring Lake Louise 8.90 | (s | | | | |
| | | | | | | |

*An OHI of 1 - 2 = "pure" glaucescens; an OHI of 8 - 9 = "pure" argentatus.

| Table 42. | Ranked 1 | Means for Orbital in Southerr (Duncan's Mult | Ring Indices (OHI n A)aska (it. sadin iple Range Test: |)* for <u>Larus</u> Popi 3 Cordova) 5 < .01 level) | ulations | |
|-----------------------------------|---|--|--|--|------------------------------|---------------------------|
| Homogenou shortest means of | is subsets (subsets significant range groups underlined v | of groups, whose for a subset of th with a single doti | highest and lowes nat size). There ted line. | t means do not d is no significan | iffer by mor t difference | e than the between the |
| Subset 1 Group Mean | (dark pink - yell(Haenke Islar 1.30 | owish pink orbita nd Cordova 1,83 | l rings) Middleton Island 2.40 | North Marble 2.75 | Egg Island 3.66 | Copper Sands 4.00 |
| Subset 2 Group Mean | (pink - pinkish yu Midd]eton 1 2.40 | ellow orbital ring Is. North Marble 2,75 | gs) Egg Island <u>3.66</u> | Copper Sands 4.00 | Dry Bay 4.50 | Strawberry Reef |
| Subset 3 Group Mean | (yellow orbital r Lake Louise 8.90 | (sgri | | | | |

*An OHI of 1 - 2 = "pure" glaucescens; an OHI of 8 - 9 = "pure" argentatus.







(Figs. 43, 35). The combination of 5 R - 7.5 R (pink with areas of less intense pigmentation) was found in 8% of the Cordova population and 3% of the Egg Island population. The combination of 5 R - 10 YR (pink with light yellowish pink) appeared in 4% of the Cordova population, but this particular combination was not found on Egg Island. The Egg Island population had considerably more combination hues than that at Cordova and the distribution was extended in the direction of pink and yellow combinations. The Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef populations both had 100% combination pink and yellow hues in their orbital rings (Fig. 35).

Composite Hybrid Index

The composite hybrid index mean for the Cordova population was 10.02, i.e., most resembling <u>glaucescens</u> ("pure" <u>glaucescens</u> = 9.00) (Table 43). The F-ratio for the distribution of the composite hybrid indices for all populations was very highly significant (F - 60.52, 186 d.f., p < .001) (Table 43). The composite hybrid index for the Cordova population was placed between that of Haenke Island and Egg Island in the DMRT, but was not statistically different from the Copper River Delta gull populations at the 5% level of significance. (Table 44).

Discussion

Statistics based upon means indicated that the Cordova gulls were <u>glaucescens</u> and not significantly different from the Copper River Delta populations in primary feather, iris, and orbital ring pigmentation (with the exception of Strawberry Reef). However, qualitative comparisons demonstrated marked differences in the distribution of iris

198

| Calany | Mean | Range | Standard Deviation | Sample Size |
|------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|----------------|
| Middleton Island | 9.40 | 8.00-11.00 | 1.29 | 2 |
| Haenke Island | 9.55 | 8.00-12.00 | 1.21 | 01 |
| Cordova | 10.02 | 8.00-13.00 | 1.32 | 23 |
| Egg Island | 10.39 | 6.00-16.00 | 1.76 | 56 |
| Copper Sands | 10.41 | 8.50-13.40 | 1.26 | 16 |
| Strawberry Reef | 11.40 | 8,50-17.00 | 2,33 | 25 |
| Dry Bay | 13,54 | 9.00-20.00 | 2.62 | 38 |
| North Marble | 14.12 | 10.00-23.00 | 6.00 | 4 |
| Lake Loutse | 23.82 | 23.00-24.00 | 0.40 | Ξ |
| | Ânalysi | s uf Variance | | |
| Source | Degrees of Freedon | Sum of Squares | Mean Squares | F-ratio |
| Between Groups | 8 | 2018.63 | 252.33 | 60.52** |
| Within Groups | 178 | 742.14 | 4.17 | |
| Total | 187 | 2760.77 | | |

Composite Hybrid Index (CHI)* for <u>Larus</u> Populations in Southern Alaska Table 43.

199

| 3 | . (Lr1s for <u>La</u> | + Orbital Ring + F rus Populations ((Duncan's Multipl | rimary Feather ncluding Cordov e Range Test: | Pigmentation I a) in Southern p < .05 level) | , ndices) Alaska | | |
|----------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--------------------------------|---------------------------|------|
| Homogeno shortest means of | us subsets (subsets o significant range fo groups underlined wi | f groups, whose hi r a subset of that th a single dotted | ghest and lowes size. There i line. | t means do not s no significa | differ by mor nt difference | e than the between the | |
| Subset 1 | (most like <u>glaucesc</u> | ens) | | | | | |
| Group | Middleton 1s. 9.40 | Haenke Island 9.55 | Cordova 10.02 | Egg Island 10.39 | Copper Sands 10.41 | Strawberry | Reef |
| Subset 2 | (hybrid colonies wi | th individual arge | intatus present) | | | | |
| Group Mean | Ory Bay 13.54 | North Marble 14.12 | | | | | |
| Subset 3 | (interior <u>argentatu</u> | (3 | | | | | |
| Group Jean | Lake Louise 23.82 | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| ¥* | "nure" alaucescens h | as a Composite Hyt | rid Index of 8 | - 9; a "pure" | argentatus has | a CHI of 23 | - 24 |

.

hues as compared to the Copper River Delta populations. There was also a distinctly different distribution of the combined iris parameters as compared to Egg Island. In addition, qualitative comparisons of orbital ring hues and iris values suggest gulls from Copper Sands and Strawberry Reef were not represented in the population sampled from the Cordova municipal dump, although Egg Island gulls were clearly not excluded from this group. The distribution of iris chroma in the Cordova gulls was gualitatively different from all other (breeding) populations. The distribution of iris values indicated both dark-eyed and light-eyed gulls were present in the Cordova population. Primary feather and iris pigmentation indices reveal an unexpected percentage (12%) of individual gulls in Cordova with light eyes and primaries lighter than the mantle, a combination not found among any other populations examined in this study. Gulls breeding along the coastline of the northeast Gulf of Alaska usually had dark eyes and light primaries (glaucescens) or light eyes and black primaries (argentatus), although many argentatus x glaucescens hybrids have dark eyes and dark primaries (cf. Results, Section 5.4).

It is believed that the Cordova gull population at the time of this study was composed of an admixture of gulls from Egg Island and non-breeding individuals originating from a large area of Alaska, attracted by the availability of an artificial supply of food. <u>L. argentatus x glaucescens</u> hybrids were absent from the Cordova gull population during these summers, although they are more common during the winter (Isleib and Kessel, 1973). However, juvenile <u>hyperboreus</u> are present in the Cordova area during the entire year (Isleib and Kessel, 1973), and such individuals were trapped in the Cordova municipal dump during this investigation. Distinctly aberrant adult gulls, resembling <u>glaucescens</u> in size and mantle coloration, but with white primaries, have been photographed in Cordova by Patten and Isleib. These individuals were probably <u>glaucescens</u> x <u>hyperboreus</u> hybrids. These observations support the conclusion that the Cordova summer nonbreeding gull population, while not statistically different from adjacent breeding <u>glaucescens</u> populations, displays qualitative color characters which suggest <u>hyperboreus</u> influence, the nearest known breeding population of which is located on the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta of western Alaska (cf. Strang, 1977).

8.7 APPENDIX VII

The following series of tables show dates on which I was physically present in the colonies proper for data collection.

Table 45

Schedule of Visits - North Marble Colonies

| Year | Month | | | | | Day | | | | | |
|------|--------|---------|---------|---------|---------|----------|----|----|----|----|----|
| 1972 | May | 15 | 16 | 19 | 21 | 22 | 23 | 27 | 29 | | |
| 1972 | June | 1 28 | 2 30 | 4 | 8 | 10 | 12 | 18 | 20 | 21 | 25 |
| 1972 | July | 4 25 | 6 28 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 12 | 13 | 18 | 20 | 22 |
| 1972 | August | 1 | 2 | 3 | 10 | 11* | | | | | |
| 1973 | April | 30 | | | | | | | | | |
| 1973 | May | 2 23 | 3 28 | 4 30 | 8 31 | 9 | 15 | 16 | 19 | 20 | 21 |
| 1973 | June | 1 18 | 3 22 | 7 24 | 8 25 | 10 30 | 11 | 12 | 14 | 15 | 17 |
| 1973 | July | 1 | 5 | 7 | 8 | 11 | 16 | 25 | 27 | 29 | 30 |
| 1973 | August | 1 | 3 | | | | | | | | |

*Specimens collected.

Table 46

Schedule of Visits - Yakutat Colonies

a. Haenke Island

| Year | Month | | | Day | |
|------|-------|----|-----|-----|---|
| 1974 | June | 14 | 15* | | , |

b. Dry Bay

| 1974 | June | 17 | 18* | | | | | | |
|------|------|----------|-----------|---------|----------|-----------|----|----|----|
| 1975 | June | 28 | 29 | 30* | | | | | |
| 1975 | July | 1 | 2 | 3 | | | | | |
| 1977 | Мау | 9 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 17 | 19 | 21 | 23 |
| 1977 | June | 2 23 | 4 25 | 5 26 | 16 27 | 17 29* | 18 | 19 | 21 |
| 1977 | July | 13 23 | 15 25* | 16 | 17 | 18 | 19 | 21 | 22 |

*Specimens collected.

| Iddle -/ | T | a | b | 1 | e | 4 | 7 |
|----------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|
|----------|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|

Schedule of Visits - Copper River Delta Colonies

a. Egg Island Study Site

| Year | Month | | | | | Da | ay | | | | |
|------|--------|------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|-----|----|-----|----|
| 1975 | June | 18 | 19 | 20 | 21 | | | | | | |
| 1975 | July | 7 | 9* | 14 | 15 | 16* | 21 | 23 | 26 | 27* | 28 |
| 1975 | August |]*+ | (band | ing ot | her se | ctions |) | | | | |
| 1976 | May | 21 | 22 | 25 | 26 | 30 | | | | | |
| 1976 | June | 3 | 7 | 11 | 18 | 24 | 27 | | | | |
| 1976 | July | 5 | 11* | 15 | 17 | 23* | 24 | 25 | 28 | 29 | |
| 1976 | August | 4*+ | (band) | ing ot | her se | ctions |) | | | | |
| 1977 | July | 24 | (Fore | st Ser | vice B | anding | crew) | | | | |
| 1978 | July | 18-2 | 5 (Fo | rest S | ervice | Bandi | ng cre | 2w) | | | |

b. Strawberry Reef

1976 June 29* 30*

c. Copper Sands (S)

1976 July 1*

*Specimens collected.

| Tabl | e 4 | 18 |
|------|-----|----|
|------|-----|----|

Schedule of Visits - Lake Louise "Bird Island"

| Year | Month | | | | Day |
|------|--------|----|----|----|-----|
| 1976 | August | 24 | | | |
| 1977 | June | 9 | 10 | | , |
| 1977 | July | 8 | 10 | | |
| 1977 | August | 1 | 2 | 3* | |
| 1978 | August | 1 | 2 | 3 | |

Table 49

Schedule of Visits - Middleton Island Colony

| 1978 | May | 19 | 21 | 22 | 26 | 28 | | | |
|------|------|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|
| 1978 | June | 1 | 5 | 9 | 13 | 17 | 21 | 25 | 29 |
| 1978 | July | 3 | 7* | | | | | | |

~

*Specimens collected.

.

8.9 APPENDIX VIII

Hybrid Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation of Males Against Females in 112 Pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska Table 50.

| | Same as Mantle | l Shade Darker than Mantle | 2 Shades Darker than Mantle | Black Primaries | Row Total |
|-----------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|-----------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------|
| Same as Mantle | 51 * 77.3 70.8 45.5 | 7 10.6 38.9 6.3 | 5 7.6 4.5 | 3.5 37.5 2.7 | 66 58.9 |
| l Shade Darker than Mantle | 11 45.8 15.3 9.8 | 33.3 33.3 44.4 7.1 | 4 16.7 28.6 3.6 | 1 4.2 12.5 0.9 | 24 |
| 2 Shades Darker than Mantle | 5 45.5 6.9 4.5 | 9.1 5.6 0.9 | 4 36.4 3.6 | 9.1 12.5 0.9 | 11 9.8 |
| Black Primaries | 45.5 45.5 4.5 | 2 18.2 11.1 1.8 | 1 1.7 1.7 | 3 27.3 37.5 2.7 | 11 8.6 |
| Column Total | 72 64.3 | 18 16.1 | 14 12.5 | 8 7.1 | 112 100.0 |
| * Each section | contains: Count Row % Column Total | Raw Chi Squar « | e = 24.20370, 9 d.f | ., significance = p | < 0.0040.) |

207

8.9 APPENDIX IX

Hybrid Indices of Eye Color (Equivalent to Munsell Hues) of Males Against Females in 112 Pairs of Larus Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska Table 51.

| | 7.5 YR | 10 YR | 2.5 Y | 5 Y | Row Total |
|-----------------|---|-------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|----------------|
| 7.5 YR | 100 * 95,2 96,2 89,3 | 2 1.9 1.8 | 1 0.1 0.001 0.9 | 2 1.9 1.8 | 105 93.5 |
| 10 YR | 1 33.3 1,0 0.9 | 0.0 0.0 | 0.0 | 2 66.7 40.0 1.8 | 3.7 |
| 2.5 Y | 1 00.00 1.0 0.9 | 0.0 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.000 | 1 0.9 |
| 5 4 | 2 66.7 1.9 1.8 | 0.0 | 0.000 | 1 33.3 20.0 0.9 | 2.7 |
| Column Total | 104 92.9 | 2 1.8 | 1 0.9 | 5 4.5 | 112 100.0 |
| * Each section | contains: Count Row & Column Total | Raw Chi Squa ۲ | re = 34.82256, 9 d | l.f., significance = p | (. 0.0001 .) |

8.10 APPENDIX X

Combined Indices of Primary Feather Pigmentation and Eye Color of Males Against Females in 112 Pairs of <u>Larus</u> Gulls at Dry Bay, Alaska

| | <u>Glaucescens</u> Phenotypes | | FInter | emale mediates | | | <u>Argentatus</u> Phenotypes | Row Total |
|--|----------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------|
| "Pure" Glaucescens Primaries as Mantle Iris 7.5 YR | 51 * 79.7 71.8 45.5 | 6 9.4 5.4 | 3 4.7 27.3 2.7 | 2 3.1 66.7 1.8 | 2 3.1 1.8 | 0.00 | 0.00.0 | 64 57.1 |
| æ æ | 10 41.7 14.1 8.9 | 7 29.2 38.9 6.3 | 4 16.7 36.4 3.6 | 1 4.2 33.3 0.9 | 1 4.2 20.0 0.9 | 1 4.2 100.0 0.9 | 0.0.0 | 24 21.4 |
| bəmrətni Q | 5 50.0 7.0 4.5 | 1 10.0 5.6 0.9 | 3 30.0 27.3 2.7 | 0.0 0.0 | 1 10.0 20.0 0.9 | 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 0.000 | 10 8.9 |
| el6M ∵ | 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 2 66.7 11.1 1.8 | 0.0 | 0.00 | 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 1 33.3 0.9 | 3.7 |
| * Each secti | on contains: Count | | | | | | | |

Table 52.

209

Row % Column % Total %

| - AND - AND | | | | | | the state of the s | and a second | |
|--|--|--------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|--|--|--------------|
| | <u>Glaucescens</u> Phenotypes | | Inte | emale rmediates | | | Argentatus Phenotypes | Row Total |
| гэтьгрэш 2 | 5 62.5 7.0 4.5 | 2 25.0 11.1 1.8 | 0.000 | 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 1 12.5 20.0 0.9 | 0.000 | 0,0 0,0 0,0 | 8 7.1 |
| ətni əleM | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 0.0 | 1 100.0 33.3 0.9 | 1 0.0 |
| "Pure" Argentatus Primaries Black Yellow Eyes | 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 | 0.0 0.0 | 1 50.0 9.1 0.9 | 0.0 0.0 0 | 0 0,0 0,0 | 0.00 | - 50.0 33.3 0.9 | 2 1.8 |
| Column Total | 71 63.4 | 18 16.1 | 11 9.8 | 3.2.7 | 5 4,5 | 1 0.9 | 3.2.7 | 112 100.0 |
| * Each section | contains: Count Row % Colum Total | Raw Chi n % | Square = | 102.63608 | , 36 d.f. | , signit | icance = p < 0 | (. 10000. |

Table 52 continued.

210

-

9.0 LITERATURE CITED

- Alaska Geographic 1975. Yakutat: the turbulent crescent. Vol. 2, No. 4. The Alaska Geographic Society, Anchorage. 82 pp.
- Amadon, D. 1966. The superspecies concept. Syst. Zool. 15 (3): 245-249.
- Anderson, E. 1936. Hybridization in american trandescantias. Ann. Mo. Bot. Gard. 23: 511-525.

______. 1949. Introgressive hybridization. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York. 109 pp.

- Barth, E.K. 1968. The circumpolar systematics of <u>Larus argentatus</u> and <u>Larus fuscus</u> with special reference to the Norwegian populations. Nytt. Mag. Zool. 15, suppl. 1: 1-50.
- Bigelow, R.S. 1965. Hybrid zones and reproductive isolation. Evolution 19: 449-458.
- Borden, C.E. 1979. Peopling and early cultures of the Pacific Northwest. Science 203 (4384): 963-971.
- Burger, J. 1977. Nesting behavior of Herring Gulls: invasion into Spartina saltmarsh areas of New Jersey. Condor 79: 162-169.
- Corbin, K., and C.G. Sibley. 1977. Rapid evolution in orioles of the genus Icterus. Condor 79: 335-342.
- Dawson, W.L. 1909. The birds of Washington. Vol. II. Occidental, Seattle.
- Dobzhansky, T. 1940. Speciation as a stage in evolutionary divergence. Am. Nat. 74: 312-321.
 - ______. 1951. Genetics and the origin of species. Third Ed. Columbia University Press. New York. 364 pp.
- Drost, R., E. Focke, and G. Freitag. 1961. Entwicklung and Aufbau einer Population der Silbermöwe, <u>Larus argentatus argentatus</u>. J. Ornith. 102: 404-420.
- Drury, W.H., and I.T. Nisbet. 1972. The importance of movements in the biology of Herring Gulls in New England. In Population ecology of migratory birds. USF&WS, BSF&W, Wildlife Res. Rep. No. 12: 173-212.

- Drury, W.H., and J.A. Kadlec. 1974. The current status of the Herring Gull population in the northeastern United States. Bird-Banding 45: 297-306.
- Dwight, J. 1925. The gulls (Laridae) of the world; their plumages, moults, variations, relationships, and distribution. Am. Mus. Nat. Hist. Bul. Vol. 50: 207-230.
- Emlen, J.T. 1963. Determinants of cliff edge and escape responses in Herring Gull chicks in nature. Behavior 22: 1-15.
- Endler, J.A. 1977. Geographic variation, speciation, and clines. Princeton University Press, Princeton. 246 pp.
- Fay, F.H., and T.J. Cade. 1959. An ecological analysis of the avifauna of St. Lawrence Island, Alaska. Univ. Calif. Pub. Zool. 63: 73-150.
- Gabrielson, I.N., and F.C. Lincoln. 1959. The birds of Alaska. The Stackpole Co., Harrisburg, Pa., and Wildlife Management Institute of North America, Washington, D.C. 922 pp.
- Geyr von Schweppenburg, H. 1938. Zur Systematik der <u>fuscus-</u> argentatus Möwen. J. Ornith. 86: 345-365.
- Goethe, F. 1956. Der Silbermöwe. Wittenburg-Lutheranstalt. Die Neue Brehm-Bucherei Bd. 182. 95 pp.
 - ______. 1960. Felsbrütertum und weitere beachtenswerte Tendenzen bei der Silbermöwe. Proc. Int. Ornit. Congr. XII: 252-258 (1958).
- Grant, V. 1971. Plant speciation. Columbia University, Press, New York. 435 pp.
- Gross, A.O. 1940. The migration of Kent Island Herring Gulls. Bird Banding 11: 129-155.
- Haag, W.G. 1962. The Bering Strait Land Bridge. Sci. Am. 206: 112-123.
- Hagen, W.G. 1967. Isolating mechanisms in three-spined sticklebacks (<u>Gasterosteus</u>). J. Fish. Res. Bd. Canada. 24: 1637-1692.
- Harrington, B.A. 1975. Pelagic gulls in winter off southern California. Condor 77: 346-350.
- Harris, M.P. 1970. Abnormal migration and hybridization of <u>Larus</u> <u>argentatus</u> and <u>L. fuscus</u> after interspecies fostering experiments. Ibis 112(4): 488-498.

- Hatch, S.A., T.W. Pearson, and P.J. Gould. 1979, Reproductive ecology of seabirds at Middleton Island, Alaska. USF&WS BSP. NOAA-OCSEAP Annual Report. Research Unit 341, EAACS. Boulder, CO. 71 pp.
- Hoffman, W., J.A. Wiens, and J.M. Scott. 1978. Hybridization between gulls (<u>Larus glaucescens</u> and <u>L. occidentalis</u>) in the Pacific Northwest. Auk 95: 441-458.
- Hunt, G.L. Jr., and M.W. Hunt. Gull chick survival: the significance of growth rates, timing of breeding, and territory size. Ecology 57: 62-75.
- Ingolfsson, A. 1970. Hybridization of Glaucous Gulls Larus hyperboreus and Herring Gulls L. argentatus in Iceland. Ibis 112: 340-362.
- Isleib, M.E., and B. Kessel. 1973. Birds of the North Gulf Coast -Prince William Sound Region. Bio. Pap. Univ. Alaska No. 14. 149 pp.
- Jackson, J.F. 1973. The phentics and ecology of a narrow hybrid zone. Evolution 27: 58-68.
- Janson, L.E. 1975. The Copper Spike. Alaska NW Publ. Co., Anchorage. 175 pp.
- Johansen, H. 1958. Revision und Entstehung der arktischen Vogelfauna. Part II. Acta Arctica. Vol. 9. 131 pp.

______. 1960. Die Vogelfauna Westsibiriens III. 9. Alcidae, Laridae. Jour. Ornith. 101: 316-399.

- Kadlec, J.A., and W.H. Drury. 1968. Structure of the New England Herring Gull population. Ecology 49: 644-676.
- Keith, J.A. 1966. Reproduction in a population of Herring Gulls <u>Larus argentatus</u> contaminated by DDT. J. Appl. Ecology 3: 57-70.
- Kinsky, F.C. 1963. The Southern Black-Backed Gull (<u>Larus</u> <u>dominicanus</u>) Lichtenstein. Measurements, Plumage Colour, and Moult Cycle. Rec. Dominion Museum 4(14): 149-219.
- Kist, J. 1961. "Systematische" beschouwingen naar aanleidung van de waarneiming van Heuglins Geelpootzilvermeeuw, <u>Larus</u> <u>cachinnans Heuglini</u> Bree in Nederland. Ardea 49: 1-51.
- LeValley, R. 1976. A discussion of the taxonomy and evolution of some dark-backed gulls of the genus <u>Larus</u>. Pacif. Seab. Gp. Bull. 3, p. 28.

- Littlejohn, M.J., and G.F. Watson. 1973. Mating call variation across a narrow hybrid zone between <u>Crinia laevis</u> and <u>C.</u> <u>victoriana</u> (Anura: <u>Leptodactylidae</u>). Aust. J. Zool. 21: 277-284.
- Lorkovic, A. 1958. Die Merkmale der unvollständigen Speziationsstufe und die Frage der Einfuhrung der Semispezies in die Systematik. <u>In</u> Systematics of today (O. Hedberg, ed.) Uppsala Universitets Arsskrift 6: 159-168.
- Ludwig, J.P. 1963. Return of Herring Gulls to natal colony. Bird-Banding 34: 68-72.
- Macpherson, A.H. 1961. Observations on Canadian Artic Larus gulls and on the taxonomy of L. thayeri Brooks. Arc. Inst. N. Am. Tech. Pap. No. 7. 39 pp.
- Manning, T.H., E.O. Höhn, and A.H. Macpherson. 1956. The birds of Banks Island. Nat. Mus. Can. Bul. No. 143. 144 pp.
- Mayr, E. 1942. Systematics and the origin of species. Colum. Univ. Press. NY.
 - ______. 1963. Animal species and evolution. Belknap Press. Cambridge, Mass.
 - _____. 1969. Principles of systematic zoology. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- McNicholl, M.K. 1975. Larid site tenacity and group adherence in relation to habitat. Auk 92: 98-105.
- Michelson, P.G. 1975. Additional observations of wildlife and their habitat on the Copper River Delta sandbar barrier islands. USFS. Chugach National Forest. 2630 Wildlife Habitat (mimeo). Anchorage. 7 pp.
- Moore, W.S. 1977. An evaluation of narrow hybrid zones in vertebrates. Quarterly Rev. Bio. 52: 263-277.
- Morgen, L. 1979. Aleutian boom. The Alaska Fisheries. The Fish Boat 24(9): 36-39.
- Muller, C.H. 1952. Ecological control of hybridization in <u>Quercus</u>: A factor in the mechanism of evolution. Evolution 6: 146-161.

Munsell Color Co., Munsell Color Charts: Skin, Hair, Eye Colors, based upon Munsell Soil Color Charts. Matte Finish Edition, Baltimore, Maryland. Privately printed.

______. Munsell Westral Value Scale. Matte Finish Edition. 32-step Scale.

- Noseworthy, C., S. Stoker, and J. Lien. 1973. Habitat preferences in Herring Gull chicks. Auk 90: 193-194.
- Paludan, K. 1951. Contributions to the breeding biology of <u>Larus</u> <u>argentatus</u> and <u>Larus</u> <u>fuscus</u>. Videsk. Medd. Dansk Naturh. Foren. 114: 1-128.
- Patten, S.M. Jr. 1974. Breeding ecology of the Glaucous-winged Gull in Glacier Bay, Alaska. Unpublished M. Sc. thesis, University of Washington Library, Seattle. 78 pp.
- Patten, S.M. Jr., and L.R. Patten. 1975. Breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group. NOAA. ERL. Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf. Boulder, CO. July - Sept. P.I. Reports. Vol. 1, pp. 243-315.

. 1976. Breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (<u>Larus argentatus x Larus</u> <u>glaucescens</u>). NOAA. ERL. Boulder, CO. EAACS. Vol. 2, pp. 271-368.

. 1977. Evolution, pathobiology, and breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (<u>Larus</u> <u>argentatus x Larus glaucescens</u>). NOAA ERL. Boulder, CO. EAACS. Annual Report. April P.I. Reports.

. 1978. Effects of petroleum exposure on the breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Lerring Gull group (Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens) and reproductive ecology of large gulls in the northeast Gulf of Alaska. NOAA. ERL. EAACS. Annual Report. April P.I. Reports.

- Patten, S.M. Jr., and A.R. Weisbrod. 1974. Sympatry and interbreeding of Herring and Glaucous-winged Gulls in southeastern Alaska. Condor. 76: 343-344.
- Paynter, R.A. 1949. Clutch size and egg and chick mortality of Kent Island Herring Gulls. Ecology 30: 146-166.
- Pearse, T. 1946. Nesting of the Western Gull off the coast of Vancouver Island, British Columbia, and possible hybridization with the Glaucous-winged Gull. Murrelet 27: 38-40.

- Pcor, H.H. 1946. Plumage and soft-part variation: in the Herring Gull. Auk 63: 135-151.
- Portenko, L.A. 1963. The taxonomic value and systematic status of the Slaty-backed Gull (<u>Larus argentatus schistisagus</u> Stejn). Academy of Sciences. USSR. Moscow. pp. 61-64.
- Rand, A.L. 1948. Glaciation, an isolating factor in speciation. Evolution 2: 314-321.
- Rausch, R. 1958. The occurrence and distribution of birds on Middleton Island, Alaska. Condor. 60: 227-242.
- Rausch, R. 1963. A review of the distribution of Holarctic recent mammals. Proc. Symp. Pacific Basin Geogr. (10), Bishop Museum Press, Honolulu. pp, 29-43.
- Remington, C.L. 1968. Suture-zones of hybrid interaction between recently joined biotas. <u>In</u> Evolutionary Biology (T. Dobzhansky, M.K. Hecht, and W.C. Steere, eds.) Appleton-Century-Crofts. New York, Vol. 2, pp. 321-428.
- Salomansen, F. 1950-51. The birds of Greenland. Copenhagen. 3 vols. 607 pp.
- Sanger, G.A. 1973. Pelagic records of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls in the North Pacific Ocean. Auk 90: 384-393.
- Scheierl, R., and M. Meyer. 1976. Evaluation and inventory of waterfowl habitats of the Copper River Delta, Alaska, by remote sensing. Col. For. & Ag. Expt. Sta. Univ. Minn., St. Paul. Final Report IAFHE. RSL. Res. Rept. 76-3: 1-46.
- Schultz, Z.M. 1951. Growth in the Glaucous-winged Gull. Murrelet 32: 35-42; 33: 2-8.
 - . Unpublished manuscript. Plumage development and pterylosis in the Glaucous-winged Gull. Seattle. 116 pp. & appendices.
- Scott, J.M. 1971. Interbreeding of the Glaucous-winged Gull and the Western Gull in the Pacific Northwest. Calif. Birds 2: 129-133.
- Searing, G.F. 1977. Some aspects of the ecology of cliff-nesting seabirds at Kongkok Bay, St. Lawrence Island, Alaska, during 1976. NOAA. ERL. EAACS. Annual Report. April P.I. Reports. Vol. 5. pp. 263-412.

Short, L.L. 1965. Hybridization in the flickers (<u>Colaptes</u>) of North America. Bul. Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist, 129: 307-428.

_____1969. Taxonomic aspects of avian hybridization. Auk 86: 84-105.

______. 1970. A reply to Uzzell and Ashmole. Syst. Zool. 19: 199-202.

_____. 1972. Hybridization, taxonomy, and avian evolution. Ann. Missouri Bot. Gard. 59: 447-453.

Shortt, T.M. 1939. The summer birds of Yakutat Bay, Alaska, Contr. Roy. Ont. Mus. Zool. 17: 1-30.

Sibley, C.G. 1950. Species formation in the Red-eyed Towhees of Mexico. Univ. Cal. Publ. Zool. 50: 109-194.

______. 1954. Hybridization in the Red-eyed Towhees of Mexico. Evolution 8: 252-290.

_____. 1957. The evolutionary and taxonomic significance of sexual selection and hybridization in birds. Condor 59: 166-191.

_____. 1959. Hybridization in birds: taxonomic and evolutionary implications. Bul, Brit. Ornith. Club 79: 154-158.

_____. 1961. Hybridization and isolating mechanisms. <u>In</u> Vertebrate speciation (W.F. Blair, ed.). Univ. Texas Press. Austin, pp. 82-86.

_____, and F.C. Sibley. 1956. Hybridization in the Red-eyed Towhees of Mexico: populations of the southeastern plateau region. Auk 81: 479-504.

_____, and D.A. West. 1958. Hybridization in the Red-eyed Towhees of Mexico: the eastern plateau populations. Condor 60: 85-104.

- Sladen, W.J.L., R.C. Wood, and E.P. Monoghan. 1968. The USARP Bird Banding Program 1958-65. <u>In</u> Antarctic Bird Studies (O.L. Austin, Jr., ed.). Antarctic Res. Ser. 12A, Geoph. Un., pp. 213-262.
- Smith, N.G. 1966. Evolution in some arctic gulls (<u>Larus</u>): an experimental study of isolating mechanisms. A.O.U. Ornithological Monographs No. 4. 99 pp.

- Southern, W.E. 1977. Colony selection and colony site tenacity in Ring-billed Gulls at a stable colony. Auk 94: 469-478.
- Steel, R., and J. Torrie. 1960. Principles and procedures of statistics. McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc. New York. 481 pp.
- Stegmann, B. 1934. Ueber die Formen der grossen Möwen ("subgenus Larus") und ihre gegenseitigen Beziehungen. J. Ornith. 82: 340-380.
- Strang, C. 1977. Variation and distribution of Glaucous Gulls in western Alaska. Condor 79: 170-175.
- Stresemann, E., and N.W. Timofeeff-Ressovsky. 1947. Artentstehungen in Geographischen Formenkreisen. 1. der Formenkries Larus argentatus-cachinnans-fuscus. Biol. Zentralbl. 66: 57-76.
- Streveler, G.P., and B. Paige. 1971. The natural history of Glacier Bay Mational Monument. U.S. Dept. Int., Nat. Park Serv. Juneau. 89 pp.
- Swarth, H.S. 1934. Birds of Nunivak Island. Pacific Coast Avifauna 22: 1-64.
- Thomson, A.L. 1964. A new dictionary of birds. British Ornithologist's Union. Thomas Nelson and Sons, Ltd. London. 928 pp.
- Tinbergen, N. 1953. The Herring Gull's World. Collins, London. 255 pp. (2nd Rev. Ed. 1960; Basic Books, New York.)

______. 1959. Comparative studies of the behavior of gulls (Laridae): a progress report. Behavior 15: 1-70.

______. 1961. The evolution of behavior in gulls. Sci. Am. 203: 118-130.

- Tukey, J.W. 1977. Exploratory data analysis. Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, Mass. 688 pp.
- United States Department of Commerce. 1963. Cordova, Alaska, local climatological data. Weather Bureau, Dept. Comm., Asheville, N.C. mimeo. 4 pp.
- United States Forest Service. 1975. The Copper River Delta, land at river's end. Chugach National Forest. U.S. Dept. Agr. Anchorage. 10 pp.
- Vaurie, C. 1965. The birds of the Palearctic Fauna. Nonpasseriformes. H.F. & G. Witherby, Ltd. London. 763 pp.

Vermeer, K. 1963. The breeding ecology of the Glaucous-winged Guil on Mandarte Island, B.C. Occ. Pap. B.C. Prov. Mus. 13: 1-104.

.

- Voipio, P. 1954. Ueber die gelbfüssigen Silbermöwen Nordwesteuropas. Acta Soc. Fauna Flora Fennica 71: 1-56.
- Voous, K.H. 1959. Geographical variation of the Herring-Gull, <u>Larus argentatus</u> in Europe and North America. Ardea. 47: 176-187.
- Wahl, T.R., and D. Heinemann. 1979. Seabirds and fishing vessels: co-occurrence and attraction. Condor 81: 390-396.
- Ward, J.D. 1973. Reproductive success, food supply, and the evolution of clutch size in the Glaucous-winged Gull. Unpubl. Ph.D. thesis, Univ. B.C., Vancouver. 119 pp.
- Webster, J.D. 1950. Notes on the birds of Wrangel and vicinity, southeastern Alaska. Condor 52: 32-38.
- Williamson, F.S.L. 1967. Evolution in the Herring Gull, <u>Larus</u> <u>argentatus</u>, in the North Pacific Ocean and Bering Sea. Proc. XIV. Int. Orni. Congr. 119-120. (1966).
- Williamson, F.S.L. and L.J. Peyton. 1963. Interbreeding of Glaucous-winged and Herring Gulls in the Cook Inlet Region, Alaska. Condor 65: 24-38.
 - Wilson, E.O. 1965. The challenge from related species. In The genetics of colonizing species (H.G. Baker and G.L. Stebbins, eds.). Academic Press, New York. pp. 7-25.

CURRICULUM VITAE

| Name: | Samuel Merrick Patten, Jr. | |
|-----------------|--|--|
| Sirthdate: | October 5, 1945. Fort Sill, Lawton, Oklahoma | |
| Parents: | Col. Samuel M. Patten Jean Elizabeth Patten | |
| Marital Status: | Married, two children | |
| Wife's Name: | Linda Renee Patten | |
| Education: | Cornell University, Ithaca, New York Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany Deutsche Abteilung, Dolmetscher Institute. | 1963-65 |
| | Philosphische Fakultät Cornell University, Ithaca, New York B A Major: German Literature | 1965-66 |
| | minor: Biology, ornithology | 1966-68 |
| | Theologische Fakultät University of Washington, Seattle, Washington | 1968-71 |
| | M. Sc. Major: Forest 20010gy minor: Wildlife Sciences Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland Department of Patholobiology Ph.D. major: Ecology | 1971-74 |
| Even ni on on c | inthor: benavior | 19/4-00 |
| experience: | | |
| 1979-1980 | Eastern United States Coastal and Ocean Zone Res Mapping Project, Office of Coastal Zone Manageme tional Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, a Council on Environmental Quality. Responsibilit and coastal birds | ource Use ent, Na- ind the cy: marine Consultant |
| 1975-1979 | The Johns Hopkins University. Department of Path National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration research, Northeast Gulf of AlaskaAssociate J | obiology. supported nvestigator |
| 1974 | University of Alaska. National Park Service sup search, Glacier Bay National MonumentResearch | ported re- Investigator |
| 1971-74 | University of WashingtonTeaching | Assistant |

···· . .

SAMUEL MERRICK PATTEN, JR.

- 1971-73 University of Washington, College of Forest Resources. National Park Service supported research, Glacier Bay National Monument, Alaska.....Research Assistant
- 1970 International School of Mountaineering, Leysin, Switzerland
- 1968 Cornell University, Ornithology Collection...Museum Assistant
- 1963-64 Cornell University Ornithology....Field and Laboratory Assistant
- Memberships: American Ornithologist's Union Cooper Ornithological Society American Forestry Association Pacific Seabird Group

Publications:

- 1974. <u>Breeding ecology of the Glaucous-winged Gull in Glacier Bay</u>, Alaska M.Sc. thesis. University of Washington Library, Seattle. 78pp.
- 1974. Sympatry and Interbreeding of Herring and Glaucous-winged Gulls in southeastern Alaska. Condor 76: 343-344.
- 1975. Birds. <u>Chapter in Dixon Harbor Biological Survey</u>. Final report on the summer phase of 1974 research. A taxonomic and community analysis using diversity indices. G.P. Streveler and I.A. Worley, Eds. National Park Service, Juneau, Alaska, pp 90-127.
- 1975. Evolution and pathobiology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens). A proposal. Program Work Statements, U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA, Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Boulder, CO. Vol. 2, pp 28-41.
- 1975. Breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group. July-September PI Reports. NOAA. ERL. Environmental Assessment of the Alaskan Continental Shelf, Boulder, CO., Vol. 1, pp. 243-315.
- 1976. Sympatry and Interbreeding of Herring and Glaucous-winged Gulls in Southern Alaska. PSG Bul 3, #1: 25-26.
SAMUEL MERRICK PATTEN, JR.

- 1976. Breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens). U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA, Environmental Research Laboratories, April P.I. Reports, OCSEAP. Vol. 2: 271-368.
- 1976. Banding and color-marking gulls in Alaska. PSG Bul 3, #2: 20.
- 1977. Evolution, pathobiology and breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens). U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA. ERL. Annual Report, April P.I. Reports, OCSEAP, pp. 129.
- 1977. Effects of petroleum exposure on the hatching success and incubation behavior of <u>Larus glaucescens</u> off the Copper River, Delta, Alaska. U.S. Dept. of Commerce, NOAA, ERL, Annual Report, April P.I. Reports, OCSEAP. pp. 22.
- 1978. Effects of petroleum exposure on the breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group, (<u>Larus argentatus x Larus</u> <u>glaucescens</u>). In Marine Biological Effects of OCS Petroleum Development, D.A. Wolfe, ed. NOAA Technical Memorandum ERL OCESAP-1. pp. 199-215.
- 1979. Yolk formation in some Charadriiform birds. Condor. 81(3): 293-298. With T.E. Roudybush, C.R. Grau, et al.
- Papers Presented at Scientific Meetings:
- 1974. Breeding ecology of the Glaucous-winged Gull (<u>Larus glaucescens</u>) in Glacier Ba_j, Alaska. National Park Service. Pacific Northwest Region. NPS Biologists' Conference, Seattle, Washington, January.
- 1975. Breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (<u>Larus</u> <u>argentatus x Larus glaucescens</u>). National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. National Marine Fisheries Service, Auke Bay Laboratory Conference, Juneau, Alaska, June.
- 1975. Sympatry and interbreeding of Herring and Glaucous-winged Gulls in southern Alaska. Pacific Seabird Group Meeting, Asilomar, California, December.
- 1976. Evolution, pathobiology and breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens). National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Outer Continental Shelf Environmental Assessment Program. Marine Ornithologists' Review Meeting, Anchorage, Alaska, October.
- 1977. Effects of petroleum exposure on the hatching success and incuba-

SAMUEL MERRICK PATTEN, JR.

tion behavior of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (<u>Larus</u> <u>argentatus x Larus gloucescens</u>). NOAA/OCSEAP Marine Mammal/ Ornithology Review Meeting, Fairbanks, Alaska, October.

- 1977. Effects of petroleum exposure on the breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens). NOAA/OCSEAP Petroleum Effects Review, Seattle, Washington, November.
- 1978. Effects of petroleum exposure on the breeding ecology of the Gulf of Alaska Herring Gull group (<u>Larus argentatus x Larus glaucescens</u>) and reproductive ecology of large gulls in the northeast Gulf of Alaska. NOAA/OCSEAP Vertebrate Consumer Workshop, Fairbanks, Alaska, October.
- 1978. Growth of large gull populations in Alaska. Pacific Seabird Group Meeting, Asilomar, California, December.